
 

 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
Lleoliad:  O bell

Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - y Senedd 

Dyddiad: Dydd Llun, 29 Tachwedd 

2021 

Amser: 14.00

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Gareth Price - Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

Deisebau@senedd.cymru
------ 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon 

 (Tudalennau 1 - 21)  

2 Sesiwn Dystiolaeth (Panel 1) - P-06-1224 Dylunio cynllun peilot 

Incwm Sylfaenol Cyffredinol 'Ymadawyr Gofal a Mwy' (14.00 - 

14.40)   

Egwyl fer (14.40 - 14:50)  

 

3 Sesiwn Dystiolaeth (Panel 2) - P-06-1224 Dylunio cynllun peilot 

Incwm Sylfaenol Cyffredinol 'Ymadawyr Gofal a Mwy' (14.50 - 

15:20) 

   

4 Deisebau newydd (15.20 - 15:45) 

   

4.1 P-06-1212 Cyfraith Mark Allen - rydym ni am weld gorsafoedd cortyn taflu o 

amgylch pob safle dŵr agored yng Nghymru 

 (Tudalennau 22 - 28)  

4.2 P-06-1217 Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir 

 (Tudalennau 29 - 40)  

4.3 P-06-1218 Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal cymdeithasol 

fod ganddynt yr hawl i wneud cais am eu gwybodaeth bersonol 

 (Tudalennau 41 - 47)  

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 

 

4.4 P-06-1219 Dylid gosod cerflun coffa o Paul Robeson yn y Cymoedd 

 (Tudalennau 48 - 52)  

4.5 P-06-1221 Gwrthodwch gynlluniau ar gyfer Cynllun Solar Ffermwyr Gwynllwg 

 (Tudalennau 53 - 142)  

4.6 P-06-1223 Paratoi cais i Gymru gystadlu yng Nghystadleuaeth yr Eurovision 

 (Tudalennau 143 - 147)  

5 Y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am ddeisebau blaenorol 

   

5.1 P-06-1181 Mae treillio ar wely'r môr yn lladd ein bywyd gwyllt morol… 

Rhowch y gorau i chwalu'n moroedd! 

 (Tudalennau 148 - 156)  

5.2 P-05-1097 Dylid gwahardd cewyll adar hela 

 (Tudalennau 157 - 163)  

5.3 P-06-1183 Gosod terfyn cyflymder 20 milltir yr awr ar gyfer 100 metr bob 

ochr i'r groesfan newydd i gerddwyr yng Nglan Conwy 

 (Tudalennau 164 - 165)  

6 Papur i’w nodi 

 (Tudalennau 166 - 168)  

7 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o eitem 8 y cyfarfod. (15.45 - 16.15)   

8 Trafod y Sesiwn Dystiolaeth - P-06-1224 Dylunio cynllun peilot 

Incwm Sylfaenol Cyffredinol 'Ymadawyr Gofal a Mwy' 

   



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 1Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



 

 

 
www.senedd.cymru 

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament 
Ymchwil y Senedd |  Senedd Research 

 

P-06-1212 Deddf Mark Allen 
Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 29 Tachwedd 2021 
Petitions Committee | 29 November 2021 

Cyfeirnod: SR21/1044-12 

Rhif y ddeiseb: P-06-1212 

Teitl y ddeiseb: Deddf Mark Allen – rydym ni am weld gorsafoedd cortyn taflu 
o amgylch pob safle dŵr agored yng Nghymru 

Geiriad y ddeiseb: Fe foddodd Mark Allen, oedd yn 18 oed, ar ôl neidio i mewn 
i gronfa rewllyd ar ddiwrnod poeth ym mis Mehefin 2018. Ym mis Mai 2019, fe 
fuom yn gwylio 3 cortyn taflu’n cael eu gosod wrth y fan lle buodd farw. Gellid 
bod wedi achub Mark pe byddent yno’n barod. 

Rydym ni, teulu a ffrindiau Mark, o’r farn y dylai fod yn gyfraith gwlad i osod 
cortynnau taflu fel y rheini a osodwyd lle bu farw Mark, mewn lleoedd 
dynodedig o amgylch pob cronfa ddŵr, llyn, camlas ac ati. Wrth siarad â 
phobl sy'n gweithio ym maes diogelwch dŵr, e.e. gwasanaethau tân ac ati, 
mae cortynnau o'r fath wedi achub llawer o fywydau. Rydym ni eisiau achub 
bywydau ac arbed pobl rhag gorfod dioddef y torcalon a'r trasiedi o golli 
rhywun y maen nhw’n garu yn boddi. 

 

Helpwch ni i wneud gwahaniaeth cadarnhaol er cof am Mark. 

 

Diolch i chi, teulu a ffrindiau Mark  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 22

Eitem 4.1



P-06-1212 Deddf Mark Allen  

2 

 

1. Cefndir 

Mae tua 400 o bobl yn boddi o amgylch y DU bob blwyddyn, ac mae 200 arall yn 
cyflawni hunanladdiad. I bobl rhwng 5 a 24 oed, boddi yw’r ail brif beth sy’n peri 
marwolaeth ddamweiniol. 

Fe gafodd Diogelwch Dŵr Cymru ei sefydlu yn 2017 ac mae'n grŵp o 24 o gyrff 
cysylltiedig sy'n gweithio ar ddiogelwch dŵr, ac atal boddi yng Nghymru. Fe 
lansiodd Strategaeth Atal Boddi Cymru ym mis Rhagfyr 2020, ac mae’n tynnu 
sylw at y ffaith bod 45 o bobl, ar gyfartaledd, yn colli eu bywydau trwy foddi bob 
blwyddyn yng Nghymru. Fe wnaeth Lesley Griffiths AS – Gweinidog yr 
Amgylchedd, Ynni a Materion Gwledig ar y pryd – nodi y bydd y strategaeth yn: 

…rhoi amlinelliad clir o sut byddwn yn gweithio mewn cydweithrediad â 
sefydliadau partner i ymgysylltu, addysgu a chodi ymwybyddiaeth o 
beryglon dŵr i’r cymunedau rydym yn eu gwasanaethu. 

Fel perchennog-weithredwr cronfeydd dŵr yng Nghymru, mae Dŵr Cymru yn 
darparu gwybodaeth am effeithiau angheuol posibl nofio heb awdurdod yn ei 
gronfeydd dŵr.Mae'n tynnu sylw at beryglon, gyda’r canlynol yn eu plith: 

▪ Mae strwythurau concrit neu fetel sy’n gudd o dan wyneb y dŵr yn gallu 
dechrau gweithio heb rybudd. 

▪ Mae hyd yn oed y nofwyr cryfaf yn gallu mynd i drafferthion mawr yn y 
cerrynt iasoer. 

'Sioc dŵr oer' yw'r effaith ar y corff o fynd i mewn i ddŵr 15°C ac is – gall arwain at 
foddi. 

Defnyddio cortynnau taflu 

Dyfais achub yw 'cortyn taflu' neu 'fag taflu'. Fel arfer, rhaff yw hon wedi'i gosod yn 
llac mewn bag a fydd yn ei rhyddhau wrth ei daflu. Yn ôl Sefydliad Cenedlaethol 
Brenhinol y Badau Achub, i rywun sydd wedi syrthio i’r dŵr mae’r cortynnau hyn 
yn achubiaeth. 

Deiseb wedi'i hystyried gan Senedd y DU 

Fe gafodd deiseb Cyfraith Mark Allen ei hystyried a'i chau ar 29 Medi 2021. Yn ei 
hymateb, amlygodd Llywodraeth y DU fel a ganlyn: 

Tudalen y pecyn 23

https://www.swimwales.org/cy/pages/water-safety
https://www.nationalwatersafety.org.uk/wales/water-safety-wales-about-us
https://www.nationalwatersafety.org.uk/wales/drowning-prevention-strategy
https://www.nationalwatersafety.org.uk/media/1237/water-safety-strategy-2020-2026-cy.pdf
https://corporate.dwrcymru.com/cy-gb/one-last-breath
https://rnli.org/safety/know-the-risks/cold-water-shock
https://rnli.org/magazine/magazine-featured-list/2017/june/be-someones-lifeline-know-how-to-use-a-throw-bag
https://rnli.org/magazine/magazine-featured-list/2017/june/be-someones-lifeline-know-how-to-use-a-throw-bag
https://petition.parliament.uk/petitions/575967


P-06-1212 Deddf Mark Allen  

3 

…where open access to water is encouraged for leisure purposes 
controls might, depending on the circumstances, include the provision 
of throwlines or other rescue devices, as part of a range of measures 

Mynediad i ddyfroedd mewndirol at ddibenion hamdden 

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru’n ystyried cyflwyno deddfwriaeth i ddarparu ar gyfer 
mynediad ehangach i gefn gwlad at ddibenion hamdden. Mae'n nodi fel a ganlyn: 

Ar hyn o bryd, nid oes unrhyw hawliau cyhoeddus statudol cyffredinol 
mewn perthynas â mynediad i ddyfroedd mewndirol at ddibenion 
hamdden yng Nghymru, ac ychydig iawn o gyfraith gyffredin. 

Mae wedi ffurfio Grŵp Cynghori ar Ddiwygio Mynediad i edrych yn fanwl ar nifer 
o'r cynigion Mynediad o fewn Rheoli Adnoddau Naturiol Cymru yn Gynaliadwy. 

Mae'r Fforwm Mynediad Cenedlaethol i Gymru, yr Is-grŵp Mynediad at Ddŵr 
wedi'i sefydlu i roi blaenoriaeth i faterion dŵr mewndirol a thrin mynediad at 
ddŵr ar wahân.  

Gofynnwyd i’r Fforwm Mynediad Cenedlaethol i Gymru adrodd ar ganlyniadau ei 
drafodaethau ar lefel is-grŵp, a'r casgliadau a'r argymhellion cysylltiedig erbyn mis 
Mawrth 2021.  

Ni ellir dod o hyd i'r adroddiad hwn yn gyhoeddus, fodd bynnag mae crynodeb 
cyfarfod y Fforwm Mynediad Cenedlaethol i Gymru o 29 Mehefin yn nodi bod yr 
adroddiadau hyn yn cael eu hadolygu gyda’r Gweinidog ar hyn o bryd. At hynny, 
nodir fod 'cangen ddŵr' Llywodraeth Cymru’n gweithio i gwmpasu'r bwriad i 
ddechrau dynodi dyfroedd mewndirol Cymru at ddibenion hamdden. 

2. Camau gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

Mae'r Strategaeth Ddŵr i Gymru gan Lywodraeth Cymru’n tynnu sylw at yr angen i 
ddwyn diogelwch i ystyriaeth wrth “geisio gwireddu’r buddiannau y gall ein 
hadnoddau dŵr eu cynnig i greu swyddi a thwf gwyrdd ym maes twristiaeth a 
hamdden”. At hynny, mae’n tynnu sylw at y risg bosibl o gronfeydd dŵr yng 
Nghymru, a'r angen am reolaeth effeithiol gan nodi y bydd Llywodraeth Cymru’n: 

...gweithio gyda’r cwmnïau dŵr, perchnogion cronfeydd dŵr eraill ac 
ymatebwyr i sicrhau bod trefniadau cynllunio ar gyfer argyfwng yn eu lle 
i reoli’r risgiau hyn. Byddwn yn rhoi deddfwriaeth ychwanegol ar waith i 
sicrhau diogelwch cronfeydd dŵr yn y dyfodol yng Nghymru. 

Tudalen y pecyn 24

https://llyw.cymru/mynediad-i-ddyfrffyrdd-mewndirol-ein-bwriadau
https://llyw.cymru/sites/default/files/publications/2020-09/mynediad-ddyfrffyrdd-mewndirol-ein-bwriadau.pdf
https://llyw.cymru/y-rhaglen-diwygio%20mynediad_ga=2.120133775.683438234.1635762564-1400661579.1634203276
https://llyw.cymru/datganiad-ysgrifenedig-taking-forward-wales-sustainable-management-natural-resources-papur?_ga=2.211358226.683438234.1635762564-1400661579.1634203276
https://naturalresources.wales/days-out/recreation-and-access-policy-advice-and-guidance/networks-and-partnerships/national-access-forum-wales-sub-group-on-inland-water/?lang=cy
https://naturalresources.wales/days-out/recreation-and-access-policy-advice-and-guidance/networks-and-partnerships/national-access-forum-for-wales/?lang=cy
https://cdn.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/media/694033/meeting-summary-nafw-69-29-june-21-final-draft-002.pdf
https://cdn.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/media/694033/meeting-summary-nafw-69-29-june-21-final-draft-002.pdf
https://llyw.cymru/dwr?_ga=2.122560012.683438234.1635762564-1400661579.1634203276
https://llyw.cymru/strategaeth-ddwr?_ga=2.171255842.38242310.1635327175-1552349674.1633354093


P-06-1212 Deddf Mark Allen  

4 

Mewn ymateb i’r ddeiseb hon mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn tynnu sylw at waith sy’n 
cael ei wneud gan ei phartneriaid cyflenwi, gan gynnwys ymgyrchoedd diogelwch 
cronfeydd dŵr cwmnïau dŵr, a’r Strategaeth Atal Boddi gan Ddiogelwch Dŵr 
Cymru (y manylir yn eu cylch uchod). 

3. Camau gan Senedd Cymru 

Yn ystod y Trydydd Cynulliad, ystyriwyd y mater o fynediad at ddŵr mewndirol 
gan y Pwyllgor Deisebau ar y pryd, a’r Pwyllgor Cynaliadwyedd. 

Fe wnaeth Pwyllgor Deisebau’r Senedd flaenorol ystyried P-05-868 – Diogelwch 
Dŵr/Atal Boddi ac effeithiau Sioc Dŵr Oer i'w haddysgu ym mhob Ysgol yng 
Nghymru 

Nid yw'n ymddangos bod y mater penodol o ran darparu cortynnau taflu wedi'i 
ystyried yn y Senedd cyn y ddeiseb hon. 

Gwneir pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth yn y papur briffio hwn yn 
gywir adeg ei gyhoeddi. Dylai darllenwyr fod yn ymwybodol nad yw’r 
papurau briffio hyn yn cael eu diweddaru o reidrwydd na’u diwygio fel arall 
i adlewyrchu newidiadau dilynol. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 25

https://senedd.cymru/senedd-nawr/newyddion/mae-mynediad-i-ddwr-mewndirol-yng-nghymru-yn-hawl-o-ran-tegwch-a-chyfiawnder-cymdeithasol/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=589&MeetingId=10999&DF=05%2f11%2f2009&Ver=2
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=24597
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=24597
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=24597


Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref P-06-1212 
Ein cyf/Our ref JJ/11576/21 
 
Jack Sargeant AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
 
deisebau@senedd.cymru 

 
21 Hydref 2021 

 
Annwyl Jack, 
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 23 Medi 2021 ynghylch deiseb P-06-1212 Cyfraith Mark 
Allen – rydym ni am weld gorsafoedd cortyn taflu o amgylch pob safle dŵr agored yng 
Nghymru. 
 
Croesawaf y gwaith sy'n cael ei wneud gan ein partneriaid cyflenwi i addysgu a mynd i'r 
afael â phryderon diogelwch megis yr ymgyrch gan y cwmnïau dŵr diogelwch ger cronfeydd 
dŵr. Yn benodol, mae cyhoeddi'r Strategaeth Atal Boddi gan Diogelwch Dŵr Cymru yn 
ymrwymo i leihau nifer y marwolaethau yn sgil boddi a chadw ein cymunedau'n ddiogel o 
amgylch dŵr. Lluniwyd Strategaeth Atal Boddi Cymru 2020-2026 gan grŵp Diogelwch Dŵr 
Cymru, ffrwyth cydweithredu rhwng unigolion, cymunedau, elusennau a sefydliadau'r sector 
cyhoeddus a phreifat sydd â diddordeb mewn diogelwch dŵr ac atal boddi.  Ei nod yw 
lleihau nifer y marwolaethau a digwyddiadau sy'n gysylltiedig â dŵr yng Nghymru drwy 
hyrwyddo pwysigrwydd dull cyson ac effeithiol o ymdrin â diogelwch dŵr. 
 
 
Yn gywir, 

 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 26

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


P-06-1212 Mark Allen's Law - we want throwline stations around all open water 

sites in Wales, Correspondence – Petitioner to Committee, 05.11.21 

 

1.We fully support the work being done by the water safety wales partnership & 

hope to continue working with them on future projects  

 

2. In all honesty no, we feel extremely disappointed by the response from Julie James 

AS/MS, she makes no mention of the issues we have raised other than at the 

beginning of the correspondence 

 

3.  

 

A.could the chair of the committee please seek a response to the issues raised in our 

petition from the minister in charge of emergency response - Jane Hutt MS & the 

minister of education - Jeremy Miles MS 

 

B. Can anybody else be involved in discussions relating to our petition prior to it 

being considered on Monday 15th ie Rospa, water safety wales etc?  

 

C. If a debate is to be scheduled could we please ask for advance notice of when & 

would we be able to attend or any other interested parties ie someone from rospa, 

water safety wales etc? 

 

D. What can you do to strengthen land owners current duty? We feel at present land 

owners often only act following an accident or death, it shouldn't come to this. 

Maybe rospa could advise? 

 

4. 

 

Marks story: 

 

Mark was born on valentines day 2000, he is 1 of 6 children & a much loved & 

missed only Son, he was an extremely bright, funny, caring & gentle young man, an 

animal lover & an incredibly talented aspiring actor, having had parts as an extra in 

the hit series Wanderlust amongst other achievements  

 

Mark was at the reservoir with a number of his closest friends, many of whom were 

witness to the tragic events of that day 

 

There were a number of attempts made to rescue Mark 

 

A female friend managed to reach him & she attempted to get him to what she 

mistakenly thought was a rescue rope & it was shortly after this I believe she realised 

Tudalen y pecyn 27



it wasn't & could hold him no longer & he went under! It took approx 2 hours to 

recover his body. 

 

We whole heartedly believe had this actually of been a rescue rope or if there was 

equipment close by & Mark was pulled from the water there is a strong possibility 

Mark would still be alive today 

 

There was no PRE that day & ultimately we believe this is why Mark died 

 

It was 2 days before I was able to see Mark in the hospital mortuary & when I did I 

made him a promise that I would do all I could to ensure that what happened to him 

& tore apart our whole family & his friends couldn't happen to anyone else, this is 

the very reason we petitioned for such equipment to be made common place  

 

Thank you 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



 

 

 
www.senedd.cymru 

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament 
Ymchwil y Senedd |  Senedd Research 

 

Agor canolfannau / clinigau 
meddygol un stop Covid Hir 
Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 29 November 2021 
Petitions Committee | 29 Tachwedd 2021 

Cyfeirnod: SR21/1251-1 

Rhif y ddeiseb: P-06-1217 

Teitl y ddeiseb: Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir 

Geiriad y ddeiseb: Mae 1,000 o bobl yn dioddef o Covid hir nad ydynt yn cael 
unrhyw gymorth meddygol.  Rydym yn teimlo ein bod yn cael ein 
hanwybyddu ac yn ddiymadferth. Mae ein bywydau wedi’u dinistrio. 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 29

Eitem 4.2



Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir 

2 

1. Cefndir 

Mae COVID hir yn gyflwr newydd a chymhleth ac nid yw wedi’i ddeall yn llawn 
hyd yn hyn. Bydd y rhan fwyaf o bobl yn gwella o COVID-19 ar ôl salwch byr. Fodd 
bynnag, mae rhai pobl yn cael eu gadael yn cael trafferth gyda symptomau, gan 
gynnwys blinder hirdymor, poen parhaus a diffyg anadl, am fisoedd ar ôl cael eu 
heintio gan COVID-19. Gelwir hyn yn syndrom Ôl-COVID-19 – neu COVID hir.  

Mae diffiniad clinigol y Sefydliad Cenedlaethol dros Ragoriaeth mewn Iechyd a 
Gofal, ar gyfer COVID hir fel a ganlyn: 

Post-COVID-19 syndrome: signs and symptoms that develop during or 
after an infection consistent with COVID-19, continue for more than 12 
weeks and are not explained by an alternative diagnosis. 

At hynny, mae’r Sefydliad uchod wedi cyhoeddi canllawiau clinigol ar sut i 
adnabod, asesu a rheoli effeithiau hirdymor COVID-19. Dywed fod COVID hir fel 
arfer yn cyflwyno gyda chlystyrau o symptomau, yn gorgyffwrdd yn aml, a all 
newid dros amser ac a all effeithio ar unrhyw system yn y corff. Gall dau berson 
sy’n dioddef o COVID hir gael profiadau gwahanol iawn 

Yn ôl data diweddaraf y Swyddfa Ystadegau Gwladol (4 Tachwedd 2021): 

▪ Ar 2 Hydref 2021, amcangyfrifwyd bod 1.2 miliwn o bobl sy'n byw mewn 

aelwydydd preifat yn y DU (1.9% o'r boblogaeth) yn profi COVID hir, yn ôl 

eu hadroddiadau eu hunain. Roedd y symptomau’n cael effaith 

andwyol ar weithgareddau o ddydd i ddydd 65% o'r rheini â COVID yn 

ôl eu hadroddiadau eu hunain, gyda 19% yn nodi bod eu gallu i 

ymgymryd â'u gweithgareddau o ddydd i ddydd wedi’u cyfyngu lawer. 

▪ Roedd nifer yr achosion o COVID hir yn ôl adroddiadau personol ar ei 

fwyaf ymhlith pobl rhwng 35 a 69 oed, menywod, pobl sy'n byw mewn 

ardaloedd mwy difreintiedig, y rheini sy'n gweithio ym maes iechyd neu 

ofal cymdeithasol, a'r rheini â chyflwr iechyd neu anabledd arall sy'n 

cyfyngu ar weithgareddau. 

Mae erthygl gan Ymchwil y Senedd, Y Coronafeirws:  COVID hir – “mae'n gêm o 
nadroedd ac ysgolion” yn darparu gwybodaeth gefndirol bellach ar COVID hir.  

Tudalen y pecyn 30

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/NG188
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/NG188
https://cy.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/prevalenceofongoingsymptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19infectionintheuk/4november2021?_gl=1*pv97aj*_ga*MTEwMDgyNTgyNS4xNjM3MDgyNzM5*_ga_W804VY6YKS*MTYzNzU3NTA0Ni4yLjAuMTYzNzU3NTA0Ni42MA..
https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/coronafeirws-ystadegau/https:/ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/y-coronafeirws-covid-hir-mae-n-gem-o-nadroedd-ac-ysgolion/
https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/coronafeirws-ystadegau/https:/ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/y-coronafeirws-covid-hir-mae-n-gem-o-nadroedd-ac-ysgolion/
https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/coronafeirws-ystadegau/https:/ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/y-coronafeirws-covid-hir-mae-n-gem-o-nadroedd-ac-ysgolion/
https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/coronafeirws-ystadegau/https:/ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/y-coronafeirws-covid-hir-mae-n-gem-o-nadroedd-ac-ysgolion/
https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/coronafeirws-ystadegau/https:/ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/y-coronafeirws-covid-hir-mae-n-gem-o-nadroedd-ac-ysgolion/


Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir 

3 

2. Camau gan Senedd Cymru 

Ym mis Mawrth 2021, cynhaliodd Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a 
Chwaraeon y Bumed Senedd ymchwiliad i COVID hir. Clywodd y Pwyllgor 
dystiolaeth ynghylch yr angen am wasanaethau amlddisgyblaethol arbenigol ar 
gyfer COVID hir a’r modd y gallai'r gwasanaethau arbenigol hyn helpu i ddatblygu 
gwell dealltwriaeth o'r cyflwr a'r gwasanaethau sydd eu hangen, yn hytrach na 
chyfeirio pobl at wasanaethau sydd eisoes â rhestrau aros hir. 

Fodd bynnag, clywodd y Pwyllgor safbwyntiau gwahanol gan Long COVID Wales 
(grŵp cymorth i bobl sy'n byw gyda COVID hir) a gweithwyr iechyd proffesiynol 
ynghylch a yw'r gwasanaethau arbenigol hyn yn cael eu darparu orau gan glinigau 
COVID hir arbenigol amlddisgyblaethol neu beidio. At hynny, clywodd y Pwyllgor 
fod angen ariannu a darparu adnoddau i'r gwasanaethau hyn ar wahân, ac nid eu 
hychwanegu at wasanaethau adsefydlu sydd eisoes o dan bwysau. 

Yn y Cyfarfod Llawn ar 15 Mehefin 2021 gwnaeth y Gweinidog Iechyd a 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ddatganiad llafar ar wasanaethau sy'n cefnogi pobl i 
wella ar ôl COVID-19. Yn dilyn y datganiad hwn, cododd rhai Aelodau o'r Senedd y 
mater o ran clinigau amlddisgyblaethol arbenigol / 'clinigau siop-un-stop' ar gyfer 
COVID hir. Tynnodd y Gweinidog sylw at yr anhawster wrth ffurfio clinigau sy'n 
arbenigo ym mhopeth, ac aeth ymlaen i ddweud: 

Felly, rwy'n credu bod y model sy'n cael ei ddatblygu mewn lleoedd fel 
Aneurin Bevan, lle byddan nhw'n cynnig gofal cofleidiol i'r unigolyn ac yn 
sicrhau bod tîm yn edrych mewn gwirionedd ar bob agwedd ar sut y 
mae'r unigolyn yn ymateb, gan edrych ar ei iechyd meddwl, edrych ar ei 
ddeiet, edrych ar y problemau gwirioneddol benodol sydd ganddo a'r 
angen i weld arbenigwr mewn llawdriniaeth ar yr ysgyfaint ac arbenigwr 
y galon. Mae'r pethau hynny, rwy'n credu, yn cynnig llwybr llawer gwell 
yn hytrach na'r clinigau, a dyna pam yr ydym wedi mynd a chael cyngor 
gan arbenigwyr clinigol yn hyn o beth, a dyna'n sicr y maen nhw wedi'i 
argymell.. [para 258] 

Pan ofynnwyd iddi ymhellach am y penderfyniad i beidio â sefydlu clinigau COVID 
hir pwrpasol, dywedodd y Gweinidog: 

Rwyf wedi gwneud pwynt o wrando ar gleifion, o edrych ar yr hyn sy'n 
cael ei ddweud ar sianeli cyfryngau cymdeithasol. Ond hefyd rwy'n 
credu ei bod yn ddyletswydd arnaf wrando ar y cyngor clinigol a roddir i 

Tudalen y pecyn 31

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=448&MId=11050&Ver=4
https://www.facebook.com/groups/LongCovidWales
https://cofnod.senedd.cymru/Plenary/12316


Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir 

4 

mi, a'r cyngor a roddwyd i mi, yn glir iawn, yw bod y llwybr yr ydym eisiau 
ei ddilyn yng Nghymru, a'r llwybr sy'n cydymffurfio â'n dull gweithredu, 
sef rhoi gofal mor agos i gartref â phosibl, mewn gwirionedd yn gwneud 
synnwyr i ni, i sicrhau bod y llwybr hwnnw drwy'r meddyg teulu. Yr hyn y 
mae angen inni ei wneud yw cryfhau dealltwriaeth pobl mewn gofal 
sylfaenol, a sicrhau eu bod wedyn yn cael eu hatgyfeirio i ofal eilaidd os, 
a phan fo angen. [para 276] 

Codwyd y mater o ran COVID hir ym Mhwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol y 
Chweched Senedd ar 23 Medi 2021, pan gynhaliodd y Pwyllgor sesiwn graffu 
gyffredinol gyda Gweinidogion, gan gynnwys y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol. 

Mae gan y Senedd grŵp trawsbleidiol ar COVID hir, gyda'r nod o hyrwyddo 
anghenion meddygol ac anghenion eraill dioddefwyr COVID hir yng Nghymru a 
chodi ymwybyddiaeth o'r materion sy'n wynebu'r rheini sy'n byw gyda COVID hir. 

3. Camau gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

Fel y soniwyd uchod, codwyd y mater o ran COVID hir yn ym Mhwyllgor Iechyd, 
Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon y Bumed Senedd ac ym Mhwyllgor Iechyd a 
Gofal Cymdeithasol y Chweched Senedd. Mae tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig a ddarperir 
gan Lywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer y cyfarfodydd hyn yn rhoi’r wybodaeth ganlynol ar 
gamau a gymerwyd mewn perthynas â chefnogaeth a thriniaeth ar gyfer COVID 
hir. 

▪ Mae Ap Adfer COVID GIG Cymru, a lansiwyd ar 20 Ionawr, wedi'i 

ddatblygu i gefnogi unrhyw un sy'n gwella ar ôl COVID-19. Mae'n 

darparu cyngor gan therapyddion, seicolegwyr, dietegwyr ac 

ymgynghorwyr. 

▪ Ym mis Mehefin 2021, cyhoeddodd y Gweinidog Iechyd a 

Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol gyllid o £5 miliwn i gefnogi rhaglen llwybr 

cleifion newydd – Adferiad (Recovery) – a gwella'r diagnosis, y driniaeth, 

a'r adferiad a'r gofal i bobl sy'n dioddef o effeithiau hirdymor COVID-19. 

Mae rhagor o fanylion ar sut y bydd yr arian yn cael ei wario i’w cael yn y 

cyhoeddiad. 

Tudalen y pecyn 32

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=737&MId=12423&Ver=4
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgOutsideBodyDetails.aspx?ID=732
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=448&MId=11050&Ver=4
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=448&MId=11050&Ver=4
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=737&MId=12423&Ver=4
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=737&MId=12423&Ver=4
https://llyw.cymru/lansio-ap-yng-nghymru-i-helpu-i-gefnogi-pobl-sydd-symptomau-covid-hir?_ga=2.163258620.1567853854.1637579225-1154999829.1636971592
https://llyw.cymru/rhaglen-adferiad-recovery-ar-gyfer-covid-hir-html?_ga=2.167789409.1567853854.1637579225-1154999829.1636971592
https://cofnod.senedd.cymru/Plenary/12316


Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir 

5 

Dychwelir at raglen Adferiad bob chwe mis i ystyried tystiolaeth sy'n 

dod i'r amlwg ac arfer gorau.   

▪ Ochr yn ochr â'r rhaglen Adferiad, mae canllaw Cymru gyfan ar gyfer 

rheoli COVID hir wedi'i gyflwyno. Mae'r canllaw hwn ar gyfer gweithwyr 

iechyd proffesiynol – sy'n seiliedig ar Lwybr Cymunedol Cymru Gyfan – 

yn cynnig y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf ar gyfer rheoli COVID hir ar draws y 

GIG yng Nghymru. Y nod yw y bydd gan weithwyr iechyd proffesiynol 

ledled Cymru fynediad at yr un wybodaeth a chyngor ynghylch triniaeth 

ar y cyflwr hwn, ac y bydd ganddynt hefyd ganllaw clir o ran sut a phryd 

i gyfeirio rhywun ymlaen am driniaeth a chefnogaeth. 

Wrth gyfathrebu â'r Pwyllgor Deisebau ar 26 Hydref 2021, dywed y Gweinidog 
Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol fod pob bwrdd iechyd yng Nghymru wedi 
gweithio gyda'i feddygfeydd teulu a'i wasanaethau cymunedol i sefydlu llwybrau 
lleol clir i sicrhau y gall pobl â COVID hir gael mynediad at y gwasanaethau sydd 
eu hangen arnynt. Gellir darparu'r mwyafrif o'r rhain mor agos i'r cartref â phosibl, 
o wasanaethau gofal sylfaenol a chymunedol. 

At hynny, mae’r Gweinidog yn nodi fod pobl sydd angen mynediad at 
wasanaethau mwy arbenigol – sydd ar gael o wasanaethau mewn ysbytai yn unig 
– yn cael eu cyfeirio at yr arbenigedd mwyaf priodol i wella eu hiechyd, a gall 
meddygon teulu gael gafael ar gyngor arbenigol gan ysbytai i gefnogi pobl yn y 
gymuned. 

Mae cyngor ar-lein ac adnoddau hunanreoli ar gael ar wefan pob bwrdd iechyd. 
Mae’r Gweinidog yn amlygu y gall adferiad yn dilyn COVID-19 gael ei reoli’n 
uniolnyrchiol gan lawer o bobl a lle mae hyn yn briodol, gellir darparu cefnogaeth 
trwy ap Adfer GIG Cymru. Aiff y Gweinidog ymlaen i ddweud: 

Mae ein dull gweithredu yn ceisio sicrhau bod cyn lleied â phosibl o 
atgyfeiriadau a throsglwyddiadau yn digwydd i bobl, gan sicrhau bod 
pobl yn cael eu rheoli mewn modd holistaidd ac mai dim ond lleiafrif o 
achosion sy’n cael eu hatgyfeirio i wasanaethau  meddygol arbenigol, a 
bod hynny’n digwydd dim ond pan fo’r gweithiwr iechyd proffesiynol 
sy’n asesu’r unigolyn yn nodi bod angen arbenigedd arno. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir 

6 

Gwneir pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth yn y papur briffio hwn yn 
gywir adeg ei gyhoeddi. Dylai darllenwyr fod yn ymwybodol nad yw’r 
papurau briffio hyn yn cael eu diweddaru o reidrwydd na’u diwygio fel arall 
i adlewyrchu newidiadau dilynol. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 34



Eluned Morgan AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Health and Social Services 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. 

Eich cyf/Your ref P-06-1217 
Ein cyf/Our ref EM/13108/21 

Jack Sargeant AS 
Cadeirydd – y Pwyllgor Deisebau 

26 Hydref 2021 

Annwyl Jack, 

Diolch ichi am eich llythyr dyddiedig 6 Hydref ynglŷn â Deiseb P-06-1217 Agor 
canolfannau/clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir. 

Rwyf wedi gweld â’m llygaid fy hun sut mae cleifion sydd â COVID Hir yn cael eu cefnogi er 
mwyn iddynt allu dychwelyd at fyw bywyd sydd mor llawn â phosibl, ond rwyf hefyd yn 
ymwybodol o’r rhwystredigaeth sy’n cael ei theimlo gan y rheini y mae eu gwellhad mor araf. 

Mae pobl yn wynebu amrywiaeth fawr o heriau a symptomau fel rhan o’r syndrom hwn, a 
rhai o’r symptomau hynny’n eu gwanychu’n ddifrifol. Rwy’n benderfynol y byddwn yn 
gwneud popeth o fewn ein gallu i barhau i ddysgu o’n profiadau wrth ddatblygu 
gwasanaethau i gefnogi’r unigolion hyn. 

Ar 15 Mehefin, cyhoeddais becyn gwerth £5m i gefnogi’r rhaglen Adferiad, sy’n cynorthwyo’r 
rheini sy’n dioddef effeithiau parhaus o ganlyniad i COVID-19. Mae’n hanfodol bod ein 
gwasanaethau’n gallu newid ac addasu, yn seiliedig ar ddysgu o brofiad yn ogystal ag ar 
ymchwil a chasgliadau gwerthusiadau. Dyna pam rwyf wedi gofyn i’m swyddogion adolygu’r 
rhaglen bob chwe mis. 

Drwy gydweithio â’r GIG, fe wnaethom ddatblygu Llwybr Cymunedol Cymru Gyfan, sy’n 
gydnaws â chanllawiau NICE a Chymru Iachach, er mwyn darparu fframwaith ar gyfer 
datblygu gwasanaethau ym mhob un o’n byrddau iechyd. 

Mae pob bwrdd iechyd yng Nghymru wedi gweithio gyda’i bractisau meddygon teulu a 
gwasanaethau cymunedol i sefydlu llwybrau lleol clir er mwyn sicrhau bod pobl sydd â 
COVID Hir yn gallu cael mynediad at y gwasanaethau y mae eu hangen arnynt. Darperir y 
rhan fwyaf o’r gwasanaethau hyn, p’un a ydynt yn asesiadau proffesiynol, ymchwiliadau, 
triniaethau, neu gymorth adsefydlu, mor agos i gartrefi pobl â phosibl drwy wasanaethau 
gofal sylfaenol a gofal cymunedol. 

Tudalen y pecyn 35

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales
mailto:Government.Committee.Business@llyw.cymru


 
Mae’r rheini y mae angen iddynt gael mynediad at wasanaethau mwy arbenigol nad ydynt 
ond ar gael mewn ysbyty yn cael eu hatgyfeirio i’r arbenigedd mwyaf priodol ar gyfer gwella 
eu hiechyd, a hefyd gall meddygon teulu gael cyngor arbenigol gan ysbytai i gefnogi pobl yn 
y gymuned. Mae Llwybr Cymunedol Cymru Gyfan ar gyfer COVID Hir ac adnoddau ar-lein 
ar gael i feddygon teulu a gweithwyr proffesiynol ym maes gofal iechyd yng Nghymru drwy 
linell ganllaw ddigidol a lansiwyd ar 18 Mehefin. Hefyd mae adnoddau cyngor a hunanreoli 
helaeth ar gael ar-lein ar wefan pob bwrdd iechyd. Mae’n bosibl i lawer o bobl wella o 
COVID-19 drwy ddefnyddio dulliau hunan-reoli. Lle bo’n briodol, gallai cymorth gael ei 
ddarparu drwy ap adfer GIG Cymru, a gafodd ei lansio ar 20 Ionawr. 
 
Mae ein dull gweithredu yn ceisio sicrhau bod cyn lleied â phosibl o atgyfeiriadau a 
throsglwyddiadau yn digwydd i bobl, gan sicrhau bod pobl yn cael eu rheoli mewn modd 
holistaidd ac mai dim ond lleiafrif o achosion sy’n cael eu hatgyfeirio i wasanaethau 
meddygol arbenigol, a bod hynny’n digwydd dim ond pan fo’r gweithiwr iechyd proffesiynol 
sy’n asesu’r unigolyn yn nodi bod angen arbenigedd arno. 
 
Rwy’n gobeithio bod hyn yn egluro’r dull gweithredu sydd ar waith yng Nghymru. 
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
Eluned Morgan AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Health and Social Services 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



P-06-1217 Open Long Covid one stop medical hubs / clinics, Correspondence – 

Petitioner to Committee, 23.11.21 

 

Long COVID 

Long COVID is a new condition which despite National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

guidelines describing the services required for this condition, the services provided in Wales are 

inadequate, inequitable in comparison to England and highly variable across Wales. 

  

Long COVID is a commonly used term to describe the long term effects following an acute COVID-19 

infection, clinically defined as “ongoing symptomatic COVID-19” between 4-12 weeks and “post-

COVID-19 syndrome” beyond 12 weeks (1). Long COVID is a complex, multisystem condition caused 

by infection with COVID-19 infection, irrespective of the severity of the initial acute infection(2). 

Long COVID can be continuous or relapsing and remitting in nature(3). There is increasing evidence 

of significant long term medical complications including cardiac, respiratory and renal disease, new-

onset diabetes and excess deaths(2). A report issued by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) in 

September 2021 estimated that 970,000 British people are affected by long COVID(4), in March 2021 

the ONS reported that 56,000 people in Wales were living with the condition (5). 

  

Long COVID negatively impacts an individual’s ability to perform daily activities and to work 

normally. The ONS have stated that 66% of long COVID patients report that their symptoms 

adversely affect their day-to-day activities and 19% report that their ability to undertake day-to-day 

activities is “limited a lot” (4).  Given the increased prevalence of the condition in working age 

people, and the impact on daily living and ability to work, individuals are at increased risk of financial 

hardship. 

  

NICE guidelines published in December 2020 advised the provision of "access to multidisciplinary 

services (these could be 'onestop' clinics) for assessing physical and mental health symptoms and 

carrying out further tests and investigations. They should be led by a doctor with relevant skills and 

experience and appropriate specialist support, taking into account the variety of presenting 

symptoms” (1). Similarly, a Delphi study published in June 2021 stated that "Medically-led multi-

disciplinary clinics are required as serious cardiovascular, neurocognitive, respiratory and immune 

sequelae can present with non-specific symptoms” (2). Despite the NICE guideline, there are 

currently no recognised Long COVID clinics in Wales that meet this description. England, however, 

has invested over £100million into long COVID services, setting up 89 clinics (6) and 15 paediatric 

hubs(7), creating a stark inequality between the two nations.  

  

Research regarding the pathogenesis of long COVID is ongoing therefore a curative treatment has 

not yet been identified. Despite this, medical assessment of long COVID patients is required as a 

number of serious complications have been identified, these include conditions such as pericarditis, 

myocarditis, autonomic dysfunction, postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome, blood clotting 

disorders (such as central venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism), thyroid dysfunction and 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



new-onset diabetes(2). Given the increasing evidence of serious long term medical complications, 

patients should not be assumed to have a self limiting post-viral fatigue syndrome and provision of 

solely rehabilitation services should not considered adequate for this patient group. So far, Health 

Boards across Wales have been tasked with developing Long COVID services. In some regions of 

Wales, long COVID services have been made available however these are therapies led, 

concentrating on rehabilitation and self management of the condition only. Some health boards in 

Wales are still in the development stages of creating long COVID services, resulting in an unfair 

postcode lottery. Everyone with long COVID in Wales is equally deserving of medically-led multi-

disciplinary services as their English counterparts and Wales must therefore invest in the provision of 

effective, safe and equitable medically-led services across all regions of Wales. 

  

Inequitable healthcare for long COVID sufferers has been enhanced secondary to lack of knowledge 

and understanding by healthcare professionals. For example, there have been many reports on the 

Long COVID Wales Facebook group of patients being gas lighted by their GP including dismissing 

their symptoms as anxiety, being told nothing is wrong when standard tests return as ‘normal’, not 

believing that they have long COVID or not recognising long COVID in absence of a positive COVID 

test despite this not being a requirement for the diagnosis. Long COVID patients have also reported 

that GPs have been unaware of which long COVID services are available and unwilling or resistant to 

refer to secondary care. Additionally, given the delay in Wales developing medically-led long COVID 

clinics we have lost over a year of potential time to learn about long COVID patients and contribute 

such knowledge to the wider stage. Given the difficulty of some patients in receiving referrals to 

secondary care, secondary care consultants are not gaining sufficient exposure to this new disease 

to develop expertise here in Wales. It is essential therefore that, in the hope that medically-led 

clinics will be created, that such clinics should communicate with medical leaders of long COVID 

clinics in England and further afield, as well as taking an active interest in keeping up to date with 

the quickly emerging research, in order to fast track the development of long COVID expertise 

amongst doctors and allied health care professionals practising in Wales. 

  

A proportion of long COVID patients have been referred to secondary care services, however, due to 

long waiting lists, in some cases greater than a year, many long COVID patients have sought private 

healthcare. Given that long COVID is a multisystem disorder, some patients report paying in to the 

thousands for consultations and investigations by various specialists. This of course is not financially 

viable for many patients especially those whose incomes have been severely affected due to the 

illness and this widens the divide between those who are able to access healthcare and those that 

aren’t. Many patients with long COVID, particularly those from the first and second waves, are key 

workers, often working for our health and social services. These patients had to leave the safety of 

their homes to work for the benefit of others, it seems unjust therefore that these patients cannot 

access the healthcare that they deserve, even worse that they are having to pay to receive it. 

  

Solutions 

  

We offer the following recommendations for solutions to the issues discussed above. 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



• Investment by the Welsh government is needed to establish medically-led long COVID clinics in 

Wales. Such clinics should provide: 

o A medically- led service by doctors with long COVID expertise 

o Holistic care pathways 

o Physical assessment 

o Cognitive assessment to assess any potential memory, attention or concentration problems 

o Direct access to diagnostic testing with investigation of specific complications 

o Management of symptoms clusters 

o Tailored rehabilitation.  

Following such recommendations would enable safe, equitable, effective and patient centred care. 

• Clinics as described above should be accessible by patients across Wales in a timely manner, this 

will enable more efficient and  timely healthcare and provide economic savings when contrasted 

with the short and longer term impacts of long COVID on high prevalence occupations such as in the 

education, health and social care sectors. 

• NHS leaders of such clinics should communicate with successful long COVID clinics in NHS England 

and further afield to learn from the knowledge and experience developed in such clinics over the last 

year. This will expedite the development ofequitable, effective, efficient, timely, safe and patient 

centred services. 

• All Wales training, developed and provided perhaps by Health Education and Improvement Wales, 

about long COVID should be given to health care professionals to improve knowledge of this 

complex condition and its associated complications. This will enable safe, equitable and timely care 

for these patients. 

• Health care professionals should be aware of the locally and distanced available services for long 

COVID patients to provide safe, efficient and timely for the patients effected. 

  

1. COVID-19 rapid guideline: managing the long-term effects of COVID-19. NICE guideline [NG188]. 

Published: 18 December 2020.https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng188/chapter/Context 

  

2. Recommendations for the recognition, diagnosis, and management of long covid: A Delphi study. 

Nurek M, Rayner C, Freyer A, Taylor S, Järte L, MacDermott N and Delaney B. British Journal of 

General Practice 2 August 2021; BJGP.2021.0265. DOI:10.3399/BJGP.2021.0265 

https://bjgp.org/content/early/2021/07/27/BJGP.2021.0265 

  

3. Long COVID: An overview. Raveendran AV, Jayadevan R, Sashidharand S.  Diabetes MetabSyndr. 

2021 May-June; 15(3): 869–875. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2021.04.007 

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8056514/ 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 39



4. Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK: 2 

September 2021. Office of National Statistics. Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following 

coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

  

5. Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK: 1 April 

2021. Office of National Statistics.   Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-

19) infection in the UK - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

  

 6. Long COVID: the NHS plan for 2021/22. Document first published:15 June 2021.  

 

7. NHS sets up specialist young people’s services in £100 million long COVID care expansion. NHS 

England. 15 June 2021. NHS England » NHS sets up specialist young people’s services in £100 million 

long COVID care expansion 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



 

 

 
www.senedd.cymru 

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament 
Ymchwil y Senedd |  Senedd Research

 

Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi 
derbyn gofal cymdeithasol fod 
ganddynt yr hawl i wneud cais am eu 
gwybodaeth bersonol 
Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 29 Tachwedd 2021 
Petitions Committee | 29 November 2021 

Cyfeirnod: SR21/1251 

Rhif y ddeiseb: P-06-1218 

Teitl y ddeiseb: Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal 
cymdeithasol fod ganddynt yr hawl i wneud cais am eu gwybodaeth 
bersonol. 

Geiriad y ddeiseb: Dylai pawb sydd wedi bod yng ngofal y gwasanaethau 
cymdeithasol gael gwybod am yr hawl sydd ganddynt i wneud cais am eu 
gwybodaeth bersonol gan y gwasanaethau cymdeithasol wrth iddynt droi’n 
18 oed. Gall y broses o adolygu papurau nifer o flynyddoedd ar ôl y 
digwyddiad dan sylw gael effaith niweidiol sylweddol ar les unigolion a 
theuluoedd. 

Mae gan bob person hawliau dynol, a dylid hysbysu pobl ynghylch yr hawl i 
weld eu ffeiliau. Gan fy mod i mor angerddol ynghylch helpu plant eraill, 
penderfynais wneud gradd mewn gwaith ieuenctid a chymunedol. Yn ystod 
sgwrs gyda fy narlithydd, a oedd yn ymwybodol fy mod i wedi derbyn gofal yn 
sgil sgyrsiau blaenorol, gofynnwyd imi a oeddwn wedi gwneud cais i weld fy 
ffeil diogelu data. Doedd gen i ddim syniad beth oedd y ffeil honno, nac 
ychwaith at beth yr oedd fy narlithydd yn cyfeirio. Rhoddodd fy narlithydd 
gyngor wrthyf ynghylch yr hyn y dylwn ei wneud. Dilynais y weithdrefn dan 
sylw a chefais y ffeil. Edrychodd y dyn arnaf gydag empathi, gan ei fod wedi ei 
darllen. Roedd yr empathi yr oedd yn ei ddangos imi yn destun peth syndod 
a dryswch i mi. Mi es i adref â’r ffeil hon, ac roedd gen i gryn ddiddordeb 
mewn darllen y cynnwys ar yr adeg honno, yn enwedig yn sgil mynegiant 

Tudalen y pecyn 41

Eitem 4.3



Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal cymdeithasol fod ganddynt yr hawl i wneud 
cais am eu gwybodaeth bersonol  

2 

wyneb y dyn, a’r ffaith fy mod i’n gwybod ei fod wedi ei darllen hefyd. Fodd 
bynnag, doedd gen i ddim syniad beth oedd o’m mlaen i. Roeddwn yn 
agored i’r trawma plentyndod a'r esgeulustod yr oeddwn wedi'u dioddef. 
Cefais gymaint o sioc, bu’n rhaid imi weld seiciatrydd gan fy mod i wedi ail-
fyw trawma'r gorffennol. Nid wyf yn beio’r gwasanaethau cymdeithasol am y 
modd y cefais fy nhrin gan fy rhieni. Nid eu bai nhw oedd hynny. 

 

1. Cefndir 

Mae deiseb i hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi 'derbyn gofal cymdeithasol', yn 
ôl diffiniad y deisebydd, yr hawl i ofyn am eu gwybodaeth bersonol wedi'i 
gyflwyno i'r Pwyllgor Deisebau.  

Ar hyn o bryd, mae gan bobl ifanc 18 oed eisoes yr hawl i gael gafael ar wybodaeth 
bersonol, ond nid oes dyletswydd i hysbysu'r rhai sydd wedi bod mewn gofal o'r 
hawl hon pan fyddant yn troi'n 18 oed.  

Cedwir cofnodion personol fel y gellir defnyddio gwybodaeth i gynllunio a darparu 
gwasanaethau. Gall y cofnodion hyn gynnwys dogfennau allweddol, gan gynnwys 
cynlluniau ac adolygiadau cynnydd, adroddiadau ysgol, gwybodaeth gan 
ddarparwyr gwasanaeth ac am berthnasau biolegol.  

Mae'r hawl i gael mynediad at gofnodion wedi newid dros amser ac fe’i 
cyflwynwyd gyntaf yn yr 1980au yn dilyn apêl i Lys Hawliau Dynol Ewrop gan 
berson ifanc a oedd wedi bod yng ngofal awdurdod lleol ac y gwrthodwyd 
mynediad iddo at gofnodion personol. Dyfarnodd y Llys fod mynediad at 
gofnodion yn hawl ddynol o dan Erthygl 8 o'r Confensiwn Ewropeaidd ar Hawliau 
Dynol, a oedd yn gwarantu bywyd preifat a theuluol. 

O dan Ddeddf Diogelu Data 2018 a'r Rheoliad Cyffredinol ar Ddiogelu Data 
('GDPR') gall unrhyw berson wneud 'Cais Gwrthrych am Wybodaeth' i unrhyw 
sefydliad a allai ddal gwybodaeth amdanynt. Mae gan bobl sydd wedi bod mewn 
gofal yr hawl i ofyn am gofnodion a gwybodaeth am eu hamser mewn gofal 
cymdeithasol a chael mynediad atynt gan unrhyw sefydliad sy’n eu dal. Mae hyn 
yn cynnwys awdurdodau lleol, asiantaethau maeth, elusennau, ysgolion, y GIG ac 
unrhyw sefydliad arall a oedd yn ymwneud â'u gofal. 

Tudalen y pecyn 42

https://www.familyconnect.org.uk/historical-context/
https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/guide_art_8_eng.pdf
https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/guide_art_8_eng.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/cy/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation
https://cy.ico.org.uk/your-data-matters/your-right-to-get-copies-of-your-data/


Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal cymdeithasol fod ganddynt yr hawl i wneud 
cais am eu gwybodaeth bersonol  

3 

 Cael gafael ar gofnodion personol  

I'r rhai sydd am weld eu cofnodion personol gallant wneud 'Cais Gwrthrych am 
Wybodaeth' yn rhad ac am ddim. Mae gan sefydliadau un mis i ymateb, er y 
gallant ymestyn hyn i dri mis os yw'r cais yn gymhleth - mae cofnodion gofal fel 
rheol yn gymhleth.  

Mae sefydliadau ymgyrchu, gan gynnwys y Grŵp Ymgyrch Mynediad at Gofnodion 
Gofal (ACRCG) a FamilyConnect yn galw am fynediad gwell at ffeiliau ar gyfer 
plant mewn gofal a phobl ifanc sy'n gadael gofal. Maent yn pwysleisio eu barn ar 
yr effaith gadarnhaol sy'n newid bywyd y gall gweld cofnodion gofal cymdeithasol 
ei chael ar y rhai sydd wedi bod mewn gofal. Gall mynediad at y cofnodion hyn 
ateb cwestiynau sydd heb eu hateb, neu gall helpu i adeiladu neu ailsefydlu 
cyswllt â pherthnasau biolegol.  

Yn 2017, cynhaliodd Coleg Prifysgol Llundain astudiaeth a oedd yn archwilio sut 
mae cofnodion yn cael eu creu, eu rheoli, eu cadw a'u cyrchu yn Lloegr. Daeth yr 
astudiaeth Memory – Identity – Rights in Records – Access (MIRRA) i'r casgliad, er 
bod cofnodion yn chwarae rhan ganolog wrth sefydlu ymdeimlad o hunaniaeth a 
pherthyn drwy gydol oes person, mae nifer o faterion wrth geisio cael gafael ar 
gofnodion:  

▪ Mae arferion cofnodi gofal cymdeithasol yn aml yn methu â diwallu 

anghenion 'stori bywyd' y rhai sy'n gadael gofal, oherwydd ffocws ar 

reoli risg, cydymffurfiaeth a chanlyniadau.  

▪ Mae prosesau rheoli cofnodion yn anghyson ac yn amrywiol iawn, ac 

mae llawer o gofnodion mewn perygl o gael eu colli neu eu dinistrio. 

Mae hyn yn cynnwys cofnodion digidol sy'n aml yn cael eu creu a'u 

rheoli mewn systemau perchnogol sy'n cael eu defnyddio am gyfnodau 

byr. 

▪ Mae'r dirwedd ddeddfwriaethol a rheoliadol yn dameidiog, yn ddryslyd 

ac yn annigonol i anghenion y rhai sy'n gadael gofal. Mae hyn yn 

arbennig o wir o ran mynediad o dan y Rheoliad Cyffredinol ar Ddiogelu 

Data, nad yw'n cyfrif am y rôl unigryw sydd gan gofnodion gofal 

cymdeithasol ar ymdeimlad unigolyn o hunaniaeth a pherthyn. 

Tudalen y pecyn 43

https://cy.ico.org.uk/your-data-matters/your-right-to-get-copies-of-your-data/what-to-expect-after-making-a-subject-access-request/
https://www.accesstocarerecords.org.uk/
https://www.accesstocarerecords.org.uk/
https://www.familyconnect.org.uk/
https://cpb-eu-w2.wpmucdn.com/blogs.ucl.ac.uk/dist/1/627/files/2019/07/MIRRA-poster-A1_v03-003.pdf
https://cpb-eu-w2.wpmucdn.com/blogs.ucl.ac.uk/dist/1/627/files/2019/07/MIRRA-poster-A1_v03-003.pdf
https://cpb-eu-w2.wpmucdn.com/blogs.ucl.ac.uk/dist/1/627/files/2019/07/MIRRA-poster-A1_v03-003.pdf


Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal cymdeithasol fod ganddynt yr hawl i wneud 
cais am eu gwybodaeth bersonol  

4 

Ym mis Mawrth 2021, cyflwynodd y Grŵp Ymgyrch Mynediad at Gofnodion Gofal 
ymateb i'r Cyd-bwyllgor ar Hawliau Dynol ar Adolygiad Llywodraeth y DU o'r 
Ddeddf Hawliau Dynol a galwodd am: 

legislation which takes the rights of an adult care leaver to their personal 
and family history outside of data protection legislation and process and 
replaces the present legal route with a dedicated and more empathetic 
legislative framework.  

2. Camau gweithredu Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae adrannau 105 i 115 o Ddeddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 
2014 yn gosod dyletswyddau ar awdurdodau lleol i ddarparu cyngor a 
chefnogaeth i blant a phobl ifanc y mae wedi 'gofalu amdanynt' pan fyddant yn 
gadael gofal cymdeithasol. Mae Rhan 6 Cod Ymarfer (Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal a 
Phlant sy’n Cael eu Lletya) o dan Ddeddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant 
(Cymru) 2014 yn nodi rôl Cynghorydd Personol, a roddir i bob person sy’n gadael 
gofal hyd at 25 oed a chynllun gofal neu 'Gynllun Llwybr' sy'n nodi manylion am y 
gwasanaethau a'r gefnogaeth sydd eu hangen ar bobl ifanc sydd wedi gadael 
gofal.  

Wrth ymateb i'r ddeiseb, cyfeiriodd y Dirprwy Weinidog Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol at rôl y Cynghorydd Personol, sy’n:  

gweithredu fel canolbwynt cyson i’r rhai hynny sy’n gadael gofal gan 
sicrhau eu bod yn cael cefnogaeth bersonol a chyson yn ystod y cyfnod 
pontio i fyd oedolion. Yn rhan o’u rôl, dylai Cynghorwyr Personol gynnig 
cefnogaeth i bobl ifanc i’w galluogi i gael gweld eu ffeiliau achos yn ddi-
drafferth. 

Ychwanegodd y Dirprwy Weinidog: 

Rydym yn disgwyl i’r awdurdod lleol, y gwasanaethau iechyd a’r 
Cynghorydd Personol ddarparu mynediad at gefnogaeth addas a/neu 
gwnsela i’r rhai hynny sy’n gadael gofal os yw darllen eu hen ffeiliau 
achos yn achosi trawma iddynt. Mae’n bosibl y gall darparwyr eiriolaeth 
trydydd sector sy’n gweithio gyda’r rhai sy’n gadael gofal ddarparu 
cefnogaeth yn ogystal. Rydym hefyd yn ymwybodol y gall rhai oedolion 
wnaeth adael gofal cyn inni gyflwyno ein deddfwriaeth gyfredol fod yn 
awyddus i gael gweld eu ffeiliau achos. Byddem yn disgwyl i 
awdurdodau lleol gynorthwyo i hwyluso’r ceisiadau hyn. Byddem hefyd 

Tudalen y pecyn 44

https://www.accesstocarerecords.org.uk/acrcg-makes-a-submission-to-the-joint-committee-on-human-rights/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/independent-human-rights-act-review.cy
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/independent-human-rights-act-review.cy
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/cy/anaw/2014/4/part/6/crossheading/leaving-care-accommodation-and-fostering
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/cy/anaw/2014/4/part/6/crossheading/leaving-care-accommodation-and-fostering
https://senedd.cymru/laid%20documents/sub-ld10411/sub-ld10411-w.pdf
https://senedd.cymru/laid%20documents/sub-ld10411/sub-ld10411-w.pdf


Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal cymdeithasol fod ganddynt yr hawl i wneud 
cais am eu gwybodaeth bersonol  

5 

yn disgwyl i awdurdodau lleol, gwasanaethu iechyd ac os yn briodol, y 
trydydd sector sy’n gweithio yn y maes hwn i ddarparu cefnogaeth ar 
gyfer proses a all fod yn tu hwnt i emosiynol. 

Wrth sôn am ei arfer cyfredol mewn perthynas â'r mater hwn, dywedodd Cyngor 
Sir Caerfyrddin: 

We already ask our staff to be proactive in doing ongoing life story work 
with children as they go through their time in care so that they are able 
to continually have the opportunity to reflect on and comment about 
their experiences and understanding of the issues that led to them 
being in care as well as their experiences in care.  

Gwneir pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth yn y papur briffio hwn yn 
gywir adeg ei gyhoeddi. Dylai darllenwyr fod yn ymwybodol nad yw’r 
papurau briffio hyn yn cael eu diweddaru o reidrwydd na’u diwygio fel arall 
i adlewyrchu newidiadau dilynol. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 45

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-56416593


Julie Morgan AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol  
Deputy Minister for Social Services 
 
 
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.Morgan@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Julie.Morgan@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref:  P-06-1218 
Ein cyf/Our ref: JMSS/10471/21 
 
 
Jack Sargeant AS 
Cadeirydd – Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 

 

Government.Committee.Business@llyw.cymru 
 
 

 
29 Hydref 2021  

 
Annwyl Jack, 
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 6 Hydref yn gofyn am fy marn ar ddeiseb (P-06-1218) 
‘Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal cymdeithasol fod ganddynt yr hawl i 
wneud cais am eu gwybodaeth bersonol’. 
  
Mae Gweinidogion yn cydnabod pa mor bwysig yw hi i bobl ifanc sydd wedi treulio amser 
mewn gofal i gael gweld eu cofnodion. Gall hyn fod yn brofiad cadarnhaol iddynt gan eu helpu 
i ddeall eu hanes personol a’u taith drwy’r system ofal.  
 
Mae Cod Ymarfer Rhan 6 (Plant sy’n Derbyn Gofal a Phlant sy’n cael eu Lletya) o dan 
Ddeddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 2014 yn adlewyrchu’r pwysigrwydd 
rydym yn ei osod ar y ddarpariaeth hon. Mae’r Cod yn amlinellu rôl y Cynghorydd Personol 
sy’n gweithredu fel canolbwynt cyson i’r rhai hynny sy’n gadael gofal gan sicrhau eu bod yn 
cael cefnogaeth bersonol a chyson yn ystod y cyfnod pontio i fyd oedolion. Yn rhan o’u rôl, 
dylai Cynghorwyr Personol gynnig cefnogaeth i bobl ifanc i’w galluogi i gael gweld eu ffeiliau 
achos yn ddi-drafferth.  
 
Rydym yn deall y gall gweld eu hen ffeiliau gofal cymdeithasol fod yn drawmatig i rai o’r rhai 
hynny sy’n gadael gofal. Rydym yn disgwyl i’r awdurdod lleol, y gwasanaethau iechyd a’r 
Cynghorydd Personol ddarparu mynediad at gefnogaeth addas a/neu gwnsela i’r rhai hynny 
sy’n gadael gofal os yw darllen eu hen ffeiliau achos yn achosi trawma iddynt. Mae’n bosibl 
y gall darparwyr eiriolaeth trydydd sector sy’n gweithio gyda’r rhai sy’n gadael gofal 
ddarparu cefnogaeth yn ogystal.   
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 46

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.Morgan@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.Morgan@gov.wales
mailto:Government.Committee.Business@llyw.cymru


 
 
 
 
Rydym hefyd yn ymwybodol y gall rhai oedolion wnaeth adael gofal cyn inni gyflwyno ein 
deddfwriaeth gyfredol fod yn awyddus i gael gweld eu ffeiliau achos. Byddem yn disgwyl i 
awdurdodau lleol gynorthwyo i hwyluso’r ceisiadau hyn. Byddem hefyd yn disgwyl i 
awdurdodau lleol, gwasanaethau iechyd ac os yn briodol, y trydydd sector sy’n gweithio yn 
y maes hwn i ddarparu cefnogaeth ar gyfer proses a all fod yn tu hwnt o emosiynol. 
 
Gobeithiaf fod fy ymateb wedi bod o gymorth ichi.  
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
 
Julie Morgan AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol  
Deputy Minister for Social Services 

Tudalen y pecyn 47



 

 

 
www.senedd.cymru 

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament 
Ymchwil y Senedd |  Senedd Research 

 

P-06-1219 Dylid gosod cerflun coffa o’r 
canwr Affricanaidd-Americanaidd 
Paul Robeson yn y Cymoedd 
Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 29 Tachwedd 2020 
Petitions Committee | 29 November 2020 

Cyfeirnod: SR21/1251-3 

Rhif y ddeiseb: P-06-1219 

Teitl y ddeiseb: Dylid gosod cerflun coffa o’r canwr Affricanaidd-Americanaidd 
Paul Robeson yn y Cymoedd 

Geiriad y ddeiseb: Canwr ac actor Affricanaidd-Americanaidd oedd Paul 
Robeson a ddaeth i gael cariad at Gymru a’i chymunedau glofaol. Bu’n 
cefnogi glowyr Cymru gyda'r elw o'i gyngherddau’n mynd at eu cronfa 
gymorth streicio ac aeth ar daith yng Nghymru, gan ganu yng Nghaerdydd, 
Castell-nedd ac mewn mannau eraill i godi arian i lowyr. 

Pan oedd yn cael ei wahanu yn UDA, dywedodd iddo gael croeso cynnes 
diderfyn yng Nghymru, a dywedodd fod cymunedau glofaol Cymru wedi 
llywio ei fywyd. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 48

Eitem 4.4



Teitl:  

2 

1. Y cefndir 

Gellid mynd ar drywydd nifer o ffynonellau cyllid ar gyfer cerflun o’r fath. Mae 
Ymchwil y Senedd wedi llunio nifer o ganllawiau i etholwyr sy’n eu cyfeirio at 
ffynonellau o gyllid a chyngor. Gall y canlynol fod yn berthnasol i'r ddeiseb hon: 

- Cymorth i’r Celfyddydau 

- Adeiladau cymunedol, mannau addoli a grwpiau ffydd 

Gallai fod o ddefnydd i’r deisebwyr gwaith y grŵp Monumental Welsh Women, 
sy'n ymgyrchu i godi pum cerflun o fenywod o Gymru mewn pum mlynedd. 
Cafodd y grŵp ei ysgogi gan y ffaith, pan ddechreuodd eu hymgyrch, nad oedd 
unrhyw gerfluniau o fenywod Cymreig penodol yng Nghymru. Cafodd cerflun 
cyntaf y grŵp – o'r brifathrawes Betty Campbell – ei ddadorchuddio yn Sgwâr 
Canolog Caerdydd ym mis Medi 2021. Cafwyd cyllid ar ei gyfer gan Lywodraeth 
Cymru, Sir Robert McAlpine Ltd, Rightacres Property Ltd, Legal & Cyffredinol, ISG 
Ltd, Hugh James, Eversheds Sutherland LLP, Blake Morgan LLP a’r MoonDance 
Foundation, yn ogystal â nifer o unigolion.  

2. Camau gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

Cyfrannodd Llywodraeth Cymru at ariannu'r cerflun o Betty Campbell a godwyd 
yn ddiweddar. Fe wnaeth hefyd gyfrannu £5,000 tuag at gerflun o gapten Clwb 
Pêl-droed Dinas Caerdydd, Fred Keenor.  

Fe wnaeth Llywodraeth Cymru gomisiynu archwiliad dan arweiniad Gaynor Legall 
o gerfluniau, enwau strydoedd ac enwau adeiladau i fynd i'r afael â chysylltiadau 
Cymru â'r fasnach gaethwasiaeth. Ym mis Tachwedd 2020, canfu archwiliad 
Legall gyfanswm o 209 o henebion, adeiladau neu enwau strydoedd, a leolir ym 
mhob rhan o Gymru, sy’n coffáu pobl a oedd yn ymwneud yn uniongyrchol â 
chaethwasiaeth a’r fasnach mewn caethweision neu a oedd wedi gwrthwynebu ei 
diddymu. 

Nododd yr adroddiad fod nifer o grwpiau nad ydynt yn cael eu coffáu’n 
gyhoeddus yn ddigonol yng Nghymru: 

Mae'r absenoldeb cyffredinol a nodwyd o goffadwriaethau i bobl 
groenliw yn rhyfeddol, yn ogystal â'r diffyg coffadwriaethau i fenywod, 
pobl anabl a ffigyrau pwysig y byd.    

Tudalen y pecyn 49

https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/media/ambheaje/arts-welsh.pdf
https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/media/e0kmnsjl/community-buildings-welsh.pdf
https://monumentalwelshwomen.com/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/cymrufyw/58724851
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-south-east-wales-18085020
https://llyw.cymru/y-fasnach-mewn-caethweision-ar-ymerodraeth-brydeinig-archwiliad-o-goffau-yng-nghymru
https://llyw.cymru/y-fasnach-mewn-caethweision-ar-ymerodraeth-brydeinig-archwiliad-o-goffau-yng-nghymru


Teitl:  

3 

Mewn datganiad cysylltiedig, dywedodd y Prif Weinidog fod yr “archwiliad wedi 
dangos bod y fasnach mewn caethweision a cham-fanteisio trefedigaethol wedi'u 
gwreiddio yn economi a chymdeithas ein cenedl." ac mai: 

Dyma ran gyntaf gwaith llawer mwy cynhwysfawr o gydystyried sut 
rydym yn symud ymlaen gyda'r wybodaeth hon wrth i ni geisio 
anrhydeddu a dathlu ein cymunedau amrywiol.  

 

3. Camau gan Senedd Cymru 

Yn 2020, cynhaliodd Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Diwylliant y Senedd 
flaenorol ymchwiliad i gofebau mewn mannau cyhoeddus, yn sgil dymchwel 
cerflun Colston ym Mryste a thrafodaeth eang am briodoldeb cofebau 
hanesyddol. 

Roedd argymhellion yr adroddiad yn cynnwys: 

Dylai Llywodraeth Cymru weithio mewn partneriaeth ag awdurdodau 
lleol, elusennau, a’r sector treftadaeth i nodi lleoliadau addas ar gyfer 
cerfluniau neu weithiau celf coffáu o arwyddocâd cenedlaethol yng 
Nghymru i fynd i’r afael â’r tangynrychiolaeth a nodwyd yn yr adroddiad 
hwn. 

 

Gwneir pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth yn y papur briffio hwn yn 
gywir adeg ei gyhoeddi. Dylai darllenwyr fod yn ymwybodol nad yw'r 
papurau briffio hyn yn cael eu diweddaru o reidrwydd na'u diwygio fel arall 
i adlewyrchu newidiadau dilynol. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 50

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=28897
https://senedd.cymru/media/qwed04p4/cr-ld14301-w.pdf


Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 
 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru          
  Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref P-06-1219 
Ein cyf/Our ref DB/10459/21 
Jack Sargeant AS 
Cadeirydd – Y Pwyllgor Deisebau  
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 
Government.Committee.Business@gov.wales 
 

 
21 Hydref 2021  

 
 
Annwyl Jack 
 
Diolch am eich llythyr ynghylch y ddeiseb am gerflun coffa o Paul Robeson yn y Cymoedd. 
 
Credaf y gallwn gytuno y byddai coffáu yn deyrnged addas o bosibl i etifeddiaeth o 
gefnogaeth a haelioni Paul Robeson i'r cymunedau glofaol ledled Cymru a'r berthynas 
unigryw a ffurfiwyd. 
 
Nid yw Llywodraeth Cymru fel arfer yn comisiynu cerfluniau ac nid oes ganddi gyllideb 
benodol i wneud hynny. Fel arfer, caiff gosod cerfluniau coffa ei gychwyn gan awdurdodau 
lleol, weithiau mewn partneriaeth â sefydliadau dielw neu grwpiau cymunedol.  
 
Efallai yr hoffai'r deisebydd gysylltu â'r awdurdodau lleol yn yr ardal arfaethedig i ystyried a 
yw'r cynnig yn ymarferol. 
 
Yn gywir 
 

 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

Tudalen y pecyn 51

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales


P-06-1219 Install a commemorative statue of African-American singer Paul 

Robeson in the Valleys, Correspondence – Petitioner to Committee, 22.11.21 

 

I understand this is not within the remit of the Welsh Government to do now. Thank 

you for your time. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref P-06-1221 
Ein cyf/Our ref JJ/11924/21 
 
Jack Sargeant AS 
Cadeirydd – Y pwyllgor deisebau 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 
deisebau@senedd.cymru 
 

11 Tachwedd 2021 
 
Annwyl Jack, 
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 20 Hydref ynglŷn â deiseb P-06-1221: “Gwrthodwch 
gynlluniau ar gyfer Cynllun Solar Ffermwyr Gwynllŵg, sef fferm solar ar gyrion Maerun”. 
 
Gwrthodwyd caniatâd cynllunio i'r cais cynllunio Datblygiadau o Arwyddocâd Cenedlaethol y 
mae'r ddeiseb yn cyfeirio ato ar 10fed Medi.  O ganlyniad, ni welaf unrhyw reswm dros fynd 
ymlaen â'r ddeiseb hon. 
 
Mae'r penderfyniad ffurfiol ynghlwm wrth y llythyr hwn (Saesneg yn unig), ac mae'r rhesymeg 
lawn y tu ôl i'r penderfyniad wedi'i gynnwys ynddo. 
 
 
Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 53

Eitem 4.5

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


  

 
  
  
  

Cyf ffeil/File ref: DNS/3216558 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Adroddiad Report 
  

gan Hywel Wyn Jones  BA(Hons) BTP 

MRTPI 

by Hywel Wyn Jones  BA(Hons) BTP 

MRTPI 

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 26.03.2021 Date: 26.03.2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 

SECTIONS 62D & 62F 

The Developments of National Significance (Wales) Regulations 2016  

Application by Wentlooge Farmers’ Solar Scheme Limited 

Land on the Wentlooge Levels to the west of Hawse Lane, near Marshfield, 

Newport  

Tudalen y pecyn 54



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    2 

CONTENTS 

 

 Page Para. 

Abbreviations used in this report 4  

Procedural Matters 6 1 

Site and Surroundings 8 14 

Proposed Development 10 26 

Planning Policy 10 32 

The Case for the Applicant 12 43 

Site Selection and Alternatives 13 48 

Environmental Benefits 13 49 

Social Benefits 14 54 

Economic Benefits 14 58 

Traffic and Transport 15 61 

Cultural Heritage 15 63 

Landscape and Visual Effects 16 67 

Ecology and Nature Conservation 17 78 

Ornithology 19 94 

Habitats Regulations 20 99 

Flood Risk and Water Resources 20 100 

Glint and Glare 21 105 

Noise 21 109 

Agricultural Land Quality and Tree Survey 21 110 

Population and Human Health 22 112 

Green Wedge 22 114 

Planning Policy 22 116 

Sustainability and Well-being 22 117 

Additional Grid Yard 22 118 

Community Benefit 23 119 

Lifetime of Project 23 120 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    3 

Conditions 23 122 

Conclusions 23 124 

Local Impact Report 24 127 

Landscape & Visual Impact (character & appearance) 24 129 

Ecology 24 132 

Historic Landscape 25 137 

Archaeology 25 138 

Flooding 25 139 

Coastal Zone 25 140 

Access and Highways 25 141 

Rural Character/Mitigation 26 142 

Noise 26 143 

Glint and Glare 26 144 

Power Generation 26 145 

Publicity 26 146 

Post-LIR Representations 26 147 

Consultation Responses 27  

Cadw 27 155 

Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust  27 157 

Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales 28 159 

Natural Resources Wales 28 162 

Gwent Ornithological Society  29 165 

Gwent Wildlife Trust 29 166 

RSPB Cymru 30 169 

Severn Estuary Levels Research Committee 30 171 

Wentlooge Community Council 30 172 

Marshfield Community Council 31 175 

Friends of the Gwent Levels 31 176 

Other representations 31 181 

Appraisal of Main Considerations 33 189 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    4 

Green Wedge 33 190 

Landscape Character and Visual Amenity 35 203 

Historic landscape  39 226 

Ecology 42 245 

Flooding 48 283 

Traffic and Highway Safety 50 292 

Benefits of the Scheme 51 297 

Other Considerations 51 300 

Conditions 55 325 

Planning Balance and Overall Conclusion 57 332 

Recommendations 58 338 

   

Annex A: Schedule of Recommended Conditions 58  

Annex B: Appropriate Assessment 65  

Annex C: Appearances  68  

Annex D: Documents 70  

 

List of Abbreviations 

 

AA Appropriate Assessment 

ASIDOHL Assessment of the Impact of Development on Historic Landscape 

CEMP Construction and Environmental Management Plan 

CPRW Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales 

CTMP Construction Traffic Management Plan 

DNS Development of National Significance 

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment 

ES Environmental Statement 

FCA Flood Consequences Assessment 

FoGL Friends of The Gwent Levels 

GGAT Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    5 

HLCA Historic Landscape Character Area 

HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 

LBAP Local Biodiversity Action Plan 

LDP Local Development Plan 

LEMP Landscape Environment Management Plan 

LOHI Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest 

LPA Local Planning Authority 

LVIA Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

M4 CAN M4 Corridor around Newport 

the Council Newport City Council 

NRW Natural Resources Wales 

PPW Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 

PROW Public Right of Way 

RSPB The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 

SAC Special Area of Conservation 

SAM Scheduled Ancient Monument 

SLA Special Landscape Area 

SPA Special Protection Area 

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 

TAN Technical Advice Note 

TMP Traffic Management Plan 

WG Welsh Government 

ZTV Zone of Theoretical Visibility 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



Report DNS/3216558 
 

 

6 

File Ref: DNS/3216558 

Site address: Land on the Wentlooge Levels to the west of Hawse Lane, near 

Marshfield, Newport  

• The application dated 3 March 2020, was made under section 62D of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015). 
• The applicant is the Wentlooge Farmers’ Solar Scheme Limited. 
• The application was confirmed as valid on 17 July 2020. 
• Site visit took place on 29 January 2021. 
• Hearings were held on 19, 20 and 21 January 2021. 
• The development is described as the erection of a renewable energy hub comprising ground 

mounted solar panels, battery storage units (160 units) with a combined installed generating 

capacity of up to 125MW, underground cabling, grid connection hub, associated infrastructure, 
landscaping and environmental enhancements, for a temporary period of 40 years. 
 

Secondary Consent Application: 
• The secondary application was made under section 62F of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015).   
• The development proposed is the erection of battery container storage units (160 units) to 

support the solar energy hub. 

Summary of Recommendation: That planning permission be granted for both 
applications subject to conditions. 
 

Procedural Matters 

1. As a consequence of the potential impact on the National Sites Network this report 

includes a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) report. 

2. Within the meaning of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017, the proposed development is EIA 

development.  Accordingly, the application is accompanied by an Environmental 

Statement (ES).   

3. Following comments received in response to the application from consultees and 
others the applicant was requested to provide further information1.  The requested 

information included material to supplement the submitted ES and encompassed 

matters relating to archaeology, heritage assets, ecology and hydrology, and 

landscape.  The opportunity was also afforded to the applicant to provide more 
information in response to concerns raised by interested parties, including the local 

community councils.  The Council was requested to provide additional information in 

relation to its Local Impact Report (LIR). 

4. The application process was suspended on 14 September 2020 for 12 weeks to allow 

the submission of the requested information and to enable publicity and consultation 
on its content.  During that time the requested information was duly submitted2 and 

subjected to consultation and publicity.  The comments received3 in response to that 

exercise have been taken into account in this report, alongside those received in 
response to the initial publicity and consultations. 

 
1 Under Regulation 24 of the EIA Regulations and Regulation 15(2) of The Developments of National 

Significance (Wales) Regulations 2016 
2 Docs A2-A11 
3 Docs IP1-IP12 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    7 

5. The secondary consent is described as seeking permission only for the container units 

that would be available to house batteries.  The secondary consent is sought on the 

basis that the units would constitute a facility that generates electricity from stored 
energy for the purposes of the relevant regulations4.  It is confirmed5 that the main 

DNS proposal for the solar farm is not dependent upon the battery storage to make 

the scheme functional or viable. 

6. It was agreed at the hearing that the reference in the description of development to a 

‘combined installed generating capacity’ was a legacy of a previous iteration of the 
project, and that this description would be more accurate for the deletion of 

‘combined’.  That description would also be more accurate for the deletion of the 

reference to the battery storage units which is not part of the main application.  

7. The submitted scheme shows a single point of connection to the national grid via a 

132Kv electricity line that traverses the site.  The applicant has subsequently 
discovered that it is likely that 2 points of connection would be required.  This is 

because the Distribution Network Operator has stipulated that, given the scale of the 

scheme, its grid connection offer is based upon two separate tee-offs to the grid, 
requiring connection at two different electricity pylons.  A second connection would 

also increase the security of the supply from the development as it would allow for 

continued electricity export during periods of planned outage on either of the 

connected sections of power lines.  Accordingly, the applicant has requested that the 
option of a second grid connection be accommodated by means of a condition, 

necessary for the efficacy of the distribution of the energy produced.  The second 

connection has been shown on an alternative layout plan and the various potential 
impacts have been assessed using the same methodology as adopted in the ES6. 

8. The local community councils, other organisations and local residents have expressed 

concern over the extent of the local pre-application consultation and engagement 

undertaken by the applicant, particularly as it fell during a period of Covid-19 related 

restrictions on public gatherings.  Some 53 letters of objection to the scheme were 
submitted along with several other letters expressing concerns among 25 other 

representations.  One letter of support was received.  I am satisfied that the minimum 

requirements of the legislation were complied with, and that the second consultation 

and publicity provided a further opportunity to make comments and which resulted in 
an additional 11 representations. 

9. During hearing 1, I pointed out to the applicant that the Council in its Local Impact 

Report (LIR) had drawn attention to the fact that the Glint and Glare Study that 

formed part of the ES (Appendix 14.1) suggested that further consideration should be 

given to additional screening for nearby properties and to the use of hoods on light 
signals over the train line, and that the applicant had not provided additional 

information on either matter.  I request that the applicant addressed both matters as 

part of a points of clarification note that was to be submitted before the final hearing.   

10. Photographs were duly presented which confirmed that the signals had hoods 

installed7.  However, at the last hearing the applicant acknowledged that it had failed 

 
4 The Developments of National Significance (Specified Criteria and Prescribed Secondary Consents) 

(Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended) 
 
5 Doc A17 
6 Doc A2 
7 Doc A19 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    8 

to address the matter of the screening for neighbouring residents.  I agreed that an 

explanation be provided by the following day but, rather than explaining its position, 

the applicant submitted a revised Glint and Glare Study (dated January 2021)8.  It is 
evident that this version amends the previous assessment of the potential effect on 

neighbours as well as clarifying the position in relation to the railway signal lights.  

The revised study was made available to all who had participated at the hearing and I 
have taken into account the comments that were subsequently received. 

11. During the course of the application, including at the hearing sessions, further 

clarification and explanation was provided by the applicant.  Several objectors 

representing local residents and specialist interest groups have found the need for 

such information to be provided after submission of the application to be frustrating.  
Nonetheless, I am satisfied that such information does not materially alter the 

scheme and has not prejudiced interested parties’ ability to properly engage with the 

process. 

12. As agreed at the last hearing, I undertook an unaccompanied site visit in weather of 

sunshine and showers which meant that visibility varied accordingly.  The visit 
included extensive parts of the site and the immediate and wider surroundings, 

including public rights of way and several more distant vantage points.  I also visited 

a solar park under construction on the Caldicot Levels near to the former Llanwern 

steelworks site and the villages of Goldcliffe and Whitson, which I shall refer to as the 
‘Llanwern’ scheme9.   

13. After the hearings were closed Welsh Government published the first National 

Development Framework, ‘Future Wales: the national plan 2040’ (‘Future Wales’),and 

Edition 11 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW) and confirmed the revocation of Technical 

Advice Note (TAN) 8: Renewable Energy and the Wales Spatial Plan.  Whilst the 
publications and revocations were anticipated at the time of the hearings, some of the 

content of the new documents were not known.  Therefore, all participants were given 

the opportunity to comment on those changes and I have taken into account the 
representations10 that were subsequently received.  

Site and Surroundings 

14. The site extends to some 162ha11 of flat, low lying land a short distance to the south 

east of the village of Marshfield, and between the settlements of Peterstone 
Wentlooge and St Brides Wentlooge.  The site is broadly rectangular in shape, and for 

the most part is bounded on 3 sides by highways – to the north east lies Hawse Lane, 

the B4239 runs along the south eastern boundary with Broadway to the south west.  
The north western boundary is, for the most part, defined by the main South Wales 

railway line. 

15. The character and appearance of the site and most of its immediate surroundings is 

typical of the Wentlooge Levels, an area that lies between the conurbations of Cardiff 

and Newport and the M4 motorway and the Bristol channel. 

 
8 Doc A22 
9 DNS application ref: APP/G6935/A/16/3150137 (3213968)  
10 Docs A24, IP21-24 
11 In light of discrepancies in the applicant’s supporting documents, the site area dimensions of 

various components of the scheme has been confirmed by the applicant Doc A17  

Tudalen y pecyn 61



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    9 

16. In the immediate vicinity of the site there are several private properties, some 

commercial as well as residences which, along with agriculture is typical of the land 

use of the surrounding countryside.  There are 2 golf courses and a caravan site 
nearby. 

17. The site mostly comprises open fields bounded by hedges and drainage ditches and 

reens which form part of the distinctive drainage network of the Levels.  It is crossed 

by a 132KV electricity line supported by pylons whilst another similar line runs parallel 

to it, a short distance to the north of the site.     

18. There are several public rights of way within the surrounding area12, including the 

coastal path, but none traverse the site13.  A National Cycle Route follows Ty Mawr 
Lane a short distance to the north of the site. 

19. The site falls within the St Brides Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) designation. 

Immediately to the west lies the Rumney and Peterstone SSSI.  These nationally 

designated sites form part of a network of nature conservation designations that 

extend over the Gwent Levels and the Severn estuary.   

20. To the west of the site is an area that would serve as an ecological mitigation area.  It 
is variously referred to by the applicant; I shall refer to it as the Lapwing 

Compensation Land.   It lies within the Rumney and Peterstone SSSI. 

21. The site lies within 500m or so of the Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) 

and Ramsar site and some 2km from the Severn Estuary Special Area of Conservation 

(SAC) which form a European Marine Site (EMS).  In accordance with the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended14 the SAC and 

SPA form part of the National Sites Network. 

22. There are several locally designated Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 

(SINCs) within 3km of the site as well as the Peterstone Wentlooge Wildlife Reserve. 

23. The site and compensation land lie within the Gwent Levels Historic Landscape Area 

as designated under the Register of Landscapes, Parks and Gardens of Outstanding 

Historic Interest in Wales.   

24. Natural Resources Wales’ (NRW) Development Advice Maps identify the site and 

surroundings as falling within zone C1 as defined in Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15, 
Development and Flood Risk.  The land also lies within Flood Zone 3 on NRW’s Flood 

Maps.  

25. The application site, defined by a red line on the site location plan, includes an area 

containing several ponds referred to later in this report as Area C15 within which no 

development is proposed.  At the hearings the applicant explained16 that this land had 
been required in an earlier iteration of the scheme and that it had decided to keep the 

 
12 ES, Appendix 10.1 
13  A public right of way formerly crossed the site connecting Hawes Farm to Ty Mawr Lane.  Local 

residents at the hearing explained that this was formally stopped up when the train line was 
electrified. 

14 The ES and other documents refer to the 2017 Regulations (and in some places to the earlier 

2010 Regulations).  The 2017 Regulations were amended by The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 on the last day of 2020, after these 
documents were produced. 

15 As shown in Wentlooge Level Invertebrate Survey, 2019 – Appendix 11.7 of ES 
16 Doc A18 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    10 

land within the application site to avoid the ‘complication’ of amending the site 

boundary.  It confirmed that the Area C landowner has effectively withdrawn the land 

from the project.  The location plan also identifies the Lapwing Compensation Land as 
blue edged land which the applicant confirmed is within its control. 

Proposed Development 

26. The scheme comprises solar panels laid out in rows and mounted on a framework 
secured by poles driven into the ground together with supporting infrastructure 

comprising inverter cabins, transformers, grid connection apparatus, a 2m post and 

wire stockproof fence, CCTV, underground cabling, temporary vehicle tracks, access 

and landscaping.  

27. Approximately 250,000 solar panels are proposed over an area of some 129ha.  They 
would be framed by aluminium affixed to a galvanized steel framework that would be 

driven or screwed into the ground.  The sloping panels would be elevated some 1m 

above the ground at its low point and the highest point would be some 2.7m high. 

28. The scheme would have an installed generating capacity of 125MW.  The applicant 

has provided clarification on the electricity that it is anticipated would be generated by 
the scheme, factoring in a range of considerations that prevents the nameplate 

capacity from being realised in real world conditions.  On that basis the annual output 

is expected to be some 117,092,112kWh per year, which is equivalent to the average 

consumption of 32,525 households17.  

29. The scheme also includes up to 160 storage containers18 that are intended to house 
batteries that would store some of the electricity generated by the panels.  During the 

hearing it was clarified that the storage containers would be supported by a 

framework to elevate them above ground level by up to a metre or so in response to 

flood risk.  It was further confirmed that, while such storage containers are commonly 
3.5m high, in recognition of their elevated position it was proposed to utilise 2.4m 

high containers. 

30. The permission sought is time limited to 40 years after which the scheme would be 

de-commissioned with virtually all the structures and equipment removed and the 

land would revert to its present undeveloped condition or as may otherwise be agreed 
closer to the time.  It was explained that, since the cessation of public subsidy for 

such schemes, a 40-year lifetime is deemed the minimum necessary to ensure the 

financial viability of the project. 

31. On the western periphery of the site a 2.6ha wildflower meadow is proposed and 

further west, on the other side of Broadway, it is proposed to provide 22.1ha of 
Lapwing Compensation Land19. 

Planning Policy 

32. On its publication on 24 February 2021 Future Wales became part of the development 
plan.  The Plan acknowledges the impacts of a climate emergency and an ecological 

emergency and identifies key priorities, risks and opportunities to achieve the 

 
17 Doc A17 
18 Although the application also contains references to 200 units, at the hearings it was agreed that 

the number is that specified on the formal description ie 160, see Doc A17. 
19 The applicant has confirmed that this does not include an additional field of approx. 2.3ha which 

was shown on the dormouse strategy (Doc A13) which should be omitted from the plan. 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    11 

sustainable management of natural resources, including addressing the climate 

emergency and reversing biodiversity decline.  It identifies the Gwent Levels as one of 

9 National Nature Resources, which is important for its biodiversity, recreation, flood 
alleviation, carbon storage and food production.   

33. In relation to climate change Future Wales recognises that Wales’ potential for solar 

generation, the Government’s support for large scaled projects and a planning system 

that provides a strong lead for such development, provides support to the renewable 

sector to attract new investment and to reduce carbon emissions.  It also recognises 
that the need to reverse biodiversity decline and assist nature recovery is of 

imperative importance in its own right. Environmental pressures are causing global 

biodiversity decline at rates not previously encountered in human history and the rate 
of species extinction is accelerating. 

34. Policy 17, ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and Associated Infrastructure’, 

emphasises that Welsh Government strongly supports the principle of developing 

renewable and low carbon energy from all technologies and at all scales to meet our 

future energy needs and states that decision makers must give significant weight to 
the need to meet Wales’ international commitments and Government’s target to 

generate 70% of consumed electricity by renewable means by 2030 in order to 

combat the climate emergency. 

35. Policy 18 permits Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Developments of National 

Significance subject to satisfying 11 criteria and the requirements of policy 17.  The 
cumulative impacts of existing and consented renewable energy schemes should also 

be considered. 

36. The latest iteration of PPW, Edition 11, includes a factual update of Edition 10 and 

removes some content which is now contained in Future Wales.  It seeks to protect 

and enhance landscapes, habitats, biodiversity, geodiversity and the historic 
environment in their own right.  Among key issues it identifies is the long term and 

chronic decline of biodiversity and habitat loss.   

37. PPW describes the benefits of renewable and low carbon energy, as part of the overall 

commitment to tackle the climate emergency and increase energy security, as of 

paramount importance.  In this context it explains that the planning system should 

integrate development with the provision of additional electricity grid network 
infrastructure, optimise energy storage and maximise renewable and low carbon 

energy generation. PPW confirms that Future Wales sets out the Welsh Government’s 

policies for the determination of renewable energy schemes of 10MW and more under 
the Developments of National Significance procedure. 

38. PPW is supplemented by Technical Advice Notes (TANs) which provide additional 

detail on a variety of topics.  Of particular relevance to this case are: TAN 5, Nature 

Conservation and Planning; TAN 11, Noise; TAN 14, Coastal Planning; TAN 15, 

Development and Flood Risk; and, TAN 24, The Historic Environment. 

39. The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 includes a requirement on Welsh Ministers to 

reduce emissions in Wales by at least 80% by 2050.  The Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is concerned with improving the economic, social, 

environment and cultural well-being of Wales.    

Tudalen y pecyn 64



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    12 

40. Alongside Future Wales, the development plan comprises the Newport Local 

Development Plan 2011-2026 (LDP) which was adopted in 201520.  The site and 

surrounding land is subject to the following LDP designations: Green Wedge, Special 
Landscape Area, Coastal Zone, and Archaeological Sensitive Area.    

41. The most relevant policies are: SP1 – Sustainability; SP3 – Flood Risk; SP4 – Water 

Resources; SP5 – Countryside; SP7 – Green Wedges;  SP8 – Special Landscape 

Areas; SP9 – Conservation of the Natural, Historic and Built Environment; GP1 – 

Climate Change; GP2 – General Amenity; GP3 – Service Infrastructure; GP4 – 
Highways and Accessibility; GP5 – Natural Environment; GP6 – Quality of Design; GP7 

– Environmental Protection and Public Health; CE4 – Historic Landscapes, Parks, 

Gardens and Battlefields; CE6 – Archaeology; CE9 – Coastal Zone; CE10 – Renewable 
Energy; T2 - Heavy Commercial Vehicle Movements; T3 – Road Hierarchy; T4 – 

Parking; T7 – Public Rights of Way and New Development; and T8 – All Wales Coast 

Path. 

42. The development plan is supported by supplementary planning guidance (SPG) 

documents21 which have been adopted by the Council, of particular relevance are: 
Wildlife and Development SPG (Aug 2015); Archaeology and Archaeologically 

Sensitive Areas SPG (Aug 2015); Trees, Woodland, Hedgerows and Development 

Sites SPG (Jan 2017).  

The Case for the Applicant 

43. On submission the application was supported by an Environmental Statement (ES) 

with a Non-Technical Summary, and several other documents including a Planning, 

Design and Access Statement.  The ES describes the site and its designations, the 
proposal, the planning policy context, consultations and site selection and 

alternatives.  It includes chapters that assess the scheme’s effect on traffic and 

transport, heritage and archaeology, landscape and visual impact, ecology and nature 
conservation, ornithology, flood risk and drainage, glint and glare, noise, population 

and human health, and agricultural land quality and trees.  There is also a chapter on 

mitigation measures. 

44. ES chapter 9, on heritage and archaeology, has subsequently been revised and the ES 

is supplemented and supported by a bundle of additional information accompanied by 

a report dated October 202022.  In addition to the revised chapter 9 it comprises a 
desk-based heritage assessment (to replace ES Appendix 9.1), an ecological impact 

assessment of the Lapwing Compensation Land, a revised shadow Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (subsequently further revised twice), an outline Construction 
and Environmental Management Plan, a LVIA addendum statement, and a revised 

technical note addendum to the Flood Consequences Assessment.  A covering 

statement setting out the applicant’s response to my request for additional 
information summarises the position and addresses other concerns raised in the 

responses to the formal consultation.  It also recorded correspondence with a local 

community council relating to potential community benefit contributions. 

45. The October bundle also included additional information which addressed the effects 

of a second grid connection within the site, and included assessments of ecology, 
noise, glint and glare, and arboricultural effects.   

 
20 The LIR provides detail on the relevant policies and extracts are provided in Doc IP1 
21 Doc IP1 
22 Docs A2-A11 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    13 

46. Subsequent to the October bundle of additional information, more information has 

been received mostly during and after the hearings.  This information has clarified 

certain matters and informed the scope of planning conditions. 

47. The main points raised by the applicant in support of the application are set out 

below, and are based on the written evidence, as revised or supplemented by oral 
evidence presented at the hearing sessions.   

Site Selection and Alternatives 

48. For reasons detailed in the Site Selection Sequential Test document supporting the 

application there are no existing, available, suitable and viable alternatives within the 

search area which meet the criteria required for a successful solar photovoltaic 

scheme of this scale.  The site is low quality agricultural land and the scheme would 
allow farming to continue, at a low intensity, and to fully resume after 40 years.  Most 

parcels of previously developed land in reasonable proximity are too small and any 

potential sites command higher land values associated with alternative uses that 

would make the scheme unviable.  Securing a site of sufficient size with willing 
landowners and a grid connection in a location with relatively high solar irradiation are 

prerequisites for a viable scheme.  Site topography and orientation are further 

limitations on site suitability. 

Environmental Benefits 

49. The proposal has the capacity to generate 125 MW of electricity and is expected to 

deliver enough electricity to serve the total power needs of around 32,525 UK 
households per annum23.  Utilising the guidance outlined by the Solar Trade 

Association this would offset around 53,750 tonnes CO2 per annum, and 2,150,000 

tonnes over the life of the scheme. The CO2 savings represent a potential 0.12% 

reduction in Wales’ overall greenhouse gas emissions and 0.3% of the country’s 
energy supply.  Such a contribution is significant in the face of the commitment to 

meeting the internationally agreed targets of reducing CO2 emissions by 40% by 2020 

from 1990 levels, and the need for immediate action for decarbonisation of the 
country’s electricity supply24. 

50. The proposals include supporting infrastructure and an area to house battery storage 

devices. Energy storage is an important “missing piece of the jigsaw” that would help 

to optimise the energy production avoiding the otherwise intermittent supply of 

energy to the grid and would allow the solar farm to more closely align its output with 
the peak daily demand on the network.  This would provide grid and distribution 

network operators with a flexible tool to ensure electricity grids are fit for purpose as 

generation and supply continues to decarbonise. 

51. The Energy Generation in Wales 2018 report produced for the Welsh Government 

shows that in 2018 Wales derived 50% of its electricity consumption from renewable 
sources. This demonstrates strong progress towards the 2030 target of 70% and has 

been achieved through a combination of decreased electricity consumption and 

increased renewable energy capacity.  However, achieving the remaining 20% will be 

very challenging given that ‘quick wins’ on energy saving have already been achieved 
and that government subsidies are no longer available to support the deployment of 

renewables.  Although national planning policy does not require need to be 

 
23 Doc A17 
24 Para 3.3.2 of ES. 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    14 

established for renewable energy schemes, the scale of this project means that it has 

the potential to significantly contribute towards this target and to make a real 

difference in reducing CO2 emissions.  

52. The Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment25 identifies that for the LDP plan 

period (2026) the ‘Potential accessible resource’ from solar power is 17 GWh/yr, as 
part of 338 GWh/yr for all renewable technologies within Newport.  2018 figures show 

Newport to be one of the lowest generators of renewable energy in Wales. 

53. The environmental benefits of the scheme far outweigh the impacts resulting from the 

carbon footprint of the panels themselves, given that research has shown that it 

would take around 2.5 years to "pay back" the energy cost of the panel. 

Social Benefits 

54. There is potential for engagement with local schools, educational establishments, and 

community groups relating to both biodiversity enhancements and clean energy 
production and use. Research by the UK Government demonstrates that there is 

strong public support for renewable energy and that solar energy is the most strongly 

supported. 

55. The proposal would also help to reduce the UKs reliance on imported fossil fuels and 

help the UK gain more control over its energy provision and therefore more control 
over future energy prices and more energy security. Contributing towards the stable, 

cost efficient local energy production would reap benefits for all households in Wales 

in the short and longer term.     

56. There are also various local benefits to be accrued, most notably through the 

diversification of the land, which would support the ongoing viability of the 
landowners’ farming businesses for years to come. 

57. Whilst accepting that it is not a material consideration to this application, the 

applicant has followed the advice of Welsh Government on community benefit and to 

that end it has offered the Wentlooge Community Council a financial contribution to a 

community fund of £10,000 per annum for 20 years.  

Economic Benefits 

58. The economic benefits include: 25 direct construction jobs; 101 new jobs across 

Wales over a 14 month period; 4 operational jobs over 40 years; economic output of 

£2.2 million GVA over 14 months; £170,000 business rates generated per annum 
(£6.8m total) to Newport City Council; and significant spin-off benefits for the supply 

chain.  The developer would seek to use local contractors wherever possible in the 

scheme’s construction.  During the operational phase work would be created given 
the proposed ongoing land management and ecological enhancements.  

59. The scheme involves a group of local farmers and would enable them to reinvest in 

their farms and would result in increased spending in the local economy as well as the 

potential for longer term job creation resulting from more locally successful farming 

enterprises subsidised by the solar farm income.  This income would ensure that the 
farmers can secure their farms for future generations and guard against going out of 

business, at a time when the single farm payment is being reduced, farmers are 

 
25 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment, produced by Carbon Trust Wales on behalf of 

Torfaen and Newport Councils 

Tudalen y pecyn 67



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    15 

reliant on subsidy to keep otherwise marginal farming operations viable and in an 

area where climate change can pose a real threat, including in respect of flooding.  It 

would allow the grazing of the land thereby providing an additional agricultural 
income to landowners and help support the local economy. 

60. The project would be delivered without any government subsidy and would reduce the 

country’s reliance on fossil fuels and the economic exposure to international price 

fluctuations. 

Traffic and Transport 

61. At the hearing the applicant confirmed that, contrary to the indication in the 

supporting documents, there was no need to utilise the route via the village of 

Marshfield for construction traffic.  That route had initially been identified as required 
for abnormal loads but it has subsequently been confirmed that no such loads are 

anticipated to be attracted to the site.  Thus, all HGV traffic would use the route via 

Lamby Way, approaching the site from the west on the B4239. 

62. Any potential impact on the highway network during the work would be mitigated to 

an acceptable level by the proposed Traffic Management Plan (TMP).  The submitted 
draft version26 would be revised and agreed with the Council as required by a 

suggested condition.  The only point of vehicular access during construction would be 

on to Broadway utilising an access which would provide the appropriate visibility 

splays.  Thereafter there would be minimal traffic attracted to the site during its 
operation phase.  During that phase other existing field gate accesses may be utilised 

for future maintenance. 

Cultural Heritage 

63. One of the potential direct effects of the scheme is on archaeology given that the 

Levels are known to contain palaeo-environmental remains that date from the 

prehistoric period onwards.  Such remains are likely to provide archaeologically 
important information.  There is the potential for archaeological artefacts and 

structures dating to the Bronze Age associated with human effort to drain and protect 

the saltmarshes. 

64. The professional judgement of the applicant’s Heritage Consultant based on the 

archaeological assessment undertaken, including consideration of investigations 

previously undertaken in the vicinity, demonstrates that the impacts of the scheme 
can be suitably mitigated through adherence to a robust Written Scheme of 

Investigation (WSI), palaeo-environmental sampling and assessment strategy, and 

targeted watching briefs (as has been agreed on the Llanwern solar farm).  The 
impact on the site is temporary and reversible and the monitoring may give rise to 

valuable new information regarding the archaeology of the Gwent Levels. 

65. Another direct impact of the scheme is on the Maerdy and Western St Brides Historic 

Landscape Character Areas (HLCAs) which form part of the Gwent Levels Landscape 

of Outstanding Historic Interest (LOHI).  These have been assessed within the 
Assessment of the Significance of Impact of Development on the Historic Landscape 

of Historic Interest in Wales (ASIDOHL2)27.  Taking into account the impact on all 

 
26 ES Appendix 8.1 
27 ES, Appendix 9.2 

Tudalen y pecyn 68



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    16 

affected HLCAs a combined impact of moderate magnitude is recorded.  There would 

be a considerable direct effect and a severe indirect effect on Maerdy HLCA. 

66. The scheme’s potential effect on all listed buildings, scheduled ancient monuments 

(SAMs), conservation areas and a registered park and garden, have been assessed 

within the 4km study area in a Desk-Based Assessment, which has also been 
informed by visits to the site and surroundings.   The Assessment finds that there 

would be no direct or indirect effect on any such assets with one exception, the Pen-

y-Lan Camp SAM.  However, at the hearing it was clarified that, whilst there would be 
a degree of visibility of the development from this asset, given the 2.9km separation 

distance and the fact that from the Camp the scheme would be seen in a very wide 

vista containing many other more prominent man-made features, the slight effect of 
the proposal on its setting would not affect the significance of this asset.  The only 

other asset susceptible to some impact is the Grade II Gelli-ber Farmhouse, but as its 

significance is focussed on its evidential and historic importance, any effect on its 

setting would not be harmful.  

Landscape and Visual Effects 

67. The topography of the site and the surrounding area means that the visual impact of 

the proposed development is very limited. Furthermore, the existing trees, hedge 
lines and vegetation would provide a significant degree of screening to the installed 

panels and associated infrastructure.  Although the initial assessment makes 

reference to the potential for additional landscaping to screen the development, it has 
subsequently been acknowledged that the scope to do this is very localised eg infilling 

gaps in existing hedgerows, given that introducing significant tall screening would be 

alien to the historic landscape character of the area.   

68. The ES describes the LANDMAP evaluation of the landscape quality of the site and 

wider area under the 5 aspect layers of landscape habitats, visual and sensory, and 
the geological, historical and cultural landscape.  For the site and the surrounding 

area, all the layers are evaluated as high or outstanding. 

69. As defined in the Gwent Levels Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) the site 

straddles the Western St Brides and Maerdy LCAs.  The former is described as “a 

simpler landscape, laid out within a framework of elements” and includes long narrow 

fields.  The description goes on to state that the “western half of this area has been 
affected by agricultural improvement and the construction of a golf course… Though 

not visually intrusive, they have destroyed the historic fabric of the landscape by 

removing many reens and grips”.  The latter is described as a “regular landscape” 
with “long narrow fields are characteristic of the Wentlooge Level.” It goes on to state 

that “this is a very open landscape, and the reed filled ditches give a strong wetland 

feel, typical of the lower-lying back-fen areas.”  

70. The proposed solar arrays and associated apparatus, including the grid connection 

and battery storage facilities, would retain the field boundaries and reens which form 
the main landscape characteristics of the area.  The photovoltaic panels are to be 

aligned within existing field boundaries.  The removal of certain sections of hedgerows 

is proposed for ecological reasons but would result in only the loss of one side of 
double lines of hedgerows and would not impact on the presence of boundary 

hedgerows and field patterns. 

71. The visual impact of the scheme has been informed by mapping the Zones of 

Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) of the scheme in isolation and in combination with solar 

farms and other developments in the pipeline.  In practice the visibility would be more 

Tudalen y pecyn 69



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    17 

limited because of the screening effects of landscape features, particularly vegetation.  

The topography of the flood plain means that outside the immediate vicinity of the 

site the main areas of theoretical visibility are from the higher ground which lies on 
the other side of the M4 motorway.  The 11 viewpoints chosen for the photomontages 

provide a visual representation of the scheme from a variety of vantage points.   

72. The choice of viewpoints was informed by several considerations, including the 

presence of vegetation, buildings and localised topographic variation, and presence of 

receptors.  The effect from each of the viewpoints has been assessed.  From 
viewpoint 1, a close-up and elevated position on the railway bridge on Hawse Lane, 

the effect is assessed as moderate adverse.  Of the remaining viewpoints only 3 

would be materially affected, and these are assessed as a minor adverse effect. 

73. The proposed development has been set back from the highway network and as the 

site is flat and well screened there would be limited visual impacts.  However, at  
hearing 1 the applicant’s landscape specialist acknowledged that in the eastern 

portion of the site panels were proposed within the fields adjacent to Hawse Lane, 

including the fields closest to the railway bridge which offered elevated views over the 
site. 

74. There would be no significant impacts on users of any public right of way, including 

the Coastal Path.  The scheme has been amended to avoid impact on the nearby 

caravan park.   

75. The assessment of landscape and visual effects has taken into account the 3 phases 

of the development, the potential cumulative effects associated with other solar farms 

and other types of development that are in the planning pipeline in the area, and the 
scope to mitigate effects through measures that could be secured by conditions.  

76. The overall finding of the LVIA is that the solar arrays and battery storage 

development would have a moderate adverse impact on the immediate rural 

character within 1km of the site.  Between 1km and 5km from the site the effect of 

the solar arrays and battery storage development would reduce to minor adverse.  
From between approximately 5km and 10km the proposed solar arrays would have a 

negligible effect on landscape character as it becomes integrated into the landscape.  

77. These impacts must be viewed against the benefits of the scheme which would be 

considerable with the scheme generating clean, renewable power. It follows that the 

proposals satisfy the requirements of LDP policy CE10 and are acceptable in planning 
terms. 

Ecology and Nature Conservation 

78. The mitigation strategy in relation to SSSIs set out in Welsh planning policy is avoid-

mitigate-compensate.  The delivery of a scheme of this scale with available grid 
connection and willing landowners can only be achieved within a SSSI. 

79. A full suite of ecology surveys has been completed over the period 2017-2018 as 

detailed within the ES and appendices. This has assessed the impact of the proposed 

development on the range of habitats and species identified within the area, noting 

those habitats and species identified in the Newport Local Biodiversity Action Plan 
(LBAP). Avoidance and mitigation measures are identified to not only qualifying 

features of the SSSI but to all other protected species and habitats of relevance.   

80. In accordance with pre-application guidance received from Natural Resources Wales 

(NRW) the scheme proposes buffer zones.  A stock proof fence, with a gap at ground 

Tudalen y pecyn 70



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    18 

level for small animals, would be installed at the edge of these buffer zones and there 

would be unhindered access for routine reen and ditch management.  These zones 

would provide a high level of connectivity of foraging and nesting habitat across the 
site.  Research evidence into similar provision on established solar farms points to the 

biodiversity gains that arise in such circumstances.  

81. Within the site the historic grips and reens that form a distinctive element of the 

Levels provide a valuable ecological as well as drainage function.  Technical evidence 

demonstrates how these would be protected and would be likely to be less at risk 
than from normal farming activities.  Measures would be secured to ensure that ditch 

management would provide diverse habitats suited to the different requirements of 

the important species that rely on the aquatic environment.  It has also been 
demonstrated that it is highly unlikely that the type of aquatic invertebrates present 

on the site would lay their eggs on the panels, mistaking them for water. 

82. Where reens or ditches have hedgerows on both banks one side would be removed to 

enable reen and ditch management to take place; the aim being to improve the SSSI 

features. Additional hedge planting would take place to infill gaps in the hedgerows 
and improve habitat connectivity. All mitigation proposed is detailed in the draft 

Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) which would be refined prior to 

development. 

83. Mitigation measures to be secured by planning condition would ensure that there 

would be no effect on the favourable conservation status of dormice or water voles, 
and it is acknowledged that the requirement for a European Protected Species (EPS) 

licence in the case of any direct effects provides additional protection. 

84. During the construction phase, a strategy for the installation of the panels and 

associated infrastructure would ensure minimal disruption to ecology which would be 

set out in a Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). 

85. In response to NRW’s concern over the fact that Area C cannot be utilised for shrill 

carder bee habitat enhancement, the applicant considers that there are other areas 
within the applicant’s control that would provide greater benefits than the already 

good habitat in Area C.  Through further discussion28 the applicant has demonstrated 

to the satisfaction of NRW specialists that parts of the site can be managed such that 

it would provide improved habitat and connectivity through the seeding and 
management of buffer strips.  This would result in an enhanced environment for the 

shrill carder bee, particularly given the poor habitat that much of the site’s improved 

and semi-improved grassland provides as a consequence of the current farming 
practices, particularly heavy grazing by horses. 

86. The land used for the solar farm would create a place for nature and wildlife to thrive, 

protected from human contact. The land around the panels would be grassland with 

hedging retained, enhanced and managed and newly planted around the fence. These 

environments provide better habitats than intensively farmed land and are akin to a 
nature reserve.   

87. Resting the land from intensive grazing use for a period of 40 years would have 

significant benefits in terms of allowing native grassland species to re-establish and 

for the land to restore fertility for future farming use after the solar farm has been 

removed. The development would also mean the land is no longer subjected to 

 
28 Doc A21 

Tudalen y pecyn 71



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    19 

intensive use of pesticide or fertilizer, to the benefit of local soil and fluvial 

environments.   

88. Intensive grazing by cattle and intensive arable use tends to result in compacted soil 

and more incidents of bare soil which accelerates run off to watercourses. The solar 

farm would allow a rich mix of plant and grassland species to become established 
which would help retain water and slow run off rates, reducing local flood risk. The 

proposal would also provide new biodiverse areas around the edges of the reens and 

ditches, which would encourage local biodiversity to thrive.   

89. The panels would be some 1m above ground level rising to some 2.7m.  This would 

not only provide solar gain to the underside of the panels but would also ensure that 
grassland could flourish and sheep could graze in these areas. 

90. The ES has concluded that ‘the low ecological value of the affected area in 

combination with the proposed ecological enhancements, such as the creation of 

planted biodiversity areas and species rich grassland areas, means that the scheme 

has potential to have a net benefit to biodiversity during the operational phase’.  It 
also demonstrates that the special qualities of the St Brides SSSI would be preserved 

and where possible enhanced through the implementation of the scheme.   

91. A standalone Ecological Impact Assessment has been completed of the Lapwing 

Compensation Land. This concludes that the land would experience only positive or 

neutral residual effects as a result of the proposed development. 

92. The proposals would be fully reversible and temporary for a period of 40 years. The 
land could be quickly restored to its former use. There would therefore be no long-

term harmful impacts from the development.  

93. If consented this development would bring much needed financial resource and 

management to the reens that are hugely neglected in this area. This direct 

intervention would not only prevent damage to the SSSI and its qualifying features 
but would deliver on-going benefits of a scale that would be completely undeliverable 

should the scheme not move ahead. 

Ornithology 

94. Two years of robust bird surveys have been undertaken in accordance with recognised 

methodologies, covering wintering and breeding seasons. The associated reports have 

assessed the impact of the proposed development upon the range of bird species 

identified within the area, and additional survey work has been undertaken since the 
application was submitted. Because of the close proximity of the Severn Estuary SPA 

and Ramsar Site, specific attention has been paid to the species associated with these 

sites. These are mainly wintering populations of wading birds and waterfowl, which 

could potentially use the application area for roosting or foraging at high tide. 
Lapwing are of particular importance due to their current low breeding status in Wales 

and decline across the UK generally.  

95. SPA and Ramsar qualifying species were not found to be using the site at high tide 

during the winter months in any significant numbers. During the breeding season 

most species were confined to hedgerows and reens. Lapwing was found to be 
breeding in certain fields within the application site and surrounding area. 

96. A number of land management measures are proposed which would benefit birds, 

including 22.1 hectares of nearby land which would be managed for breeding lapwing. 

During the construction phase, timing of works would be targeted to avoid the core 

Tudalen y pecyn 72



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    20 

breeding bird season including sensitive times in the crane breeding period. Grassland 

habitats would be protected from vehicle damage by avoidance and through the 

targeted use of trackways. A programme of post-construction bird monitoring would 
also be introduced. Mitigation measures are detailed in the LEMP.  

97. The applicant agrees with the RSPB that the compensation/enhancement land is 

functional before construction begins and this can be secured by planning condition. 

98. Overall, the impacts of the solar farm on birds are predicted to be minimal and 

habitat would be enhanced for species associated with reens and ditches and field 

margins. The loss of some fields used by lapwing would be compensated for by a 

provision specifically managed for this species. 

Habitats Regulations 

99. A shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment (sHRA) has been undertaken, and 

subsequently refined in the light of advice from NRW.  It has adopted a precautionary 
approach and has found that the potential for likely significant effects on the SAC and 

SPA cannot be ruled out without mitigation measures being undertaken.  However, 

once such measures, which would be secured through the suite of suggested 
conditions, are taken into account the scheme would not, either alone or in 

combination with other projects, have an adverse effect on the integrity of the  

National Sites Network.   

Flood Risk and Water Resources 

100. The site is located within Flood Zone C1 which means that it sits within an area of the 

floodplain which is developed and served by significant infrastructure, including flood 

defences. This designation is used to indicate that development can take place subject 
to it passing the justification test, including acceptability of consequences. 

101. To this end a Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) and an addendum29 have been 

prepared which considers the impact of the proposed development on hydrology in 

the area. The document also details the specific mitigation measures which would be 

incorporated in association with the built infrastructure including solar panels, battery 
storage units and ancillary equipment. 

102. At the hearing the applicant confirmed an intention to raise battery storage containers 

and other apparatus above the worst-case flood level prediction in the event of the 

sea wall defence being breached.  Localised surface water flooding which affects the 

site and surroundings, including roads, would not reach similar levels. 

103. With regards to the installation of the solar panels (which make up the bulk of the 

proposed development), these would be individually spaced to allow thermal 
expansion which would provide gaps that would facilitate the dispersal of rainwater.  

Battery containers and other apparatus would lie on permeable surfaces to avoid 

accelerating surface water run-off. 

104. The proposal would bring to an end for its lifetime any arable farming, intense grazing 

and soil compaction by animals and machinery thus improving surface water 
drainage. In turn, grassland would flourish, resulting in improved water quality due to 

the reduction in silt run-off and the elimination of fertilizers and pesticides. 

 
29 Doc A8 

Tudalen y pecyn 73



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    21 

Glint and Glare 

105. An assessment of glint and glare has been carried out along sections of nearby roads 

and rail and from residential properties which has informed chapter 14 of the ES.  The 

study30 explains that the intensity of reflected light from solar panels is similar to that 

of still water at approximately 5% of light reflected and is considerably less intense 
than reflected from snow or steel.   

106. The presence of hoods on the railway light signals would avoid the potential for 

reflected light to impact on their efficacy.  Whilst at some points there would be a 

moderate impact on train drivers travelling towards Newport this would be 

experienced concurrently with direct views of the sun.  It would be experienced on a 
length of track where drivers’ workload would not be particularly high given the 

distance from interchanges or stations.  Current examples where the potential effect 

would be greater are operating without any problems. 

107. In its original iteration the effect on 5 of the nearest dwellings was described in the 

study as of moderate31 significance and is based on a ‘conservative assessment of 
visibility’ and suggests that the ‘provision of further screening should be considered’.  

For reasons already provided it is accepted that screening is not an acceptable 

measure.  The revised Study takes into account the extent of existing screening and 
describes the effect as ‘low’ for which no mitigation is required.  Local residents would 

only be affected when weather conditions permit and only at a particular time of day.  

The viewer would see this reflected light, which would only arise from part of the 
development, in the same field of vision as the much brighter sun.   

108. For motorists the intensity of any reflected light would be significantly less bright than 

direct sunshine, against which it would generally be seen.  For the most part the 

effect would occur outside the driver’s primary field of vision.  Even from the elevated 

sections of highways crossing the railway line where drivers may see the reflected 
light they would not be directly facing that light.  The reflective surface area would 

also be relatively small.  There would be no significant effects on aviation. 

Noise 

109. An assessment of noise has demonstrated that there would be no significant impact 

on noise-sensitive receptors.  The assessment advises that noise generating plant is 

to be located away from site boundaries that are close to such receptors.  As there 

are no immediate noise sensitive receptors to the proposed plant a specific noise 
condition is not necessary.  Measures would be incorporated to minimise noise during 

the construction phase which would be secured via the CEMP. 

Agricultural Land Quality and Tree Survey 

110. Through engagement with the Soil Research Department in Welsh Government, it is 

considered that the land is classified as grade 4 on the Predictive Agricultural Land 

Classification Map for Wales, and as such is not within the category of ‘best and most 

versatile’ agricultural land32. 

 
30 ES, Appendix 14.1 and Doc A22 
31 The Study defines a ‘moderate’ impact significance as one where solar reflection is geometrically 

possible and visible but in conditions that are not ‘worst-case’.  It indicates that further 
consultation and/or analysis be undertaken to determine the requirement for mitigation. 

32 ES, Appendix 16.1 

Tudalen y pecyn 74



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    22 

111. All trees recommended for protection in the Tree Survey would be protected in 

accordance with best practice to be secured by the LEMP. 

Population and Human Health 

112. The battery storage containers would be above the relevant modelled flood risk level 

and would be provided in accordance with recognised industry standard and located 

away from combustible materials.  A robust risk assessment would be undertaken as 
would be required by the terms of insurance policy cover.  The means of energy 

storage has yet to be finalised.  There are rapid technological advances which suggest 

that there may be a preferred alternative to lead-acid batteries that have traditionally 

been used in such circumstances. 

113. A decommissioning plan would ensure that the solar panels are removed from the site 
responsibly.  During the operational phase the panels would be subject to regular 

maintenance.  The panels’ composition is such that they would not pose a risk of 

ground or water pollution. 

Green Wedge 

114. The site falls within a green wedge, but not within a Green Belt.  Renewable energy 

and in particular solar farms are subject to different planning policies so would not set 

a precedent for other developments that may be damaging to such designations.  
PPW confirms that renewable energy generation developments may be appropriate 

within the green wedge provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with 

the purposes of including land within it.  The supporting text to LDP policy SP7 
explains that the primary purpose of green wedges is to prevent coalescence between 

urban areas and that the designation is not necessarily based on the physical quality 

of the landscape but on their openness and their role in maintaining the distinct 

identity of separate communities. 

115. In addition to the above ES topics the applicant has presented information on other 
matters, the main ones are covered below.  

Planning Policy 

116. For reasons detailed in section 5 of the Planning, Design and Access Statement the 

scheme performs well against the objectives and policies of the LDP and the SPG 
documents.  Future Wales and the latest iteration of PPW makes clear the support for 

the large-scale renewable projects33. 

Sustainability and Well-being 

117. The scheme performs well against the placemaking aims of PPW and the goals of the 

Well-being and Future Generations Act34. 

Additional Grid Yard 

118. As explained in the October bundle of additional information a second grid yard to 

provide another point of connection to the 132 kv overhead line may be necessary, 

depending upon specific technical and commercial considerations which have not yet 

been resolved35.  The potential impacts of an additional grid yard have been assessed 

 
33 A24 
34 A15 
35 A17 

Tudalen y pecyn 75



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    23 

in the same way as the scheme has been assessed.  Whilst the additional vertical 

elements associated with a second grid connection would be visible from several 

vantage points the magnitude of change would not increase to an extent that would 
change the significance of the visual effect experienced by receptors.  No other 

significant impacts have been identified in relation to the other matters assessed and 

thus the findings of the ES are not be altered by the inclusion of a second grid yard. 

Community benefit 

119. The applicant has sought to engage with the local community councils despite the 

restrictions imposed by Covid-19 legislation which included a full public consultation.  

Subsequent engagement with Wentlooge Community Council resulted in the applicant 
offering it a community benefit package which would be secured via a legal 

agreement outside the planning process. 

Lifetime of Project 

120. It is recognised that some other solar farms, including Llanwern are subject to a 30-

year lifetime, but in the current economic climate, including the withdrawal of public 

subsidies, a 40-year period is required to ensure the scheme’s financial viability. 

121. The applicant is confident that modern solar panels have the longevity to operate for 

this period.  However, it was accepted that given the number of panels that would be 
required it was likely that some would fail and that a condition should be imposed to 

safeguard against the uncontrolled mass scale replacement of panels during the 

operational phase of the project.  

Conditions 

122. The applicant has confirmed general agreement with the suite of conditions suggested 

by the Council in its LIR.  These have subsequently been refined and a revised list36 

has been agreed with the Council, NRW and GGAT following discussion at the hearing.     

123. The conditions identify a range of matters that would require the Council’s agreement 
before development can commence.  Responsibility for the submission of such details 

would fall on the developer, who has yet to be identified for the project.  Compliance 

with such conditions, including those that would restrict the timing of certain works, 

would require careful timetabling of the project, influencing when the scheme might 
become operational. 

Conclusions 

124. The scheme would be delivered without any government subsidy and would reduce 
the country’s reliance on fossil fuels and the economic exposure to international price 

fluctuations.  It is compatible with the objectives of the Living Levels Landscape 

Partnership. 

125.  The proposed development is sustainable in terms of the environmental, economic 

and social strands of sustainability set out in PPW.  The numerous gains that would 
arise in this respect can be secured without giving rise to any unacceptable harm. 

126. The solar farm permitted at Llanwern shares many of the site’s characteristics and 

planning designations including SSSI, historic landscape area, flood zone C1, Special 

Landscape Area and proximity to the SAC, SPA and Ramsar site. 

 
36 A23 

Tudalen y pecyn 76



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    24 

Local Impact Report 

127. The LIR is based on the information available within the submitted documents and 

prior knowledge of the site.  Limited internal consultation has been undertaken within 

the Council, with no external consultation.  It is presented as a factual document that 

identifies anticipated impacts as positive, negative or neutral without attributing 
weight to any impact.  It has considered the solar hub and battery storage as a single 

development. 

128. Relevant local planning policies and supplementary planning guidance are identified 

and the location of development is described by reference to relevant designations 

and classifications.  The assessment of the likely impact of the proposal is 
summarised below. 

Landscape & Visual Impact (character & appearance) 

129. The LVIA follows the industry standard but does not take into account elements other 

than the solar arrays and does not acknowledge the proposed hedgerow removal 

within the site or the proposed removal of vegetation to create a more open habitat 

within the compensatory land.  The potential to soften existing views through 
additional planting has not been assessed.   

130. With reference to specific examples, in particular viewpoint 1, it is suggested that the 

landscape character and visual amenity impacts set out in the LVIA are generally 

underplayed for the site and immediate setting.  Whilst the LVIA recognises that to 

meet local authority policies enhancement measures are required, none have been 
proposed.  The submitted LEMP contains inadequate detail of landscape mitigation 

measures. 

131. The Council considers that the landscape and visual impact of the proposal would be 

negative. The Council also considers the impact on the Wentlooge Levels Special 

Landscape Area to be negative. 

Ecology 

132. Insufficient information has been provided for the Welsh Government to consider the  

‘Three Tests’ under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and  

appropriately fulfil the wider duties under that same legislation and the Wildlife and  
Countryside Act 1981 and Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

133. The surveys of the proposed development site have been comprehensive and followed 

the requirements detailed in the NRW scoping opinion.  However there have been no 

surveys undertaken of the off-site lapwing mitigation area which would be enhanced 

and managed for wintering lapwing to compensate for on-site loss of habitat.  The 
associated removal of vegetation is likely to result in the loss of priority habitat, 

potentially including habitat supporting European protected species (dormice and 

bats). The assessment can therefore not fulfil the “three tests” requirements, under 
Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

134. In the absence of sufficient information, it would result in a negative impact on the 

local overwintering lapwing population which is an interest feature of the SAC and 

Ramsar site.  Further information is necessary to enable the Competent Authority to 

undertake an Assessment under the Habitats Regulations. 

135. As would be expected of a SSSI designated site the surveys have confirmed that the 

development site is of national importance for wildlife, including nationally notable 

Tudalen y pecyn 77



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    25 

species such as the shrill carder-bee and brown-banded carder-bee.  In addition to 

this, surveys have confirmed the presence of other protected and priority species such 

as dormouse and grass snake, as well as breeding and overwintering birds and 300+ 
lapwing.  The ES would benefit from more information on the positive and negative 

effects on the reens and ditches.   

136. The submitted information, including the LEMP, does not provide sufficient certainty 

that suitable management can be enforced to guarantee that the development does 

not result in a loss for biodiversity.  Opportunities to create new habitats to achieve 
an overall enhancement should be considered. 

Historic Landscape 

137. Based on the ASIDOHL2 report the impact on the Historic Landscape would be 
negative. 

Archaeology 

138. The site lies within an Archaeological Sensitive Area.  Impacts on the archaeological 

resource could be permanent and irreversible depending on the extent of ground 
intrusion.  Without securing mitigation measures agreed with GGAT the impact would 

be negative.   

Flooding 

139. The scheme does not satisfy the justification tests set out in TAN15 for development 

within the floodplain (in this case zone C1) and as such the impact would be negative.  

If the scheme can be justified and the Flood Consequences Assessment found to be 
acceptable consideration should be given to the impact of power loss from the grid.  

In any event the impact is likely to be negative as the scheme would lead to the 

replacement of a less vulnerable use with a more vulnerable use. 37 

Coastal Zone 

140. The site is located within the undeveloped coastal zone and is subject to an LDP 

designation that provides that only development which is required to be on the coast 

to meet an exceptional need which cannot be met elsewhere is permitted.  If the site 
is in a flood risk area, this must not exacerbate erosion, land instability or flood risk.  

An exceptional need should be demonstrated to satisfy LDP policy CE9 (Coastal 

Zone).   The Welsh National Marine Plan would need to be satisfied. It is noted that 

this plan is not mentioned in the planning statement. It is considered that it should be 
considered if only to screen it out. 

Access and Highways  

141. The impacts are considered to be negative without mitigation, which should include 

controlling HGV peak traffic flows, carrying out a road condition survey, the possible 

need to improve the highway around the proposed main access, the provision of 

sufficient on-site parking and adequate visibility splays for the access.  Minor 
anomalies in the Transport Assessment should be addressed.  

 

 
37 During hearing 3 the Council confirmed that it wished to retract its negative stance in relation to 

this point in light of the Minister’s decision on the Llanwern solar scheme  

Tudalen y pecyn 78



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    26 

Rural Character / Mitigation 

142. Consideration should be given to detailed aspects of the scheme to minimise the 

impact on the rural character.  Such mitigation secured under condition is likely to 

reduce adverse impacts but there would be a significant and prolonged change in the 

character of the area should the proposal go ahead. This would be negative in 
landscape and visual terms. However large solar facilities are not atypical in rural 

areas and there is no presumption against them. 

Noise 

143. Details, including of layout, type and quantities of plant and tonal character of any 

noise, are not known. Obtaining information on these details could vastly change the 

outcome of the assessment as no correction factors have been applied. The impact on 
residential properties could be negative without mitigation, which should be controlled 

by condition.   

Glint and Glare 

144. The technical assessment of glint and glare concludes that potentially glint and glare 

could occur at 5 dwellings. However, through the subsequent detailed assessment it 

was determined that the nature of these effects would be reduced due to a range of 

mitigating factors. Consequently, it was considered that only a low significance of 
effect would occur in respect of all identified receptors. The impact of glint and glare 

is considered to be neutral. 

Power Generation 

145. The contribution to electricity generation and consequent reduction in CO2 emissions 

is positive. 

Publicity 

146. The Council’s publicity in relation to the application is set out in an Appendix to the 

LIR. 

Post-LIR representations 

147. Subsequent to preparing the LIR, and the production of the October further 

information bundle by the applicant, the Council has refined its position as set out in 

hearing statements, on ecology, landscape and visual impact and an updated list of 

suggested conditions.  Its position on conditions was subsequently refined in light of 

discussions at the hearing and it agreed an amended list of conditions with the 
applicant as detailed in the ‘Conditions’ section of this report 

148. On ecology the production of the outline CEMP is noted but it is not sufficient to be 

reasonably certain that ecological features would be protected during construction.  

The Ecological Impact Assessment Report for the off-site lapwing mitigation area does 

not satisfy the Council that the focus on creating habitat suitable for lapwing would 
not lead to the loss of priority habitat and loss of habitat diversity, unknown impacts 

on European Protected Species, and the loss of breeding bird habitat, including 

Schedule 1 species.   

149. The field hedgerows, which include 15 mature trees, are recognised as priority 

habitats and as such there is a duty under s6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 on 
public authorities to “seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity”.  The primary 

position to meet this duty should be to avoid and mitigate for loss where possible, but 

Tudalen y pecyn 79



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    27 

if it cannot be avoided the loss should be compensated for with replacement planting.  

The Council’s Wildlife and Development SPG seeks a compensation replacement ratio 

for hedgerows at 1:1.5 or 50% above the area lost.  The Trees, Woodland, 
Hedgerows and Development Sites SPG follows the three design principles which are: 

retention, mitigation and compensation.  Where tree loss can’t be avoided, 

replacement planting is required. 

150. As the presence of dormice in the, albeit suboptimal, hedgerows to be removed 

cannot be ruled out, in line with TAN5 their presence should be established prior to 
permission being granted. 

151. Whilst the proposed management would result in improved habitat for some of these 

species, for most it would result in loss or degradation of habitat, for which no 

compensation has been provided. 

152. No loss/gain analysis has been provided to show how much benefit to biodiversity  the 

proposed management would provide (e.g. increased carrying capacity for lapwing)  

and how this compares to the biodiversity loss that would occur as a result (e.g. loss 
of  nesting habitat for birds, loss of dormouse habitat, etc.).  The proposed 

management may result in the improvement of habitat for one species at the expense 

of loss or degradation of habitat for a number of species. 

153. As the shortcomings of the LEMP have not been addressed by the applicant, a 

condition requiring its approval as a pre-commencement condition is vital. 

154. In relation to the landscape and visual impact, concerns remain that elements of the 
scheme other than the solar arrays have not been included in the LVIA, most notably 

the battery containers.  The intention to use livestock fencing and to retain hedgerows 

along the north side of ditches are noted but this does not alter the findings of the LIR 

that the landscape and visual impact, including on the SLA, would be negative. 

Consultation Replies 

Most of the representations summarised below were submitted prior to the presentation of 

additional information by the applicant and the publication of the latest national policy 
documents. 

Cadw  

155. It agrees with the results of the applicant’s ASIDOHL2.  The impact of proposed 

development on the registered Gwent Levels Landscape of Outstanding Historic 
Interest would be significant.  

156. Cadw concurs with the applicant’s Heritage Assessment38 that the effect on the 

settings of other designated historic assets has been appropriately assessed and 

agrees with its findings that any impact would not be significant.  It confirms that the 

applicant’s archaeological assessment is appropriate and defers to GGAT. 

Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust  

157. The impact of ground screws or piles, that would secure the panels, on the reclaimed 

alluvial deposits and buried landscapes would not be reversible and would create a pin 
cushion effect that extends beyond the screws.  Such effects have the potential to not 

only directly impact archaeological features but also to have an indirect effect through 

 
38 Doc A3 

Tudalen y pecyn 80



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    28 

introducing oxygen into the anaerobic conditions that are currently preserving the 

organic material, potentially leading to significant long-term damage.   

158. Responding to the additional information provided by the applicant after submission of 

the application, GGAT is satisfied that the archaeological assessment is adequate.  It 

does not take issue with its findings that any effect on the site’s archaeological value 
could be acceptably mitigated, which should include a programme of palaeo- 

environmental sampling and analysis, and the undertaking of an archaeological 

watching brief.  It also recommends that a topographical survey of the drainage 
system is undertaken, partly to inform reinstatement works during the de-

commissioning phase. 

Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales 

159. In line with some other organisations that presented evidence in objection to the 

application CPRW emphasised its general support for renewable energy production.  

The project conflicts with policy 18 of Future Wales in that: it fails to minimise visual 

impact on nearby communities or ensure acceptable cumulative impact; would give 
rise to adverse impacts on designated nature conservation sites; and fails to ensure a 

net benefit for biodiversity.  The scheme is also in conflict with the LDP, including 

green wedge designation, and is not consistent with the Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy Assessment.  The physical works could result in harm to important 

archaeological features.  The application has failed to properly consider alternative 

sites and would give rise to a harmful cumulative impact on the landscape. 

160. The site is not within a priority area for renewable energy and its coastal location and 

risk of flooding means that it is unsuitable.  The harmful impact on the SSSI, which 
would result in the loss of 50% more of the designated area than the M4 CAN 

scheme, would be a breach of the duty under section 28G of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981. 

161. In response to the publication of Future Wales concerns are raised with the way that 

the protection afforded to nationally designated nature conservation sites has been 
weakened and questions are raised with the process that led to the change. It also 

welcomes, as does the Gwent Wildlife Trust and FoGL, the omission in the latest 

edition of PPW of paragraph 5.9.17 of Edition 10.  That paragraph, in setting out 

support for renewable and low carbon energy generation, advised that only the direct 
irreversible impacts on statutorily protected sites and buildings and their settings 

should be considered. 

Natural Resources Wales 

162. In its original representation NRW identified 5 requirements for further information 

which, following the submission of additional information by the applicant in October 

2020, was reduced to 2 outstanding requirements. One related to information to 
demonstrate that there would be no likely significant effects on dormice, the other 

related to information on the in-combination effects on ornithology to allow the 

competent authority to carry out an assessment under Regulation 63 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  During hearing 2 NRW 
confirmed that in relation to dormice its requirement was satisfied by Doc A13 and 

that the in-combination requirement had been met in the latest sHRA39. 

 
39 Doc A16 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    29 

163. NRW does not object to the scheme provided a series of conditions are imposed, 

mostly relating to management and monitoring plans sought in the interests of the 

ecological value of the site and its environs.  Other conditions are sought to deal with 
surface water and tidal flood risk. 

164. The applicant explained at hearing 2 that Area C could not be relied upon to provide 

enhanced habitat for the shrill carder bee.  In response NRW has confirmed40 that the 

applicant’s latest strategy demonstrates that the scheme can deliver measures to 

satisfactorily avoid, mitigate and compensate the potential adverse effects on the 
shrill carder bee although detailed aspects may require modification before discharge 

of the necessary controlling conditions. 

Gwent Ornithological Society  

165. There is a lack of peer-reviewed scientific studies into the impacts of solar farms on 

ecological receptors.  Solar farms are likely to displace wader and hunting species.  As 

the third large solar farm proposal on the Levels the cumulative impact on the 

European sites is a particular concern, especially given the reliance placed by each 
proposal on the availability of similar nearby habitats.  It advises that a moratorium is 

needed to allow the effects of the solar farms being developed to be understood.  If 

permission is granted bird surveys should be undertaken to provide evidence of its 
effect.  

Gwent Wildlife Trust 

166. The site is designated as a SSSI and is valuable grazing marsh and LBAP habitat, 

including for the shrill carder bee.  The compensation wildflower area is inadequate 
compensation for the area lost.  Lapwing would be impacted by loss of grassland. The 

surveys undertaken are inadequate for wintering/passage waterbirds, dormice and 

otters.  No CEMP has been provided to demonstrate how the impact of the works 
would be minimised.  The sHRA fails to address cumulative impacts and there would 

be no net benefit for biodiversity.  The scheme would cause heavy metal run-off to 

the water environment.  The M4 CAN decision means that the earlier decision to 
approve the Llanwern solar farm does not constitute a precedent for approving this 

scheme, which would breach the duty under section 28G of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981.   

167. As Government’s renewable energy targets would be met there is no need for this 

development, in any event there are many parts of Wales that are more suited for 

this type of development.  The decision maker should adopt the precautionary 
principle in this case, and in the absence of reliable evidence to demonstrate no harm 

the application should be refused.  Future Wales affords tackling the challenges of 

climate change and biodiversity equal status and requires that the scheme should 
have no adverse impact on important nature conservation assets.  In relation to 

mitigation, no weight should be given to the outline CEMP because it lacks sufficient 

detail to demonstrate that the scheme would not cause ecological harm, including to 
fragile wetland habitats. 

168. As Future Wales forms part of the development plan it should be afforded great 

weight. In relation to criterion 4) of policy 18, which refers to no unacceptable 

impacts on national statutory designated sites for conservation there are considered 

to be 2 categories of acceptability: trivial or inconsequential impacts, and where any 

 
40 In an email to the applicant from James Davies, dated 5 February 2021 – Doc A21 

Tudalen y pecyn 82



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    30 

material adverse impacts is clearly outweighed by the need for the development.  

Neither justification applies in this case.  Citing an email from the Welsh 

Government’s Chief Planner the presumption against harmful development, along 
with the no unacceptable adverse impact test, is a high bar41. 

RSPB Cymru 

169. The site lies entirely within a SSSI.  The impact of the scheme would largely depend 
on the efficacy of the Ecological Management Plan and the Lapwing Management Plan 

which have yet to be provided.  The potential adverse impacts on wintering lapwing 

have not been fully addressed. 

170. The cumulative impact of the numerous large-scale solar farms on the Gwent Levels 

SSSIs would lead to the increasing marginalisation of biodiversity, protected species 
and key ecological features.  Wintering lapwing impact has not been adequately 

addressed and the suitability of the compensation land is not clear.  The approach to 

avoid-mitigate-compensate is not consistent with PPW and TAN5.  

The Severn Estuary Levels Research Committee 

171. The Committee expresses major concerns over the impact on the historic landscape 

and the SSSI.  Based on its specialist knowledge it considers that there is potential to 

harm archaeological features which are highly probable to be present.  It is also 
concerned at the impact on the character and appearance of the area. 

Wentlooge Community Council 

172. The highway network cannot accommodate the large vehicles that would be attracted 
to the site during the construction and de-commissioning phases.  The chosen route 

involves sections of highway that have been deemed unsuitable for HGVs by the 

Council and by commercial operators. The absence of footways would endanger 

cyclists and walkers on a local highway network popular with recreational users and 
there are inadequate details on the access points.  The effects on the wildlife and 

historic value of the site and visual impact of the scheme are also concerns as are 

noise disturbance particularly during construction, impact on bee breeders, potential 
pollution from leaking solar panels, the safety risks of the batteries including from 

fire, risks from glare affecting aircraft using flight paths over the site, and possible 

increase in crime.  The Gwent Levels salt marsh is a great contributor to carbon 

absorption, so removing this would increase pollution.  The scheme would cause the 
industrialisation of the countryside and harm local businesses and tourism.   

173. As it is a green wedge bordering a green belt the scheme would open up the whole 

area for development.  It is also concerned at the implications of the site flooding and 

the visual impact of the raising of the proposed structures above flood levels, pointing 

to inconsistencies and inaccuracies in the applicant’s information.  The absence of 
detail is identified in relation to several concerns, including the means of suitably 

controlling the growth of grass within the site and the maintenance and disposal of 

the panels.  The scheme runs counter to numerous objectives and policies of the LDP 
and is at odds with the aims of Future Wales and PPW. 

174. The Living Levels Landscape Partnership (LLLP) has come together to promote and 

reconnect people to the heritage, wildlife and wild beauty of the historic landscape of 

the Gwent Levels.  It is supported by significant public funding and seeks to conserve 

 
41 Appended to Doc IP23 

Tudalen y pecyn 83



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    31 

and restore the important natural heritage features of the area, contrary to the 

effects of this development.  The public consultation process conducted by the 

applicant was inadequate. 

Marshfield Community Council 

175. The scheme is being promoted for the commercial interests of an English based 

company and would provide no meaningful local benefits.  The limited availability of 
alternative sites does not justify the harm that would be caused to the ecology, 

landscape (noting that any screening measures would be incompatible) and tourism.  

Construction traffic would impact highway safety as would the glare experienced by 

drivers.  The public consultation process conducted by the applicant was inadequate. 

Friends of the Gwent Levels 

176. The Gwent Levels are identified in national policy as a National Nature Resource.  It 

has been eroded over the past fifty years by human activity and is approaching a 
tipping point where its integrity will no longer be viable.  There are at least four solar 

farm applications lodged with the Inspectorate.  Tackling a climate emergency cannot 

be at the expense of the ecological emergency. 

177. Adopting a precautionary principle, the scheme would conflict with Policy 18 of Future 

Wales which seeks to avoid any adverse impacts on important ecological features. 
Any such harm in relation to one aspect could not be outweighed by benefits to other 

relevant aspects.  The application has failed to consider the impact of the scheme on 

the carbon sequestration potential of the site.  The latest glint and glare study 
contains errors and assumptions that undermine its credibility.  As screening cannot 

be relied upon, local residents and drivers on rail and road are likely to be affected by 

glint and glare.  The study makes no mention of the daily use of the area as a 

helicopter flight path. 

178. The applicant does not provide details to substantiate the claimed economic benefits 
of the scheme.  There are no social or cultural benefits that have been demonstrated.  

The project is not community owned and any financial contribution to the community 

cannot be guaranteed.  The Levels is particularly valued as a recreational resource as 

people seek to re-connect with nature in response to the pandemic. 

179. The battery storage units would lead to extensive soil compaction.  There is 

frustration that the applicant has sought to amend the scheme and provide additional 
information during the application process, with some details that are yet to be 

provided.  This undermines confidence in the developers. 

180. The latest iteration of PPW makes clear that Welsh Government views the biodiversity 

crisis as of equal urgency to the climate crisis.  This stance provides a different policy 

context to the Minister’s decision to approve the Llanwern scheme in 2018. 

Other Representations 

181. In addition to the representations from organisations mentioned above, some 71 

letters were submitted in response to the application and an additional representation 
was received in response to the October 2020 bundle of additional information.  All 

save one representations have raised objections or concerns over a wide range of 

matters. 

182. The scheme gives rise to harm that means it would not preserve future generations 

as required by the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  It conflicts 

Tudalen y pecyn 84



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    32 

with national policy as the site lies outside areas identified for large scale renewable 

projects.  There is no justification for the scheme as Wales already produces more 

electricity than it consumes; its resources should not be exploited for the benefit of 
England.  This is a sensitive site carrying a range of designations which should not be 

developed merely for the cost and convenience benefits it would afford the developer. 

183. The scheme would erode the gap between Newport and Cardiff which the green 

wedge designation seeks to protect.  It would last for 40 years which is a long time 

and would probably be followed by other development. Allowing the scheme would 
undermine the LDP.  There are many other projects in the pipeline on the Gwent 

Levels which cumulatively would cause extensive harms further eroding the qualities 

of the Levels and undermine the Living Levels project. Solar panels should be 
provided on buildings and brownfield land not greenfield sites.  The farmland that 

would be lost would be needed post-Brexit.  A livery would be lost.     

184. The scheme would harm the SSSIs and biodiversity more generally.  Its impact on the 

Gwent Levels is comparable to that which led the First Minister to refuse the M4 CAN 

scheme.  An ecological consultancy employed by an objector is critical of the 
ecological information in relation to dormice42.  It considers that the extent of the 

harm that would be caused to the SSSI cannot be predicted with any certainty, 

particularly given the recognised lack of relevant research, and may not be reversible 

after decommissioning.  The Llanwern scheme includes a programme of ecological 
mitigation, which in due course will inform a better understanding of the likely effects 

of the proposed development. 

185. The landscape, which is designated an SLA because of its quality and is classed as 

outstanding by LANDMAP, would be harmed.  The tranquil, open space offered by the 

site is valued by local residents and visitors who use the area recreationally. A 
report43 by landscape architects commissioned by a local objector is critical of the 

applicant’s LVIA, including a failure to consider important viewpoints close to the site, 

and a lack of clear and consistent approach to some findings.  The outstanding 
historic interest of the landscape and the site’s archaeology would be harmed.  

186. The scheme would accelerate surface water run-off and increase flood risk in an area 

where flooding is commonplace and has serious consequences, including on the safety 

of motorists.  It would increase HGV traffic on already busy roads and would cause 

noise to residents.  The panels and batteries use precious resources to manufacture 
and cannot be effectively recycled.  The agricultural land classification is questioned. 

187. The application contains inaccuracies.  Local residents have not been properly 

consulted, and there would be no benefits to the local community or economy.  House 

prices would reduce. 

188. One letter of support refers to the scheme’s creation of greener energy with no 

ongoing emissions on land that is mainly low value agricultural grassland.  It would 

reduce local fertiliser, pesticide and livestock manure pollution into valuable water 
courses.  The developers should utilise 10% of the land for environmental enrichment 

and the grassland should be planted with flower rich mixes to support biodiversity.  

The developer should support a local student on a STEM course, provide educational 
support related to the scheme and should utilise local labour. 

 
42 Doc IP6 
43 Doc IP6 

Tudalen y pecyn 85



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    33 

Appraisal   

189. The main considerations are: 

(i) The effect on the green wedge, specifically: 

 

a. whether the development is inappropriate development within the green 
wedge for the purpose of local and national planning policy; 

 

b. the effect of the scheme on the openness of the green wedge and the 
purposes of including land within it; 

 

c. if the scheme is inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason of 
inappropriateness, together with any other harm to the green wedge, is 

clearly outweighed by other considerations, so as to amount to the very 

exceptional circumstances necessary to justify the harm to the green wedge; 

(ii) the effect on the landscape character and visual amenity of the area;  

(iii) the effect on the historic landscape; 

(iv) the effect on the ecology of the area, particularly the special features of the 

designated SSSIs and protected species; 

(v) whether the proposed development is acceptable within a floodplain, having 

regard to local and national planning policy; 

(vi) the effect on traffic flows and highway safety, particularly during the 

construction phase; 

(vii) whether any harm identified in relation to the foregoing and any other 

considerations is outweighed by the benefits of the scheme, particularly its 

contribution to renewable energy generation and combating the climate change 
emergency. 

 

Green Wedge 

190. The site lies within the LDP green wedge designation and is close to the Green Belt 

which lies to the west.  PPW explains that the essential difference between the 
designations is that Green Belt land should be protected for a longer period than the 

current development plan period, whereas green wedge policies should be reviewed 

as part of the development plan review process. 

191. PPW identifies openness as an essential characteristic of a green wedge.  Its purpose 

includes: the prevention of coalescence of large towns and cities with other 
settlements; managing urban form; assisting in safeguarding the countryside from 

encroachment; protecting the setting of an urban area; and assisting urban 

regeneration. 

192. PPW provides a general presumption against development which is inappropriate in 

relation to the purposes of the designation.  Certain forms of development, including 
renewable and low carbon energy generation, may be appropriate in the green wedge 

‘provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of 

including land within it’. 

Tudalen y pecyn 86



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    34 

193. LDP policy SP7 explains that its green wedges have been identified to prevent the 

coalescence of settlements, in this case Newport and Cardiff, and seeks to prevent 

development which prejudices the open nature of land. 

194. The Courts have held that the concept of openness is not limited to the visual aspect 

but also includes a spatial dimension.  I consider that the introduction of solar panels 
elevated above ground level together with the other proposed apparatus, including 

the transformer units, grid connection infrastructure and battery containers would 

reduce the physical and visual openness of the presently undeveloped fields.   

195. The applicant suggests that, as renewable and low carbon energy generation is 

specifically listed as a potentially suitable form of development, ‘openness’ must 
instead be interpreted more as a description of landscape character.  Otherwise, it 

argues, a narrower interpretation of the term would represent an inherent 

contradiction in the policy given that all forms of renewable energy development 
would undermine openness.  I disagree; whatever the particular implications that 

might arise to the internal consistency of policy, it cannot alter a long-standing 

interpretation of what openness means in the context of Green Belts and green 
wedges.  Such interpretation is based on the effect of development rather than the 

type of development being considered.  

196. As I later explain, in my appraisal of the landscape character and visual amenity 

consideration, the development would be readily visible from outside the site.  The 

presence of the proposed structures and apparatus on the ground would materially 
reduce the sense of openness that is a particular feature of the Levels landscape in 

this area.  These features would be viewed in the context of hedgerows and other 

vegetation that define field boundaries; this would reduce their impact but does not 

alter my view that the present openness that the site exhibits would be materially 
reduced.  

197. The solar arrays would generally follow the contours of the land and would sit above 

grassland and would be mostly enclosed by hedgerows and other vegetation.  It 

would retain an appearance that is more commonly associated with a countryside 

setting rather than an urban one.  It would therefore not contribute to the 
coalescence of settlements or significantly erode the rural character of the area, or 

otherwise undermine the stated purposes of the green wedge. 

198. As there would be no conflict with the purposes of the designation the substantial 

weight that such harmful impact would carry does not apply.  Nonetheless the 

scheme’s harmful effect on openness means that it constitutes inappropriate 
development, and would be in conflict with LDP policy SP7.  PPW carries a 

presumption against inappropriate development and advises that, to maintain green 

wedge openness, development must be strictly controlled.  In light of the protective 
provisions of local and national policy I afford this harm significant weight. 

199. Given the harm that I have identified to the green wedge, I shall now consider 

whether very exceptional circumstances exist to justify the grant of planning 

permission on the basis that other considerations clearly outweigh the harm to the 

green wedge. 

200. The benefits of the scheme, most notably those arising from the renewable energy 

that would be generated, is discussed later in this appraisal.  For the reasons I set out 
in that section, the scale of the contribution and the associated benefits in relation to 

responding to the climate change emergency carry considerable weight.   

Tudalen y pecyn 87



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    35 

201. The applicant has demonstrated the substantive obstacles to securing an available 

and suitable site for a solar farm of this scale, and the financial considerations that 

indicate that smaller developments may not be viable propositions44.  The evidence 
indicates an absence of suitable alternative sites that lie outside the green wedge. 

202. In the absence of suitable alternative sites I find that the scale of the benefits of this 

nationally significant development clearly outweigh the identified harm to the green 

wedge, such that very exceptional circumstances exist that would justify permitting 

this inappropriate development in the green wedge.   

Landscape Character and Visual Amenity 

203. The application site falls with the Wentlooge SLA as designated in the LDP.  PPW 

recognises the value of all landscapes for their distinctive character and seeks to 
protect their special qualities and ensure that the opportunities they provide, including 

for wellbeing, tourism and renewable energy are taken into account. 

204. The ES includes a landscape and visual impact assessment (LVIA) that has been 

prepared in accordance with GLVIA guidance on methodology45.  It contains Zone of 

Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) maps which identify areas from where the development 
could be seen on the basis of a topographical, bare-earth analysis, and includes the 

parts of those areas where other large development projects would also be 

theoretically visible.   These maps have informed the choice of representative 

viewpoints from where a series of photomontages depicting the appearance of the 
scheme have been prepared.  I have noted the professional criticisms of aspects of 

the assessment and the comments of others.      

205. The Council and others have expressed concern that other elements of the scheme 

such as the telecommunications tower and, in particular, the storage containers have 

not been specifically assessed in the LVIA.  The more vertical features such as the 
tower would be slender structures located among the solar arrays.  In this context 

they would be minor elements that would not materially alter the effect of the solar 

arrays on the character of the landscape or its visual impact.  Likewise, in the context 
of arrays that would be some 2.7m high the presence of a row of 3.5m high battery 

containers would not materially alter the impact of the scheme on the area’s 

character or appearance.  It is evident that whilst not always specifically identified in 

some sections of the LVIA, there are many explicit references to the units and other 
elements, including the grid yard.   

206. I am satisfied that any deficiencies in the LVIA do not undermine its robustness as a 

tool to assist the decision maker.  In any event, whilst my assessment of the scheme 

is informed by the LVIA I have not relied on it.  It has informed my appraisal of this 

main consideration alongside other representations as has my visit to the site, its 
surroundings and the partly constructed Llanwern solar park that has many broad 

similarities in terms of scale, design and landscape setting46.  In my assessment I 

have borne in mind all of the components of the proposed scheme. 

207. The LVIA has assessed the construction as well as the operational phase of the 

development.  Whilst the construction phase, at certain times, would have a greater 

 
44 Site Selection Sequential Test, March 2020 
45 Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 3rd Edition, 2013 (GLVIA3) 
46 My visit to the Llanwern Solar Park indicates that those panels were less elevated above the 

ground than is proposed in this case 

Tudalen y pecyn 88



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    36 

impact that during its operation, as it is likely to be relatively short-lived, I have 

focussed mainly on the operational period of the project.  

Landscape Character 

208. The application site and environs are typical of the distinctive landscape of the 

Wentlooge Levels.  The low lying and near flat topography and the network of 

drainage ditches and adjacent waterside vegetation, notably reeds, and hedgerows 
that frame fields and roads combine to create an open, expansive rural landscape.  

Generally, buildings sit comfortably within their setting, and comprise mainly isolated 

residential, commercial or agricultural in use.  Several churches and older villages 

serve as landmarks that contribute positively to the composition.  There are a variety 
of other uses including golf courses and a caravan park.  There are features that 

detract from the quality, including some commercial operations and, most notably, 

the 2 rows of pylons and the Swansea to London mainline railway.     

209. The LANDMAP evaluation of the aspect areas within which the site is located is ‘high’ 

in relation to the geological landscape and the visual and sensory layers (both scenic 
quality and character) and ‘outstanding’ for landscape habitats, historic landscape and 

cultural landscape.  The historic landscape and visual and sensory layers of most 

nearby aspect areas are evaluated as ‘high’ with some ‘outstanding’.  In relation to 
the historic landscape character, whilst I have taken into account its contribution to 

the character and visual amenity of the landscape in this main consideration, its value 

as a historic asset is a matter covered under my assessment of the main 
consideration of Historic Landscape that follows. 

210. The scheme would retain the site’s distinctive field pattern, the open expanse of 

primarily pastoral land, the distinctive pattern of reens and ditches, and its flat low 

lying landform which are all identified as distinctive landscape characteristics in the 

Gwent Levels Landscape Character Assessment in 2017.  It would also retain the 
landscape’s key qualities as identified in the same assessment. 

211. The development would be visible, particularly from close quarters but would be seen 

in the context of the present field patterns that would continue to be framed by 

hedgerows and reeds that typify the landscape.  Once constructed the development 

would involve very little activity that would disrupt the tranquillity of the agrarian 

landscape.  The relatively low level and horizontal emphasis of the arrays means that 
they would be seen to follow the existing topography.  The use of stockproof type 

fencing would have an appearance consistent with the primarily agricultural character 

of the area, albeit at a height that is taller than is generally used.  Thus, whilst the 
presence of the development in the surrounding landscape would be clearly 

noticeable, it would not undermine its character.  Any impact would reduce 

significantly with a relatively modest increase in distance from the site.  

Visual Amenity 

212. The development has sought to avoid or mitigate potential landscape impacts.  The 

photovoltaic panels would be seen within the existing field pattern and enclosing 

vegetation.  Existing field boundaries would be utilised to minimise the need to create 
new accessways and breaches of field boundaries.  The battery storage units would be 

painted green to sit within the landscape.  The application initially indicated that some 

additional landscaping could be undertaken to further screen parts of the 
development.  It has subsequently been accepted that the scope for such screening is 

limited given the importance of ensuring that any additional landscape planting is 

Tudalen y pecyn 89



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    37 

consistent with the present nature of vegetation which contributes to the open 

landscape. 

213. The proposed battery containers would be painted green and located within a narrow, 

elongated field such that they would be relatively close to boundary hedgerows to the 

north and south.  Although their utilitarian design would not be aesthetically pleasing, 
they would be some distance from public vantage points, particularly those points 

that would offer views of the full row of 160 units.  The proximity of the hedgerows to 

these rows would offer significant screening that would soften their impact, without 
being so close at to jeopardise the health of the vegetation.   

214. From close quarters the topography of the area means that receptors would only see 

relatively small elements of the development from most vantage points.  Vegetation 

and the panels themselves would generally screen views of other panels that would 

be at a similar height.  More elevated vantage points are provided from the first-floor 
openings of some of the nearest dwellings and also from the railway bridges that are 

close to the two northern corners of the site.  The impact from the first-floor views, by 

receptors that are sensitive to such effects, would only offer a slightly more expansive 
viewpoint and given their separation distance would not result in an unacceptable 

impact on residents. 

215. The views available from the railway bridges offer vantage points that provide the 

most extensive views over the site.  Most of the structures that would be visible would 

be seen as pockets of development enclosed and partly obscured by field boundaries.  
The closest fields to Hawse Lane would offer relatively close-up views of the solar 

arrays from a short section of Hawse Lane as it drops down from the top of the 

bridge.  As the elevation reduces the extent of the development that would be visible 

also reduces but the arrays in the roadside fields would remain in clear view albeit 
somewhat softened by reeds and other roadside vegetation. 

216. Most receptors that use the railway bridges would be travelling in cars and would be 

moving fairly quickly while drivers in particular would have their attention focused 

ahead.  Such receptors are not regarded as sensitive to landscape impact, and the 

view they would gain would be short-lived.  However, as many local residents have 
explained and I observed during my visit, the roads are also used recreationally by 

walkers, cyclists and horse riders.  Given the purpose of their journey and the slower 

speed at which they pass through the landscape they would be more sensitive to the 
visual impact of the development.  Whilst recreational users on these sections of the 

local road network would be aware of the presence of the development, such views 

would be mainly of small parts of the development at any one time.  They would be 

seen in the context of the road, and at times rail, traffic and in the presence of the 
electricity pylons.  During peak construction times the visual and noise disturbance 

would significantly reduce the enjoyment of such routes, but thereafter the limited 

visibility of the development seen in a landscaped context, would not significantly 
affect the receptors ability to enjoy the tranquillity  and rural character of the area 

and, in so doing, to benefit their health and well-being. 

217. The All Wales Coastal Path which at its closest is some 400m from the site is identified 

in the LDP as an Important Recreational Route.  In this area the path is elevated 

above natural ground levels as it follows the sea defence wall.  The LVIA includes an 
assessment from several viewpoints along the path.  Whilst some objectors have 

queried the assessment of the impact on users of the path, my visit revealed that 

intervening vegetation provides an effective screen along most of the nearby section 
of path.  The most notable exception is that identified in the LVIA which includes 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    38 

viewpoint 4.  From this section parts of the development would be visible.   However, 

because receptors would be at a similar height to the site only elements of the 

foremost arrays would be likely to be seen.  The intervening distance would mean 
that the impact would not be intrusive or discordant. 

218. Another important recreational route nearby is the National Cycle Route 88 a part of 

which follows Ty Mawr Lane to the north of the site.  I observed use of this route by 

several cyclists and pedestrians.  As viewpoint 2 shows, the separation distance 

combined with the slightly elevated intervening railway line and vegetation screening 
means that the development would not be readily visible. 

219. There are no public rights of way that traverse the site but there are several that run 

nearby within the same low-lying landscape, including one that runs parallel with, and 

to the west of, Broadway.  The extent of intervening vegetation means that any views 

of the development from any such route would have no more than a modest visual 
impact.  

220. Views of the development from other sections of highway or by users of the railway 

line would be short lived and would be sufficiently mitigated by the screening effects 

of vegetation, such that the impacts would be modest. 

221. The Council has expressed concerns that there are no plans to replace the hedgerows 

and trees that would be lost in the work to make the Lapwing Compensation Land a 

more suitable habitat.  At the hearing the Council accepted that an expectation of 
replacement planting as set out in its SPG was a County wide one and that, in the 

context of the particular character of the Wentlooge Levels, landscaping works that 

were consistent with promoting habitat improvement did not give rise to the normal 
replacement measures.   

222. PPW47 advises that developers should, wherever possible, consider how to avoid, or 

otherwise minimise, adverse impacts through careful consideration of location, scale, 

design and other measures. The applicant explains that one of the measures deployed 

to minimise the visibility of the solar arrays and associated equipment from the 
nearest public vantage points is to avoid using the fields adjacent to the public 

highways that bound much of the site.  This general approach to the layout has not 

been closely followed in relation to Hawse Lane where some of the fields that are 

closest to the road would contain solar panels.  However, when the scheme is 
considered in its entirety, I am satisfied that it is generally compliant with this policy 

advice. 

223. In terms of cumulative impacts, whilst I note the concerns raised by objectors to the 

incremental impact of several large solar arrays on the Levels, for reasons I have 

already explained the main effects of this scheme are on its immediate surroundings.  
Any viewpoints that are sufficiently distant to take in this site and other large solar 

farms would provide panoramic views that would take in significantly more prominent 

developments including large settlements.  Within these vistas the solar arrays would 
generally not be readily noticeable.  I am satisfied that there is sufficient separation 

distance between this scheme and all the other projects assessed, including non-solar 

developments, to ensure that there would be no unacceptable cumulative effects on 
landscape character or visual amenity. 

 
47 Paragraph 5.9.21 

Tudalen y pecyn 91



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    39 

224. For the above reasons I find that the character and visual amenity of the landscape 

would not be significantly affected.  The proposal would not have an unacceptable 

adverse impact on the surrounding landscape and thus aligns with criterion 1 of 
Future Wales policy 18.  The scheme would not conflict with the protective provisions 

of policy CE10 of the LDP which is that renewable energy development which affect 

the Gwent Levels should not cause significant adverse effects. 

225. The scheme is broadly in accordance with LDP policy SP5 as it is an appropriate one 

for the countryside and respects landscape character and is appropriate in scale and 
design.  As its design shows a clear appreciation of the special features of the SLA, 

and includes measures to protect and enhance those features, it aligns with LDP 

policy SP8.  In line with LDP policy GP5 it would not lead to an unacceptable impact 
on landscape quality and, as it would not be detrimental to the character or 

appearance of the surrounding area, it would accord with LDP policy GP2. 

Historic Landscape  

226. The Gwent Levels has been subject to human activity for at least 6000 years, with 

land reclamation recorded since the Roman period.  PPW confirms that historic 

landscapes and archaeological remains can constitute historic assets, and explains 

that the planning system must take into account the Welsh Government’s objectives 
to protect, conserve, promote and enhance the historic environment as a resource for 

the general well-being of present and future generations.  Among the specific 

objectives in this regard is to conserve archaeological remains, both for their own 
sake and for their role in education, leisure and the economy, and to protect areas on 

the register of historic landscapes in Wales. 

227. In response to identified deficiencies in the applicant’s initial assessment of potential 

impact on heritage matters additional information was provided in the October bundle 

including a Desk Based Assessment (DBA)48.   

Designated Historic Assets 

228. The site lies with The Gwent Levels Historic Landscape of Outstanding Historic 

Interest in Wales (LOHI).  The area comprises discrete and extensive areas of alluvial 

wetlands and intertidal mudflats and represents a 'hand-crafted' landscape having 
been recurrently inundated and reclaimed from the sea since the Roman period. The 

areas have distinctive patterns of settlement, enclosure and drainage systems 

belonging to successive periods of use.  The LOHI consists of 21 character areas 
which reflect locally distinctive features.  The site lies within 2 of these: Western St 

Brides (HLCA 16)  - ‘simpler landscape, laid out within a framework of elements 

surviving from the Roman landscape’; and Maerdy (HLCA 21) - ‘Regular landscape of 

medieval/post-medieval date in low-lying back-fen’.  It lies adjacent to the Llanbedr 
(HLCA 17). 

229. The Western St Brides HLCA has suffered from modern disturbance of its landscape 

character through agricultural practices and the construction of a golf course and 

fishing lakes.  The proposed solar farm lies on the western side of the area which is 

described as the least well-preserved part of the HLCA.  The Maerdy HLCA has been 
impacted in recent times by agricultural practices and the railway line severing this 

part from the remainder of the HLCA. 

 
48 Doc A3 

Tudalen y pecyn 92



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    40 

230. The effect of the proposal on the registered Historic Landscape is the subject of an 

Assessment of the Significance of Impact of Development on Historic Landscape of 

Historic Interest in Wales 2 (ASIDOHL).  The assessment acknowledges the 40-year 
lifespan of the scheme and the proposed retention of the main landscape character 

elements of the site.  The more significant direct impacts identified are from the 

excavation of cable runs and elements of the infrastructure, although these would 
form a very small percentage of the whole development.  Any possible impact on 

archaeological remains would affect features that are largely not visible and thus 

make a low contribution to the character of the HLCAs.  It is the upstanding historic 

character remnants (drainage features, footbridges, hedgerow pattern etc) that make 
the most significant contribution to the landscape value. 

231. The greatest impact is on Maerdy HLCA where considerable direct physical and 

indirect impacts have been identified which result in a severe impact on the overall 

significance of the HLCA.  The overall significance of the impact on 3 other HLCAs, 

including Western St Brides and Llanbedr, are assessed as moderate with 3 others 
assessed as slight.  Cadw agrees with the findings of the ASIDOHL.  The ES describes 

an overall magnitude of direct impact as moderate and indirect impact as slight.  

However, these are derived from calculating the average score taking into account 
each of the HLCAs that would be affected which means that those HLCAs least 

affected reduce the overall impact score.  At the hearing Cadw confirmed that it is the 

impact on individual HLCAs that provide the clearer understanding of impact.   

232. In its initial response to the application Cadw provided a list of the designated historic 

assets within 3km of the site.  The applicant’s heritage DBA assessed the impact on 
assets within a 4km study area, including scheduled monuments, listed buildings, 

conservation areas and a Registered Historic Park and Garden.   

233. There are no designated assets that would be directly affected by the scheme.  

Recognising the importance of setting to the way that historic assets are understood, 

experienced and appreciated the applicant has assessed whether there would be any 
effects on the setting of any assets within the study area, which included 8 scheduled 

ancient monuments and 50 listed buildings of which 4 are Grade I and 6 Grade II*.  

The approach taken is consistent with TAN24: The Historic Environment and the 

related guidance produced by Cadw.   

234. Based on the Zone of Theoretical Visibility map the assessment concludes that the 
scheme is not capable of impacting on the setting of most designated assets in the 

study area.  The assessment considers 3 listed buildings and 4 scheduled monuments 

in more detail.  It concludes that there would be an effect on the setting of 2 assets: 

the Pen-y-Lan Camp Iron Age enclosure, a scheduled monument; and, one listed 
building, the Grade II Gelli-ber Farmhouse, that have inter-visibility which could cause 

potential harm to their significance. The former is situated on a hilltop some 2.9km to 

the northwest of the site.  Whilst the development would be visible it would be seen in 
an extensive view which includes many more prominent, modern, man-made 

features.  Gelli-ber Farmhouse is within 1.3km of the site and at a similar elevation to 

the site.  The extent of any visibility would thus be limited and seen in the context of 
the railway line and the pylons.   

235. At hearing 1 both Cadw and the applicant’s specialist confirmed that, whilst there was 

some limited effect on the setting of these 2 assets their historical significance would 

not be harmed, and thus the potential mitigation measures that the applicant had 

previously mooted, would not be necessary.  Cadw has confirmed that it concurs with 

Tudalen y pecyn 93



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    41 

the applicant’s assessors that there would be no significant impact on any of the 

designated assets.  Informed by my site visit, I agree. 

Archaeology 

236. The site is designated in the LDP as an Archaeological Sensitive Area.  The Gwent 

Levels has a proven, possibly quite vast, potential for extensive, well-preserved, 

buried, waterlogged, archaeological and palaeo-environmental deposits surviving from 
earlier landscapes49.  This applies to the site as it does to much of the Levels. 

237. In response to the concerns raised by the Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust50 

the applicant provided additional information in its DBA51.  This was informed by site 

visits and consulting available records, including from previous excavations, and other 

sources. 

238. Lidar data shows the clear remains of the drainage features that would be expected in 

the area.  Its marshy nature means that it is unlikely to have historically been used 
for occupation.  There is the potential that a former Roman road (Wheel Lane) 

diagonally crosses the site, and there is the possibility of a few other features of 

interest within the site including a medieval enclosure.  The paleo-environmental 
remains are of local to regional importance while any features of Iron Age, Roman 

and medieval date would be of regional importance.  

239. The scheme would give rise to relatively modest levels of ground disturbance and 

proposes archaeological mitigation measures which would include controlling the 

nature and location of excavations and a watching brief targeted at areas of 
excavation for cable trenches, as has been used on the Llanwern solar farm.  The 

watching brief could also address palaeo-environmental remains providing an 

understanding of the various layers of underlying deposits.  Taking into account the 

need for the development and the importance of the potential archaeological 
resource, this opportunity to preserve by record architectural features is consistent 

with PPW52 and TAN24. 

240. The excavation works and the driving of screws into the ground to secure the panels, 

to a depth of between 1 and 1.5m53, is unlikely to impact on ground water levels but 

there is a possibility of localised oxygenating of the underlying levels that could 
disturb anaerobic conditions and therefore the preservation of waterlogged remains 

within them.  As GGAT points out the pincushion effect into these deposits would 

extend further than the piles themselves and has the potential for significant long-
term damage.  However, in the context of the extensive Wentlooge Levels the impact 

would be small. 

241. The conditions would enable the means of construction to be agreed so that direct 

impacts would be minimised.  The watching brief give rise to the potential that any 

excavation that impacts on artefacts or other features would provide valuable 
archaeological information.  The recommended conditions would also require a 

baseline topographical survey to be undertaken, which would inform the protection of 

the historically significant ground profile of the ridge and furrow drainage system. 

 
49 Register of Landscapes, Parks and Gardens of Outstanding Historic Interest in Wales, 1998 
50 GGAT consultation response dated 28 July 2020 
51 Doc A3 
52 Para 6.1.25, PPW 
53 Doc A17 

Tudalen y pecyn 94



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    42 

242. To conclude on this main consideration I am satisfied that an archaeological 

assessment has been undertaken in compliance with LDP Policy CE6, and that it 

demonstrates that, with suitable mitigation secured by the recommended conditions, 
the impact on the archaeology of the site is acceptable.   

243. As the scheme would not protect, conserve or enhance the Gwent Levels Landscape 

of Outstanding Historic Interest it is in conflict with LDP Policies SP9 and CE4 and is 

also in conflict with PPW which seeks to protect registered historic landscapes54.  

Whilst the main impacts would be reversible, it would exist for 40 years.  This is the 
equivalent of 2 generations, a significant period during which an appreciation of the 

outstanding historic quality of the landscape would be affected.  It is thus a significant 

harmful impact albeit that in relation to the Gwent Levels the extent of that harm is 
relatively localised.   

244. As the scheme would not have a materially detrimental impact on any other 

designated historic asset, save for its impact on the LOHI it would otherwise align 

with LDP Policy SP9 which seeks that proposed development conserve, enhance and 

manage recognised historic sites.   

Ecology 

245. PPW identifies the planning system’s key role in helping to reverse the decline in 

biodiversity and increasing the resilience of ecosystems, at various scales, by 

ensuring appropriate mechanisms would be in place to both protect against loss and 
to secure enhancement.  Addressing the consequences of climate change should be a 

central part of any measures to conserve biodiversity and the resilience of 

ecosystems.  It identifies the importance of supporting biodiversity, ensuring the 
protection of statutorily designated sites and protected and priority species, and to 

secure the enhancement of, and improvements to, ecosystem resilience by improving 

diversity, condition, extent and connectivity of ecological networks55.  Policy 9 of 
Future Wales identifies the importance of enhancing biodiversity and the resilience of 

ecosystems. 

Designated Sites 

246. The vast majority of the site is undeveloped but is in active agricultural use. The 

whole of the site lies within the Gwent Levels St Brides SSSI and, to its west, it 

adjoins the Rumney and Peterstone SSSI within which the Lapwing Compensation 

Land lies.  The Wildlife and Countryside Act, as amended by the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000, places a duty on all public bodies (including local planning 

authorities) to take reasonable steps to further the conservation and enhancement of 

the features by reason of which a SSSI is of special interest.  Whilst statutory 

designation of a site does not necessarily prohibit development, it should be refused 
where there would be adverse impacts on the features for which a site has been 

designated56. There is a presumption against development likely to damage a SSSI57. 

247. The SSSIs citation states that the Gwent Levels are rich in plant species and 

communities, many of which are rare, and that the aquatic invertebrate fauna is very 

diverse with many nationally rare or notable species being present. 

 
54 Para 6.1.20, PPW 
55 Para 6.4.3, PPW 
56 Para 6.4.14, PPW 
57 Para 6.4.17, PPW 

Tudalen y pecyn 95



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    43 

248. The solar arrays and other apparatus would be sited on the grassland areas of the 

site.  Whilst the nature of the grassland varies across the site it is generally species 

poor which is a consequence of farming activities, particularly grazing.  These 
grassland areas do not contain listed features of the SSSIs.  In contrast, the 

vegetation within drainage ditches and adjacent areas that bound the fields is species 

rich.  This reen and ditch habitat is one of the special features of the SSSIs and 
provides a habitat for 2 of its special features:  insects and other invertebrates; and 

the shrill carder bee.  Other habitats that contribute to the special wildlife interest of 

the area include green lanes, hedgerows and flower-rich ditch banks which are 

important for a wide range of species. 

249. The scheme has been designed to minimise direct impact on these reen and ditch 
areas.  Proposed trackways seek to utilise existing crossing points that link the fields 

but where new crossings would be required for vehicles or for cables they would be 

controlled to ensure that the functioning of the drainage network is not affected and 

that any impact on the habitat it provides is minimised.   

250. The layout of the proposed solar arrays allows for buffer zones of 12.5m for the reens 
and 7m for the ditches and field drains.  These areas would effectively extend the 

valuable reen and ditch habitat and would be subject to enhancement measures and 

long-term management.  These measures include removing sections of hedgerows to 

allow more light to penetrate and thereby improve the water environment.  Following 
work to open up the reens the scheme would secure a 7-year reen management 

programme which would maintain their structure and improve the habitat for 

qualifying aquatic invertebrates.  Hedgerows to be removed would be only on the 
south side of the watercourses where there would be existing hedgerows that would 

be retained on the other side of the reen or ditch.  Such works would include 

mitigation measures to avoid any impact on species, including dormice and nesting 
birds.        

251. The proposed selective removal of vegetation and de-silting of the watercourses is 

part of good management practice, which benefits the functioning of the drainage 

system as well as the aquatic environment.  I am mindful that there are already plans 

to secure improvements to the drainage network on part of the site and that the 

Living Levels project is actively promoting and supporting such initiatives.  
Nonetheless the extent of the improvements that could be secured through the 

scheme, in terms of its physical extent and 40-year time scale, far exceeds that which 

is likely to otherwise be realised.   

252. The enhancement of the reens and ditches forms part of a suite of proposed 

ecological improvements that would be secured by the LEMP which would control the 
development for the duration of the project.  Concerns have been raised over detailed 

aspects of the submitted LEMP but it provides sufficient information to demonstrate 

its potential to be refined to effectively serve its intended purpose.  Its precise 
content would be for the developer to address when seeking its approval by the 

Council, in consultation with NRW and other specialist advisers, prior to any 

development commencing.  One issue to be agreed would be the detailed measures 
to enhance the watercourse environment such that it provides shallow margins for 

aquatic invertebrates and the provision of steep sided banks for water vole.  The 

means of ensuring the suitable poaching of water margins would also need to be 

agreed.  The LEMP would provide a means of ensuring that a range of objectives 
would be met, including maintaining the favourable status of the notified features of 

the SSSI and enhancing connectivity within and across the site.  

Tudalen y pecyn 96



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    44 

253. The FCA describes the benefits to water quality that would arise from the cessation of 

more intensive agricultural activities which can give rise to exposed soil leading to 

silt-borne surface water run-off entering the drainage system.  A reduction in the use 
of pesticides and fertilizers would also benefit water quality.  NRW confirmed at the 

hearing that that it does not share concerns of others over the potential for the 

scheme to give rise to plastic and metal pollution, and I have no reason to disagree. 
The scheme would allow soil structure to improve and grassland cover to be 

maintained to the benefit of rainwater management.  

254. Whilst noting the surface water benefits that would arise during the operational phase 

of the development, the construction and de-commissioning phases would result in 

activities that could result in accelerated surface water run-off with the potential for 
silt and pollutants to enter the drainage network.  This would not only harm the 

special features of the SSSIs but also has the potential to impact on the Severn 

Estuary SAC and SPA.  This is recognised by the applicant, and I am satisfied that 

through the adoption of good practice techniques to prevent contaminated water 
entering watercourses this risk can be effectively controlled.  This would be secured 

through the recommended condition to require a CEMP.    

255. In response to the application NRW commissioned a specialist ecohydrological impact 

assessment58 of the scheme.  It has focussed on the SSSI interest features which 

have water-related environmental supporting conditions.  These are the plant and 
invertebrate species and assemblages which are associated with the reens and 

ditches.  Subject to adequate controls over the development no significant 

hydrological impacts are identified including in terms of the water quality, land 
drainage or run-off rates.  The findings are consistent with those of the applicant’s 

specialist59.  A water monitoring requirement would be secured as part of the LEMP. 

256. Local residents are concerned that the siting of battery storage containers would lead 

to extensive soil compaction.  The applicant has confirmed that they would be sited 

on a frame supported by legs such that any soil compaction would be minimal.  A 
porous surface would facilitate drainage.  Such details can be secured by condition.  

257. The works proposed on the Lapwing Compensation Land to make the area suitable for 

overwintering and nesting lapwing involves removal of sections of hedgerows, 

including trees to create a more open environment.  This would also provide an 

opportunity to improve the habitat for the shrill carder bee and to return other 
features of the SSSI (reen and ditch habitats, aquatic invertebrates and other 

invertebrates) to a ‘favourable condition’.   

258. Thus, I consider that the scheme’s design, supplemented by detailed controls over its 

construction and future maintenance and management that would be secured by 

means of the recommended conditions, would ensure the improvement of the habitat 
of the affected SSSIs and their special interest plant species and invertebrates. 

259. Within some 500m of the site lies the Severn Estuary SPA and Ramsar site and the 

Severn Estuary SAC is 2km or so distant. The ‘qualifying interest features’ of the SPA 

are detailed within the ‘Regulation 33 Advice’ published by CCW and Natural England 

in 2009. These are noted to comprise a range of bird species within three ‘supporting 
habitats’: intertidal mudflats and sandflats, Saltmarsh and hard substrate habitats.  

For the SAC the habitats types and species listed include an overarching “estuaries” 

 
58 Doc IP9 
59 Doc A8 

Tudalen y pecyn 97



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    45 

feature within which subtidal sandbanks, intertidal mudflats and sandflats, Atlantic 

salt meadows and reefs and 3 species of migratory fish are defined as both features in 

their own right and as sub-features of the estuary feature.  The qualifying interest 
features of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site overlap with those of the Severn Estuary 

SPA and the SAC in order to facilitate the development of integrated objectives across 

the designations. 

260. For reasons explained in relation to the Habitats Regulations procedure below I am 

satisfied that, provided that the suggested conditions are imposed, the scheme would 
not harm any of these internationally important sites.  

261. Within 3km of the site there are 6 non-statutory sites designated for their nature 

conservation value, a Gwent Wildlife Trust Reserve and 5 SINCs.  They have been 

included in the assessment, but no significant effects identified.  

Protected Species 

262. Surveys undertaken on and around the site have identified the presence of protected 

and priority species.  In some instances, where presence has not been confirmed but 

the potential for presence has been identified, such presence has been assumed60.  
The identified species include badgers, otters, bats, water vole, grass snake, common 

frog and toad, great crested newt, western European hedgehog, weasel, European 

eel, brown-banded and shrill carder bee.   

263. The SSSIs of St Brides and of Rumney and Peterstone have not been designated for 

their ornithological interest.  In the context of the Severn Estuary SPA, the Ramsar 
Site and SSSI, the site supports populations of European importance of Bewick’ Swan 

and several migratory species and supports populations of national importance.   

264. Adopting the precautionary principle, the site has been considered as of local 

importance for lapwing and skylark breeding.  Other breeding birds likely to use the 

site would be associated with the hedgerows and drainage network. The site is also 
considered of local importance for Cetti’s Warbler, Peregrine Falcon and Barn owl. 

265. The site provides a suboptimal habitat for the majority of water birds associated with 

the SPA and Ramsar site and observations of qualifying species were in very low 

numbers, and relatively low numbers of assemblage species, other than for lapwing 

where significant numbers in winter were recorded.  In response to the concerns of 

the RSPB over the timing of the breeding bird surveys in relation to lapwing the 
applicant has explained the extent of the surveys and the methodology used61 to 

demonstrate a robust approach.   

266. The LEMP proposes a mitigation strategy to avoid, minimise and compensate for 

biodiversity loss and ensure a net gain for biodiversity.  NRW has confirmed that it is 

satisfied with the information provided by the applicant in support of the application 
as supplemented by additional information, subject to the imposition of recommended 

conditions. 

267. The siting of the solar arrays on the grassland raises particular concern in terms of 

the potential to impact on birds, most notably lapwing, and certain invertebrates, 

particularly the shrill carder bee that feed and nest on grassland.  Whilst the extent to 

 
60 Chapter 11 of ES, and associated Appendices 
61 Doc A2  

Tudalen y pecyn 98



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    46 

which the fields are grazed means that their value as such a habitat is limited the 

potential impact has required particular consideration. 

268. The shrill carder bee is a notified feature of both St Brides and the Rumney and 

Peterstone SSSIs and there are other aquatic and terrestrial invertebrates cited and 

recorded such that the invertebrate assemblage is of national importance. The local 
shrill carder bee population is also of national importance.  It forages and nests on 

open, flower rich grassland.  The grasslands on which the panels would be sited is 

currently not a valuable habitat, however there is concern that the scheme could 
cause damaging fragmentation of habitat. 

269. Area C, which is the land around the ponds, which falls within the application but is 

not linked to the project, provides a species rich grassland suitable for the shrill 

carder bee which would not be affected by the scheme.  The project proposes a 

wildflower meadow along the western edge of the site.  In response to NRW concerns 
the applicant has provided additional information in the form of a Shrill Carder Bee 

Mitigation and Enhancements Strategy62.  NRW has confirmed that it is satisfied that 

there are measures that could be secured by condition to ensure that there would be 
sufficient enhancement of the site’s habitat, including connectivity routes and the 

provision of wildflower belts on the periphery of fields, to avoid any negative impact.  

The same benefits can be expected to the brown-banded carder bee that is also 

present and is also a priority species listed under Section 7 of the Environment 
(Wales) Act, 2016. 

270. The scheme would result in the loss of some 39ha of open fields that would be 

suitable for foraging by wintering lapwing.  This is resource is of county significance 

despite the availability of numerous other fields in the locality.  Over 2 years of winter 

surveys the highest recorded lapwing presence was 300 with the second highest at 
170.  To compensate for this loss the project proposes that hedgerows and trees 

would be removed, and grassland suitably managed to create an open area suitable 

for lapwing within the 22.1ha of off-site compensatory land.  That would be secured 
through condition on land that the applicant has confirmed is within its control.  An 

objector questions the suitability of the land because the overhead electricity lines 

provide a perch for potential predators.  However, there is a similar situation on the 

site itself.  NRW considers the mitigation measure to be acceptable, and I agree.  The 
concerns expressed by the RSPB are focussed on the need for additional detail to 

inform an effective management plan which can be secured through the 

recommended conditions. 

271. In response to concerns that invertebrates may lay their eggs on the solar panels 

mistaking them for a body of water, the applicant has demonstrated that the key 
invertebrate species that are on site do not include species, such as mayflies, that lay 

eggs on open water surfaces.  Moreover, the aluminium frames of the panels would 

be likely to avoid this risk.  Whilst concern has been raised at the danger of birds 
striking the panels there is no compelling evidence to suggest that would pose a 

significant risk to local populations63. 

272. The removal of sections of hedgerows within the application site and the Lapwing 

Compensation Land would result in the loss of habitat suitable for dormouse 

commuting/foraging.  In response to a concern raised by NRW64 the applicant 

 
62 Doc A21 
63 ES, para 12.9.8 
64 NRW letter dated 7 December 2020 

Tudalen y pecyn 99



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    47 

commissioned a Dormouse Mitigation Strategy65 for this compensation land which 

supplements the Ecological Impact Assessment66.  The internal hedgerows within this 

land are suboptimal for dormice and it is proposed that peripheral hedgerows would 
be enhanced to improve connectivity across the land.  A dormice survey of the 

application site revealed low numbers, but the survey did not extend to the 

compensation land and, whilst their presence is considered unlikely, the precautionary 
principle has been adopted and presence assumed.  The strategy describes the 

approach that would be undertaken to carrying out and thereafter monitoring the 

works.  NRW has confirmed that the approach taken is satisfactory.  I agree, noting 

that if dormice are present the developer would require a European Protected Species 
(EPS) licence from NRW before proceeding, which provides effective protection.  This 

would also be the case in the event that any other EPS was found during the course of 

the works.  

273. The scheme incorporates elements designed to minimise impacts on features of 

nature conservation value, for instance minimising new tracks and avoiding reens and 
utilising existing watercourse crossing points.  The spaces to be provided between and 

underneath the solar panels would permit grasses to grow and support low-intensity 

sheep grazing.   

274. As the method of construction would require careful control to minimise any adverse 

ecological impacts the role of a CEMP and a LEMP, which would be secured by 
conditions, are particularly important.  They would effectively identify periods when 

certain works cannot take place, for instance the removal of hedgerows during the 

bird nesting season, as well as identifying details that would need to be agreed before 
any works can commence.   

275. In addition to the ecological benefits that I have already identified, including those 

arising from the enhancement, maintenance and management of the drains, reens 

and grasslands, the scheme would also provide the means of eradicating the 13 non-

native invasive species that have been identified on the site and which have a 
negative impact on biodiversity.  These are enhancements that would benefit the 

land- based and aquatic environments of the SSSIs and much of the species that 

depend upon these habitats.  Their timely delivery would be secured through the 

recommended conditions. 

276. For reasons set out in Annex B, Appropriate Assessment, I have found that the 
scheme would not affect the integrity of the sites that form part of the National Sites 

Network.  For the same reasons I am also satisfied that the integrity of the Ramsar 

site would not be affected.  Thus, the scheme aligns with criterion 3 of policy 18 of 

Future Wales.   

277. For reasons explained above I consider that the scheme would cause no unacceptable 
impacts on national statutory designated sites for nature conservation (and the 

features for which they have been designated), or protected habitats and species, 

thereby satisfying criterion 4 of Future Wales policy 18 and LDP policy GP5.  The 

measures beneficial to biodiversity that have been incorporated within the scheme 
and those that would be secured through the recommended conditions are significant, 

as is the extent to which conditions would avoid or mitigate any potential harmful 

impacts.  Accordingly, and mindful of the Section 6 duty67 I consider that, in line with 

 
65 Doc A13 
66 Doc A6 
67 Section 6 of The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 imposes an enhanced biodiversity 

Tudalen y pecyn 100



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    48 

criterion 5 of policy 18, the proposal includes biodiversity enhancement measures to 

provide a net ecological benefit.     

278. Several objectors raise concerns over the cumulative ecological impact of the scheme 

with other projects, including other large solar farms that have been developed or are 

in the pipeline within the SSSIs of the Gwent Levels.  However, given my findings on 
the positive impact of this proposal on the SSSIs and the distance separating it from 

any other solar farm, I consider that there would be no harmful cumulative effects.  

Some objectors suggest a need for a moratorium on further solar farms of the Gwent 
Levels but, as this is a matter for policy makers, it is outside the scope of this report. 

279. The importance of controlling the development through conditions to my finding on 

the scheme’s acceptability on this main consideration will be clear from the foregoing.  

Objectors have questioned the efficacy of such conditions and their long-term 

enforceability by the Council because of limited resources.  I shall deal with the 
enforceability in the section of my report on conditions.  With regard to the former 

concern, I am satisfied that the outstanding matters to be agreed prior to the 

discharge of certain conditions are ones of detail that would be considered within a 
framework which has been sufficiently established to demonstrate that conditions 

would be capable of safeguarding ecological interests.  The Council has confirmed that 

in discharging such conditions it would be advised by its own ecologist and NRW and 

any other specialist bodies that may be appropriate.  The applicant accepts that the 
scheme would not be able to proceed until such time as details sufficient to satisfy the 

Council have been provided.   

Habitat Regulations Assessment 

280. Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as 

amended, imposes a requirement to consider the potential effects of a proposed 

development on the National Site Network, in this case the Severn Estuary SAC and 
SPA.   

281. The application was accompanied by a Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment 

(sHRA) which has undergone several iterations as a result of advice received, 

particularly from NRW.  Contrary to the view expressed at hearing 2 the applicant has 

subsequently confirmed that it agrees with NRW that, as some likely significant 

effects can only be avoided through mitigation measures, it is necessary for the 
decision maker to undertake an Appropriate Assessment (AA).   

282. At Annex B I have set out an AA for the Welsh Ministers.  It is based on the sHRA, the 

advice of NRW including in its role as the statutory nature conservation body, and the 

comments received by other parties in response to the application.  The AA concludes 

that the scheme, either alone or in combination with other projects, would not have 
an adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC or the SPA. 

Flooding 

283. The flat, low-lying site and surrounding area is land reclaimed from the sea which is 

protected from tidal flooding by man-made sea defences.  It is therefore classed as 

zone C1 on the Development Advice Maps of TAN 15: Development and Flood Risk.  

284. PPW, at para 6.6.22, advises that planning authorities should adopt a precautionary 

approach of positive avoidance of development in areas at risk of flooding from the 

 
and resilience of ecosystems duty, and paras 6.4.5-6.4.9 of PPW expands on what is required 

Tudalen y pecyn 101



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    49 

sea or from rivers. Surface water flooding will affect choice of location and the layout 

and design of schemes and these factors should be considered at an early stage in 

formulating development proposals.   

285. TAN 15 provides more detail including, at paragraph 6.2, that only development that 

is not highly vulnerable should be permitted within zones C1 and C2 and only if it is 
justified in that location. Development will only be justified if it can be demonstrated 

that:  

i. its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority 

regeneration initiative or a local authority strategy required to sustain an 

existing settlement; or 

ii. its location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment objectives 
supported by the local authority, and other key partners, to sustain an existing 

settlement or region; and, 

iii. it concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously 

developed land; and,   

iv. the potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of 

development have been considered, and in terms of the criteria contained in 

sections 5 and 7 and appendix 1 found to be acceptable. 

286. There is no dispute that the scheme does not satisfy any of the first three of the 

above justification tests.  However, at paragraph 5.3 the TAN explains that some uses 
should be treated as exceptions to the general rule in relation to the vulnerability of 

uses to flooding.   These include boatyards, marinas, essential works required at 

mooring basins, and development associated with canals.  They are not subject to the 
first part of the justification test (as set out in i to iii above) but are subject to the 

acceptability of consequences part of the test (iv).   

287. In the Llanwern solar farm decision (application ref: 3150137) the Cabinet Secretary 

for Energy, Planning and Rural Affairs accepted the Inspector’s finding that the solar 

scheme under consideration fell within this exception.  As the cited site-specific 
considerations in that case – the availability and proximity to a grid connection, and 

the high number of hours of sunshine – apply here, I consider that there are robust 

reasons for locating the development within this zone as an exception to the first 3 

justification tests.  The Llanwern decision also established the Cabinet Secretary’s 
view that, in this context, solar farms should not be regarded as ‘power stations’ or as 

highly vulnerable development, and there is no reason not to follow that approach. 

288. In response to the fourth of the TAN15 justification tests, the application has been 

accompanied by a Flood Consequences Assessment which has been supplemented by 

an addendum68.  The assessment includes modelling data which predicts the increase 
in sea level over the lifetime of the project.  To withstand any significant flooding 

incident the scheme proposes to elevate all the solar panels, battery storage units and 

other apparatus above the predicted sea water flood level.  As the uplift would be 
achieved by the use of supporting legs, the site’s storage capacity of flood water or its 

flow across the site would not be materially affected.  Inundation speeds from a 

breach of sea defences would not be rapid and would not represent an unacceptable 
risk to site workers.   

 
68 Doc A8 

Tudalen y pecyn 102



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    50 

289. Local residents attest to incidents of flooding in the area, and aerial photographs have 

been provided showing flood waters in December 202069.  It is evident that this 

flooding is caused by surface water when, during prolonged periods of wet weather, 
the capacity of the drainage system is exceeded and localised pooling of water occurs.  

This is an issue unrelated to the risk of sea defence flooding.  Although it can cause 

problems to local residents, property owners and highway users it would not occur to 
a depth similar to that which has been modelled in the FCA in the event that the sea 

defence is breached.  Such localised flooding is of course a more likely occurrence and 

may restrict construction activities for short periods.  There are measures proposed to 

ensure that such incidents would not impact on the operation of the solar farm.   

290. I am satisfied that the proposal would not exacerbate localised flooding.  The solar 
panels would be installed with expansion joints which would allow water to drain 

through these gaps.  As the water would fall on land which would be grassed and 

lightly grazed run-off rates can be expected to be lower than is presently the case.  

The clearing of vegetation and silt from the reens and ditches, some of which are in 
significant need of such work, would also improve the drainage system.   

291. For the foregoing reasons I conclude that the scheme is consistent with flood risk 

policy set out in PPW and TAN15.  It follows that it is also consistent with LDP policy 

SP3.  As the scheme has been designed to withstand the predicted climate change 

effects on flooding, and demonstrates that the risk and consequences of flooding 
could be acceptably managed, it complies with LDP policy GP1. 

Traffic and Highway Safety 

292. The only proposed access to the site for construction traffic is on to Broadway on the 

western boundary of the site.  The application as submitted identified 2 routes to the 

site from the M4 motorway for HGVs.  The main route involves approaching the site 

from the west, utilising the B4239 road from Lamby Way on the eastern outskirts of 
Cardiff.  The second route, which was identified as necessary only for abnormal loads, 

was proposed via Marshfield to the north of the site.  During hearing 3 the applicant 

accepted that the requirement to accommodate abnormal vehicles was a legacy of a 

previous iteration of the project which had included wind turbines.  It was confirmed 
that the application scheme does not require the transportation of abnormal loads, 

and therefore all HGV would use the western route. 

293. The clarification of the HGV route means that the draft Construction Traffic 

Management Plan would need to be revised.  In agreeing a Traffic Management Plan 

(TMP) the Council would have the opportunity to pursue the detailed matters that 
cause it concern, for instance undertaking a road condition analysis pre- and post-

construction so that any damage to the highway that may be caused can be 

identified. 

294. The timing of the construction work would require careful planning to align with 

various constraints.  Whilst such considerations and the need to avoid periods when 
the site is particularly wet, may restrict on-site operations, the applicant is confident 

that such considerations would have limited impact on the transportation plan.  That 

plan identifies a period of 12 weeks with the greatest volume of traffic expected in 
weeks 8 and 9 when 23 daily HGV movements are estimated, which equate to  3 

movements per hour.  It is accepted that this period might need to be extended, but 

in doing so the daily volume of traffic would reduce. 

 
69 Doc IP16 

Tudalen y pecyn 103



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    51 

295. During hearing 3 the applicant confirmed that the traffic movement figures did not 

include the transportation of 160 battery containers.  These could be undertaken 

concurrently with the transportation of the panels or afterwards.  This would be a 
detail to be agreed and incorporated in the TMP required by condition. 

296. There would inevitably be some disruption to local traffic during this period.  

Nonetheless the use of appropriate traffic management regimes, as is commonplace 

with schemes of this nature, would minimise any difficulties.  The affected road 

network is not heavily trafficked and whilst there would be a degree of inconvenience 
to users, this would be relatively short lived.  Concerns are expressed regarding the 

proximity of deep drainage ditches to the carriageway and the associated serious 

accidents that have happened.  However, the presence of additional HGVs on these 
roads, which are wide enough to allow vehicles to pass, would not jeopardise the 

safety of highway users nor would it exceed the capacity of the road network.  The 

access for construction traffic would meet the appropriate standards in relation to 

visibility splays based on the measured speed of traffic70 and on-site parking would be 
a requirement secured by condition.  It would thus accord with LDP policy GP4.    

Benefits of the Scheme 

297. The scheme is estimated to produce sufficient energy to power up to 32,525 homes71 

over its operational lifespan and to displace some 53,750 tonnes of CO2 a year and 

2,150,000 tonnes over the life of the scheme72.  This represents a substantial 

contribution to the production of energy from a renewable resource and to the 
reduction in greenhouse gas emissions.  Such a contribution is significant in the 

context of the Welsh Government targets and its commitment to address the climate 

emergency. 

298. The battery storage facility provided by the proposed container units would ensure 

that the supply of energy generated by the panels can be controlled to reduce the 
miss-match between peak demand and supply.  The benefits of an increased use of 

energy storage to provide a balance in this respect is recognised in PPW.   

299. Future Wales policy 17 confirms Welsh Government’s strong support to the principle 

of developing renewable and low carbon energy from all technologies and at all scales 

to meet our future energy needs.  It explains that in determining planning 

applications for renewable and low carbon energy development, decision‑makers must 

give significant weight to the need to meet Wales’ international commitments and 
Welsh Government’s target to generate 70% of consumed electricity by renewable 

means by 2030 in order to combat the climate emergency.  Whilst some objectors 

question the value of the scheme’s contribution to the nation’s renewable energy 

production there is no certainty in their suggestion that targets would be met without 
the development of the site. 

  Other Considerations 

300. In addition to the above main considerations, numerous other concerns have been 

raised, the main ones are addressed below. 

 
70 Doc A2 
71 Doc A17 
72 These figures are set out in the Planning Statement.  The applicant has subsequently revised 

down the estimate of the electricity generated from an output sufficient to power 37,500 homes 
to 32,525 homes.  It follows that the CO2 figures should be adjusted by a similar proportion.  

Tudalen y pecyn 104



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    52 

Site location, selection and alternatives 

301. The application site has been chosen because of a combination of reasons73 including 

the high number of sunshine hours; that the agricultural land is not classified as ‘best 

and most versatile’; its owners are willing to release land for the proposed 

development; and, the availability of a sufficiently large site to allow the economies of 
scale which would make a scheme viable.  The essential attribute of the site, and the 

one which ties it to the immediate area, is its proximity to 132 kV power lines with 

the capacity to accept the electricity which would be generated.   

302. In accordance with LDP policy CE10 the site search process first considered the 

availability of previously developed land but as those identified as available were 
advertised for commercial use they were deemed to be economically unviable.  The 

physical capacity constraints of available rooftops means that they are not a viable 

alternative to the scale of the development proposed. 

303. The land has been shown not to be the best and most versatile land and is thus 

outside the protective provisions of PPW in relation to agricultural land. 

304. The site lies in an area classed as countryside in the LDP and where new development 
is strictly controlled.  As the proposal is one which is appropriate in the countryside, 

and would respect in scale and design the landscape character and biodiversity of the 

area, it would comply with LDP Policy SP5.   

305. In the context of LDP policy CE9 I consider that the generation of a significant amount 

of renewable energy would be a considerable benefit and could be described as an 
exceptional need.  Although in a C1 flood zone the proposed development would not 

be at risk itself nor exacerbate risks from erosion, flooding or land instability.  As the 

application has established that the proposed development would be required in this 

coastal location to meet an exceptional need which cannot reasonably be 
accommodated elsewhere it would be consistent with policy CE9.   

306. The ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment’ was a study into the potential 

for low carbon energy within the areas of Newport and Torfaen councils.  It was not 

intended to be used to assess individual planning applications for stand-alone 

renewable energy generating systems and thus carries little weight in the 
consideration of this case.   

307. As there are no over-riding environmental or amenity considerations the proposed 

solar farm can be considered favourably, consistent with LDP Policy CE10.  This policy 

also states that large scale proposals may be more appropriately located outside 

defined settlement boundaries if no appropriate brownfield sites exist, criteria which 
are both met in this instance. 

Glint and Glare 

308. As Chapter 14 of the ES makes clear the intensity of reflection from panels is 
relatively low given that they are designed to absorb light, and the reflection would be 

experienced at the same time as direct sunlight.  It concluded that, as there would be 

no significant impact, there was no requirement for mitigation.  Both the original and 

revised Glint and Glare (G&G) studies identify only a modest potential impact on 
nearby residents.  The original study does not take into account the screening effect 

of existing vegetation and identifies a moderate impact.  It suggests in one passage 

 
73 Applicant’s Site Selection Sequential Test. 

Tudalen y pecyn 105



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    53 

that consideration should be given to the potential for additional screening and, in 

another, that mitigation should be implemented.  However, Appendix F of the same 

document explains that only in circumstances where solar reflection would last for 
more than 60 minutes a day for more than 3 months should mitigation be 

implemented.   

309. The revised Study takes into account the presence of existing screening but, I agree 

with objectors, that the continued presence of some of that vegetation cannot be 

relied upon especially given the likelihood that drainage management routines may 
remove vegetation that presently provide some screening.  Both versions identify 5 

dwellings that would experience some reflected light from the panels.  It would occur 

only when weather conditions permit and would be relatively short lived, potentially 
lasting up to 15 minutes. The revised study estimates this to be 10 minutes because 

of the screening effect of vegetation.  The effect of reflected light, which cannot be 

mitigated in this instance, is likely to be readily visible to residents, particularly from 

first floor openings.  However, it would only be seen during bright clear days and 
would be short lived.  Such an effect would not give rise to unacceptable living 

conditions.   

310. Drivers would not be directly facing the reflected light and any views towards it would 

be towards the sun.  I have no reason to disagree with the assessment of the impact 

as low in relation to the 3 public highways that surround the site.   

311. The presence of hoods74 would protect the visibility of railway signal lights and for 
reasons explained in the study, any reflected light experienced by drivers would not 

affect their ability to perform their duties safely. Network Rail has been notified of the 

scheme and has offered no objections. 

312. There is no persuasive evidence to suggest that the safety of any aircraft, including a 

helicopter that may regularly cross the site, would be compromised.  Notwithstanding 
the deficiencies identified by objectors of the applicant’s assessment, I am satisfied 

that whilst some receptors would be exposed to the effect of reflected light, any such 

effect would not undermine safety nor would it unacceptably affect local residents. 

Residential Amenity 

313. In addition to the potential effects of reflected light and visual impact on the living 

conditions of local residents which I have already considered, concerns have been 

raised in relation to noise and disturbance.  The noise assessment establishes that 
there would be no material noise impact during the operational phase.  There would 

be some disturbance during the construction phase but the proposed CEMP provides a 

mechanism for avoiding any unacceptable impacts, including in terms of noise, dust, 

light pollution and flooding, thereby complying with LDP policies GP2 and GP7.  There 
is no evidence that the scheme would lead to any other impacts on the health of local 

residents while concerns over devaluation of property is not material to a planning 

decision.    

314. The applicant explains that the developer would be obliged to ensure the safe 

installation of all apparatus to satisfy insurance requirements.  There is no evidence to 
suggest that the scheme would lead to increased crime in the locality whilst on site 

security would be a matter for the developer.  There is no evidence that any effects 

 
74 Applicant’s photographs of hoods  

Tudalen y pecyn 106



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    54 

on local businesses is such that it would lead to a harmful impact on the local 

economy.  

The Living Levels Landscape Partnership 

315. The Living Levels Partnership Area extends over the Gwent Levels.  Its broad aims 

include: to restore, enhance and celebrate the natural heritage of the Levels; and to 

improve connectivity of the landscape to enhance community and visitor experiences 
and develop the Gwent Levels as a destination. For reasons already set out I have 

found that the landscape, ecology and historic features of the area would not be 

harmed.  It follows that the proposed development would not be contrary to any of 

those objectives or that it would be detrimental to the initiative as a whole. 

Community benefit 

316. Several objectors are critical that the scheme would not benefit the local community. 

Future Wales policy 17 seeks that proposals describe the benefits the scheme would 
bring in terms of social, economic, environmental and cultural improvements to local 

communities.  The applicant has explained75, with reference to the experience gained 

of a nearby solar farm, how the project would provide a range of employment 
opportunities as well as wider opportunities for spin-off benefits.  

317. The applicant has offered Wentlooge Community Council a financial contribution 

towards local community projects which it explains would be secured via a legal 

agreement in parallel to but outside the planning process. There is no reference of 

any offer being made to the Marshfield Community Council whose administrative 
boundary lies close to the application site. 

318. The Government targets for renewable energy includes one gigawatt of renewable 

energy capacity to be locally owned by 2030 and for new renewable energy projects 

to have at least an element of local ownership from 202076.  PPW77 explains that local 

benefits can be justified as mitigation of development impacts through the planning 
process, noting that developers may offer benefits not directly related to the planning 

process.   In this case the applicant has explained why a community ownership 

scheme is not a practical option but rather is proposing a community benefit fund.  As 

there is no suggestion that the contribution would be required to mitigate any impact 
of the scheme on the community no obligation seeking to secure such a contribution 

has been sought given that it would not meet the tests that section 106 planning 

obligations should meet78.   

Temporary 

319. The applicant explains that current economic considerations are such that the project 

requires a 40-year operational lifespan to be financially viable.  In line with PPW79 

conditions would be imposed to control the decommissioning phase of the project to 
ensure that the land was restored to an agreed condition.  Whilst the impact of most 

of the work on the site would be reversible some impacts, such as on localised soil 

layers and archaeological remains, would not be temporary effects.  The effects on 
the ecology of the area that would be secured through enhancement measures and 

 
75 Doc A12 
76 Page 96 of Future Wales 
77 Para 5.9.26 
78 Welsh Office Circular 13/97: Planning Obligations 
79 Para 5.9.30, PPW 

Tudalen y pecyn 107



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    55 

future management can be expected to leave a positive legacy.  Concerns have been 

expressed that the development would not prove to be temporary, or that it would be 

replaced by other development.  Planning permission would be required to realise 
either scenario and any such application would be determined against the 

development plan policies and other circumstances prevailing at that time. 

Sustainability, placemaking and well-being 

320. Policy 17 of Future Wales includes an expectation that proposals should describe the 

net benefits it would bring in terms of social, economic, environmental and cultural 

improvements to local communities.  These are set out in the application, 

supplemented by Doc A15.  As the scheme would provide on-site transmission of 
electricity to the grid it aligns well with the aim set out in policy 17 of both minimising 

the visual impact on local communities of grid infrastructure and reducing the barriers 

to the implementation of new grid infrastructure. 

321. In reaching my recommendation I have taken into account the duty to improve the 

economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with 
the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The applicant has assessed80 the scheme against the 

7 well-being goals of the Act.  Taking these and the ways of working set out at section 
5 of the WBFG Act into account, I consider that my overall conclusions are in 

accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution 

towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives set out as required 
by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

322. Concerns are expressed over the harmful impacts on the world’s resource of the 

production of the panels and the potential harm on carbon sequestration of the 

construction work.  However, the scheme has considered the use of materials and 

there is no persuasive evidence to demonstrate that such effects or the impact on the 
site would negate the scheme’s considerable contribution to reduce CO2 emissions. 

323. Taking into account the applicant’s assessment of the scheme against the 5 national 

sustainable placemaking objectives, as set out in Figure 5 of PPW, I consider that the 

scheme performs well against these measures.   

324. Policy 18 of Future Wales is of particular relevance in the determination of any DNS 

application for renewable energy developments.  All save one of its 11 criteria have 

already been considered under the main or other considerations above, including 
where appropriate, in respect of any cumulative impacts with existing and consented 

renewable energy schemes.  The remaining criterion, which relates to operations of 

defence facilities and operations, is not relevant to this case. 

Conditions 

325. The Council’s revised suggested list of conditions81 formed the basis of discussion at 

hearing 3.  The applicant subsequently provided a list of suggested conditions agreed 

with the Council, NRW and GGAT and which, subject to minor refinements, are set in 
the list of recommended conditions in Annex A.  They meet the tests set out in 

Circular 16/14: The Use of Planning Conditions for Development Management and are 

all necessary, mostly to ensure that the development avoids, or where that is not 

 
80 Doc A15 
81 Doc A23 

Tudalen y pecyn 108



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    56 

possible, mitigates as far as is reasonable, the potentially harmful effects of the 

scheme.  Those effects and the scope to mitigate are for the most part identified in 

the ES and other documentary evidence or were otherwise discussed at the hearings. 

326. The standard approved plans condition has been amended.  To ensure that the 

scheme can provide a secure supply of electricity to the grid, thereby maximising the 
renewable energy benefits of the project, it is reasonable to provide the option to the 

developer of installing a second grid connection within the application site.  The 

applicant has explained82 that it is very likely that the second grid connection would 
be required but considers that this situation may change as a result of technical 

investigations and commercial decisions prior to construction. 

327. The potential impacts of this second grid connection has been fully assessed by the 

applicant as part of the October 2020 additional information83.  Thus, the second grid 

connection is included in the list of approved plans and is subject to a requirement 
that the developer confirms with the Council which grid connection option it is 

implementing prior to commencing work.  

328. To ensure that the site is properly restored at the end of its 40-year lifetime the 

approval and implementation of decommissioning works is sought, with a requirement 

that such works are undertaken earlier should the solar farm permanently cease to 
operate prematurely.  The approval and implementation of a CEMP and a LEMP are 

required.  These would control the construction work and thereafter the site’s 

management.  A Traffic Management Plan is also to be agreed and would control HGV 
movements during construction and a road condition survey is to be agreed before 

development commences.  The battery storage units, telecommunication tower, CCTV 

and transformer units, grid connection hub and the position of tracks and reen 

crossings, and surface water management are to conform to details that are required 
to agreed.  Tree felling is controlled and there shall be no external lighting of the site.  

A programme of archaeological work shall have been secured before work starts.  The 

reasons for imposing each of the recommended conditions are summarised in the 
Annex and, in most cases, have already been described in this appraisal. 

329. As the noise evidence does not indicate that any disturbance would occur and there is 

no reason to believe that any part of the land is contaminated, the Council accepted 

that its originally suggested conditions controlling these matters are not necessary.  It 

also accepted that the requirements of other conditions it had suggested are covered 
within the scope of the conditions that are recommended.  I have considered those 

other matters which representors have suggested should be covered by condition but, 

as they would not meet the Circular tests, they have not been recommended. 

330. Concerns have been expressed over the extent to which detailed matters are to be 

addressed by the mechanism for discharging conditions.  The applicant confirmed that 
much of that detail would be a matter for a prospective developer, who has not yet 

been identified, to provide.  Whilst these conditions are crucially important in avoiding 

potentially significant harms, I am satisfied that the details sought would not alter the 

scheme in such a way as would prejudice the interests of any party.  The matters to 
be addressed are for the most part detailed and technical in nature and as such fall 

within the specialism of those that would be consulted by the Council to ensure that 

they are acceptable. 

 
82 Doc A17 
83 Doc A2 

Tudalen y pecyn 109



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    57 

331. Some objectors have questioned whether the Council would have the resources to 

adequately monitor compliance with the conditions, especially those that would have 

effect for the lifetime of the permission.  As the conditions in question set out clearly 
what is required and are enforceable, I consider it reasonable to expect that the 

Council would undertake its duties effectively in seeking to discharge the conditions 

and thereafter to monitor compliance.  

Planning Balance and Overall Conclusion 

332. The scheme would give rise to harm to the character of the LOHI.  The greatest 

impact would be to the Maerdy HLCA.  Taking into account the relatively localised 

nature of the impact and that it would be largely reversible, but also mindful that it 
would be experienced by residents and visitors for a considerable period of time, I 

afford this harm moderate weight.   

333. There would also be harm to the green wedge by reason of its conflict with local and 

national policy that affords protection against inappropriate development.  This harm 

would be time limited albeit for a significant period and its effect would not undermine 
any of the purposes of green wedge designation.  Against this context I have found 

that the renewable energy benefits constitute very exceptional circumstances such 

that the scheme is green wedge policy compliant. 

334. The site lies within a national statutory nature conservation designation and close to 

international designations, and is within local landscape, archaeological and coastal 
designations, and in C1 flood risk zone.  I have found that the scheme’s impact in 

relation to these designations would be acceptable in all respects, subject to the 

controls that would be required by the recommended planning conditions.  The 
conditions would secure enhancements to important ecological features and would 

ensure that none of the other matters raised in objection to the proposal weigh 

appreciably against the scheme. 

335. None of my findings in relation to the foregoing matters are materially altered by the 

inclusion of the proposed battery container units and the secondary grid connection 
within the project, noting that the former is the subject of a separate consent 

application and the latter is dealt with by the recommended conditions. 

336. The main benefit arising from the scheme would be its contribution to the production 

of renewable energy and consequential reduction in CO2 emissions.  The on-site 

storage of power generated from the panels provides benefits in terms controlling the 
rate of flow to the grid, enabling the peaks and flows of production to be evened out 

so as to align better with consumption.  The scheme would also provide local 

economic and employment benefits. 

337. I afford these benefits considerable weight in the light of the support for such 

contributions in policies 17 and 18 of Future Wales which sets out Welsh 
Government’s approach to promoting the increased production of renewable energy in 

a way that seeks to strike an appropriate balance with the protection of other relevant 

interests.  As Future Wales is the most recently adopted part of the development plan 

and contains the most directly relevant policy to renewable energy projects of 
national significance, and given that the conflicts that I have identified with the LDP 

are relatively minor, I conclude that the proposal complies with the development plan. 

Tudalen y pecyn 110



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    58 

Recommendations 

338. That planning permission be granted for both the main application and the secondary 

consent application, subject to the conditions attached at Annex A. 

 

Hywel Wyn Jones 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

ANNEX A – Schedule of Recommended Conditions for both Applications 

 

1) The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 

2) Subject to the requirements of other conditions attached to this permission the 
proposal shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans:  

• Drawing 429574/01E Site Location Plan  

• Drawing 429574/02F Site Layout Plan OR 429574/02G pursuant to the 

requirements of Condition 3 of this planning permission  

• Drawing 429574/04D Field Numbering Plan  

• Drawing 1045592/07 Typical Details – Sheet 1  

• Drawing 1045592/08 Typical Details – Sheet 2  

• Drawing 429574/09 transformer station  

Reason: to comply with Paragraph 4.16 of Welsh Government Circular 016/2014 

(Conditions).  

3) The development will be built in accordance with either Plan 429574/02F or 

429574/02G. The plan selected for implementation will be confirmed in writing 

with the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the proposed 

development.  

Reason: To facilitate the effective distribution of electricity from the site to the 

national grid and for the avoidance of doubt as to the option that is implemented. 

4) Prior to their installation details of materials, colour, position, foundations, 
supporting structures, finished levels and elevations of the battery storage units, 

grid connection hub/s, telecommunication tower, CCTV and transformer units 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The finished levels shall be in accord with the recommendations of the Flood 

Consequences Assessment v2, dated 20 March 2020.  The storage units and 

equipment shall be finished in accordance with the approved details.   

Tudalen y pecyn 111



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    59 

Reason: to reduce the risk of flooding to the development, protect visual 

amenity, the special and historic landscape character and to limit ground 

intrusion in the interests of archaeology, in accordance with policies SP4, SP5, 
SP7, SP8, SP9, GP5, GP6, CE4 and CE6 of the Newport Local Development Plan 

2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

5) The permission hereby granted shall expire 40 years from the date when 
electrical power is first exported (‘first export date’) from the solar farm to the 

electricity grid network, excluding electricity exported during initial testing and 

commissioning. Written confirmation of the first export date shall be provided to 

the Local Planning Authority no later than one calendar month after the event.  

Reason: the proposed scheme has a 40 year lifespan and its temporary nature, in 

part, justifies its visual impact on the special and historic landscape character, in 

accordance with policies SP5, SP7, SP8, SP9, GP5, CE4 and CE6 of the Newport 
Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

6) No development shall commence until a Construction and Environmental 

Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Construction and Environmental Management Plan shall 

set out details of all on-site construction works; post-construction reinstatement; 

drainage; mitigation; and other restoration, together with details of their 

timetabling. It shall include details of, and measures to secure:  

a) the phasing of construction works;  

b) the formation and position of the temporary construction compounds; 

c) contractor and operational on-site vehicle parking;  

d) dust management and suppression;  

e) cleaning of site entrance, facilities for wheel washing and cleaning the 

adjacent public highway;  

f) pollution control, including the protection of water courses and ground 

water; subsoil surface water drainage; bunding and siting of fuel storage 

areas; sewage and foul water drainage and disposal; and emergency 

procedures and pollution response plans;  

g) temporary site illumination during the construction period, including 

specification and duration of security lighting required at site compounds;   

h) the methods to be adopted to reduce the effects of noise occurring during 
the construction period to the lowest practicable levels and in accordance 

with BS 5228: Noise control on construction and open sites;  

i) storage of materials and disposal of surplus materials;  

j) access tracks and other areas of hardstanding, including areas of temporary 
road matting;  

k) the carrying out of foundation works, including the foundation of the solar 

arrays and any other structures to be installed on the site;  

l) method of working cable trenches, including soil storage and back-filling; 

and details of cable boring methodologies below reens / ditches / other 

water courses and below hedges;  

m)general soil storage and handling;  

Tudalen y pecyn 112



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    60 

n) post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas, including 

all ridge and furrow topography, cable trenches and area covered by any 

matting or other areas where the soil has been disturbed or compressed;  

o) the sheeting of all heavy goods vehicles construction materials to, or spoil 

from, the site to prevent spillage or deposit of any materials on the 

highway; 

p) details of the vehicles to be used on the site during construction activities 

and measures to be taken to prevent vehicle damage during periods of soil 

saturation; 

q) details of control of surface water to prevent siltation of the reen drainage 
network;  

r) identification of buffer strips adjacent to water courses or retained 

vegetation features such as hedges or trees and sites where birds are 
nesting;  

s) means to exclude small animals from excavations;  

t) the re-instatement of headland drainage pipes, where necessary, prior to or 
during construction;  

u) cable trenches to avoid intercepting any headland drainage pipes.   

The works shall proceed in full accordance with the agreed construction method 

statement.  

Reason: to protect the interests of the rural character of the area, the integrity 

and safety of the highway network and to protect the amenity of residents, 

ecological interests and to ensure the site is appropriately restored after 
construction, in accordance with policies SP9, GP2, GP4, GP5 and GP7 of the 

Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

7) No HGV shall access the site until details of a Traffic Management Plan (TMP) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

TMP shall include details of:  

•  Signage;  

•  The construction of all accesses into the site, the erection of any entrance 
gates and the creation and maintenance of associated visibility splays 

where relevant;  

•  Details of temporary traffic management measures, such as traffic lights;  

•  HGV routes and timings to avoid peak hour flows; and school drop off/pick 

up times;  

•  Means of preventing HGV traffic through the village of Marshfield.    

The works shall proceed in full accordance with the agreed construction method 
statement.  

Reason: to protect the integrity and safety of the highway network. In 

accordance with policy GP4 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 
(adopted January 2015). 

8) No external lighting shall be installed on site.   

Tudalen y pecyn 113



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    61 

Reason: to protect the rural character and biodiversity interests of the site, in 

accordance with policies SP5, SP9, GP2, GP5, GP7 and CE4 of the Newport Local 

Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

9) No development shall commence until a Landscape and Environmental 

Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The LEMP shall set out details of the existing and 
proposed habitats, landscape and ecological features at the site. It will include 

details pertaining to the creation and management of these features and will 

include details relating to the following species and management plans:   

a. Dormice (referring to the hedgerow and scrub management proposals for 
dormice within the site and in the Lapwing Compensation Area referred 

to in the Dormouse Mitigation Strategy);  

b. Otters (referring to the principles set out in Otter Mitigation Strategy); 

c. Water Voles (referring to the principle set out in the Water Vole 

Mitigation Strategy); 

d. Lapwing Compensation Area; 

e. Management of reens and ditch habitats including scrub management 

along the banks; 

f. Management of buffer zones along the reens and ditches which shall 

include details of the implementation and maintenance of adequate 
buffers either side of watercourses (reens 12.5m and field ditches 7m); 

g. Shrill Carder Bee management plan, covering wildlflower grassland and 

habitat connectivity across the site; 

h. Cattle watering features; 

i. Management of species-rich grassland and grassland in fields with solar 

panels; 

j. The species to be used to plant up gaps in hedgerows and a specification 

of planting stock; 

k. Hedgerow removal proposals covering the following scope: 

i. Precise location of hedges to be removed  

ii. Removal methodology  

iii. Timing of removal 

iv. Mechanism to prevent disturbance to nesting birds and other fauna. 

l. Water quality monitoring plan & contingency plan: 

i. The Plan shall establish a pre-development one-year baseline and 

identify how monitoring shall proceed including a reporting schedule 

to the Council and the duration of the monitoring regime; 

ii. All monitoring reports shall have regard to the baseline assessment. 

In the event that significant reductions in water quality are 

identified through monitoring then the applicant or any successor in 
title shall provide a contingency plan to address the issue to the 

Council in writing. Any approved contingency plan and / or modified 

monitoring plan shall be implemented as agreed thereafter. 

Tudalen y pecyn 114



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    62 

m. Biosecurity Risk Assessment and Management Plan to include measures 

to control, remove or manage Water fern, Japanese knotweed, 

Himalayan balsam both during construction and operation. 

 

The information to include scaled maps and plans to show the feature’s position; 

condition to achieve; planting specifications and schedules (where these will 
apply).    

The LEMP shall include details of short and long-term management and 

monitoring of the site’s ecological features to ensure that the plan(s) is effective 

in achieving its intended objectives which will be clearly stated in respect of each 
habitat/species as appropriate.  It shall include details of potential contingency 

measures which shall be taken in the event that the monitoring identifies a 

failure to achieve the stated objectives. In this regard, the LEMP shall confirm 
details pertaining to: 

a) Details of the scheduling and timings of activities; 

b) Wildlife licensing requirements; 

c) Details of the measures that will be undertaken should any landscape or 

environmental features die, be removed, or become seriously damaged or 

diseased; 

d) Details of the remedial action that will be undertaken, in agreement with 
the LPA, in the event that long-term monitoring of the landscape, 

environmental and ecological features of the site reveals that these are 

declining against the established condition beyond year 5 of the 
development; 

e) Details of management and maintenance responsibilities; 

f) Details of timescales, length of the plan, provision for periodic reporting 
the effectiveness of the plan to the LPA, the method to review and update 

plans (informed by monitoring). 

The LEMP must be carried out in accordance with the approved details set out in 

the document or any other iterations approved by the LPA in the event that the 
proposed monitoring data suggests that specific changes are required.   

Reason: To ensure that the agreed ecological and environmental mitigation, 

compensation and enhancement is implemented and managed long-term, 
including for European Protected Species, Gwent Levels: St. Brides SSSI and 

Section 7 habitats and species, and in the interests of the special landscape 

character, in accordance with policies SP5, SP7, SP8, SP9 and GP5 of the 

Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

10) No trees shall be removed other than identified in the Arboricultural Impact 

Assessment (Savills, March 2020) and approved Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan,  unless subsequent surveying reveals a change in on-site 
conditions, in which case, the survey shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the felling of any additional trees. 

No tree shall be removed until it has been confirmed it does not contain nesting 
birds or a bat roost. 

Reason: to protect the ecological interests, protected species and the landscape 

character of the area. In accordance with policies SP5, SP7, SP8, SP9 and GP5 of 

the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

Tudalen y pecyn 115



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    63 

11) No development, to include demolition, shall take place until the implementation 

of a programme of archaeological work has been secured in accordance with a 

written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the programme 

of work will be fully carried out in accordance with the requirements and 

standards of the written scheme. 

Reason: To identify and record any features of archaeological interest discovered 

during the works, in order to mitigate the impact of the works on the 

archaeological resource within an Archaeologically Sensitive Area, in accordance 

with policies SP9 and CE6 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 
(adopted January 2015). 

12) No development shall commence until a road condition survey has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The survey 
shall identify any locations where the highway may be substandard; and jointly 

with the Council’s City Services set out a timetable for monitoring and/or repairs. 

The monitoring and/or repairs shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved timetable.  

Reason: To protect the integrity and safety of the highway network, in 

accordance with policy GP4 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 

(adopted January 2015). 

13) No tracks or reen crossings shall be constructed on the site until details of their 

locations and construction methods have been provided in writing to the Local 

Planning Authority. Following the Local Planning Authority’s written agreement 
any tracks shall be constructed fully in accordance with the agreed details. 

Reason: to ensure any tracks and reen crossings are constructed in a fully 

reversible way and to protect the ecological interests, protected species and the 
landscape character of the area, in accordance with policies SP5, SP7, SP8, SP9 

and GP5 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 

2015). 

14) No later than 12 months before the expiry of this permission, a decommissioning 
and site restoration scheme shall be submitted for the written approval of the 

Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall make provision for the removal of the 

solar panels and all other associated equipment and paraphernalia and the 
subsequent restoration of the site. The scheme shall include details of: 

• the extent of equipment and foundation removal and the site restoration to 

be carried out;   

• the management and timing of any works; 

• a traffic management plan to address likely traffic impact issues during the 

decommissioning period;   

• an environmental management plan to include details of measures to be 
taken during the decommissioning period to protect wildlife, habitats and 

tree features on the site;   

• identification of access routes;   

• location of material laydown areas;   

• full details of the removal of the solar arrays, associated buildings and 

plant, any trackways and sub-surface cabling and all associated works of 

ground restoration including trench backfilling;   

Tudalen y pecyn 116



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    64 

• full details of all works to restore the land to allow for agricultural 

production following the removal of structures from the site;   

• a programme of implementation. 

The approved scheme will reference a baseline topographical survey to be 

completed prior to construction. The decommissioning shall be implemented 

within 6 months of the expiry of this permission and then proceed fully in 
accordance with the agreed details in accordance with the decommissioning 

programme. 

Reason: to ensure the site is fully restored and to maintain the rural appearance 

of the area, in accordance with policies SP5, SP7, SP8, SP9 and GP5 of the 
Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

15) If the solar farm hereby permitted fails to produce electricity for supply to the 

grid for a continuous period of 6 months, a scheme shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for its written approval within 3 months of the end of 

that 6 month period for the repair or removal of the solar farm.  

Where repairs or replacements of more than 1800 panels in a 90 day period are 
to be undertaken, the scheme shall include a proposed programme of remedial or 

replacement works to be agreed in writing with the LPA. Where removal of the 

solar farm is required the scheme shall include the same details required under 

the decommissioning condition of this permission. The relevant scheme shall 
thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 

timetable. 

Reason: To ensure that the replacement of components is appropriately 
controlled and to ensure the solar farm beneficially generates electricity or is 

otherwise removed to the benefit of the character and appearance of the area, in 

accordance with policies SP5, SP7, SP8, SP9 and GP5 of the Newport Local 
Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015). 

16) No development shall commence until a surface water management scheme has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Surface water drainage shall be disposed of in accordance with the approved 
details.  

Reason: To prevent increased surface water run-off and the potential for localised 

flooding, in accordance with SP3 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-
2026 (adopted January 2015). 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 117



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    65 

ANNEX B – Appropriate Assessment 

Preliminary Matters 

1. The purpose of this Annex is to report on the impacts of the scheme on the Severn 

Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) and the Severn Estuary Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC).  It takes the form of an Appropriate Assessment (AA) for 
consideration by the Welsh Ministers in their role as the competent authority and has 

been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 63 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended.  In light of the 
requirements of Regulation 63(3) in carrying out my assessment I have had regard to 

the comments of Natural Resources Wales (NRW) in its letters dated 21 August 2020 

and 7 December 2020 and its specific advice set out in its latest letter of 29 January 
2021. 

2. The application was accompanied by a shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment 

(sHRA) which has subsequently been revised. The latest iteration is dated January 

2021 and referenced 0475-sHRA-MW. 

3. The sHRA does not explicitly refer to the jointly agreed conservation objectives for the 

cross-border Severn Estuary European Marine Site (EMS). The objectives are fully set 

out in section 4 of the Severn Estuary SAC, SPA and Ramsar Site: Regulation 33 
Advice from CCW and Natural England, June 2009 document.  As NRW confirms, this 

omission of the full objectives does not have implications on the applicant’s 

assessment or findings.  My assessment has had regard to the conservation 
objectives as set out in the Severn Estuary / Môr Hafren EMS, which sets out the 

conservation objectives in greater detail and with specific reference to conditions that 

are not included in the sHRA. 

Background 

4. The site lies in proximity to 2 sites that form part of the National Sites Network – the 

Severn Estuary SPA and the Severn Estuary SAC.  The sHRA describes both as lying 

within 500m of the site, although it is evident from the submitted drawings maps84 
that the SAC is some 2km distant.  The designated sites are connected to the site by 

the reen network that drains from the site into the sea.   

Likely Significant Effect 

5. The drainage network that connects the site to the protected areas gives rise to the 

potential for siltation/pollution to reach both these areas during construction and 

decommissioning which also gives rise to the potential effect on the European eel in 

the freshwater habitat.  A change in land management has the potential to affect 
qualifying features of the Severn Estuary SPA.  The final potential effect that has been 

examined is the possible change in species distribution found to be functionally linked 

to the SPA. These effects arise from the project alone and in-combination with other 
projects. 

6. The sHRA assesses the risk of significant effect to the SPA as low in terms of silt and 

dust contaminants entering the air and reen system and indirectly into the estuary 

during construction.  It also identifies a risk from a change in land management from 

the present sheep and cattle grazing to future mowing and/or sheep grazing which 

 
84 Appendix 11.1. of ES and Appendix 1 to sHRA 

Tudalen y pecyn 118



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    66 

could result in the loss of foraging areas for some qualifying species at high tide.  

Disturbance during construction work and a reduction in winter foraging has the 

potential to change SPA species distributions. 

7. In relation to the SAC a risk of significant effect is identified in relation to the impacts 

of development, where there is a low risk of silt, dust or chemical pollution 
contaminants entering the air and reen system and indirectly into the estuary during 

construction and decommissioning only. This may affect European eel while in 

freshwater habitats of reens and ditches within the application site, as well as 
qualifying habitats within the estuary.  Other risks identified are of water pollution 

with a potential for minor silt or fuel pollution or herbicides via the reen network 

feeding into estuary impacting SAC qualifying features including European eel. 

8. NRW agrees with the sHRA’s screening test of likely significant effects as set out 

above.  It also considers that there is a risk (in-combination) from the change in land 
management and loss of habitat (of potentially supporting land to the SPA) with other 

relevant projects.  

9. The sHRA identifies the potential that the SPA’s assemblage feature could be impacted 

solely on the presence of >1% of the assemblage’s feature being represented by 

lapwing.  In terms of potential cumulative impact, the sHRA explains that it was not 
possible to fully assess the in-combination effects with the Rush Wall Solar Farm 

scheme in the absence of an ES.  It acknowledges that as it would result in the 

change in the use of a further 100 ha of coastal grazing marsh on the Gwent Levels it 
may affect qualifying or assemblage species of the Severn Estuary protected sites. 

10. Given that there is not complete information to provide a thorough assessment an 

adverse effect cannot be ruled out in relation to the loss of habitat to numbers of 

wintering lapwing, as part of the assemblage.  I concur with the advice of NRW that in 

such circumstances the precautionary principle should be applied, and an adverse 
effect presumed.  I will therefore take these considerations forward to Appropriate 

Assessment.  In doing so, and as advised by NRW I have had regard to the jointly 

agreed conservation objectives for the cross-border Severn Estuary European Marine 

Site. The objectives are fully set out in section 4 of the Severn Estuary SAC, SPA and 
Ramsar Site: Regulation 33 Advice from CCW and Natural England, June 2009 

document. 

Appropriate Assessment 

11. Taking into account all of the identified likely significant effects together with the 

proposed mitigation measures, including the design of the proposed layout and the 

planning conditions that have been recommended, I find that the scheme would cause 

no adverse effect on any internationally protected sites. These mitigation measures 
include the provision of buffer zones to watercourses, the implementation of a water 

quality monitoring programme, a Construction and Environmental Management Plan, 

a Landscape Environment Management Plan and a decommissioning and restoration 
scheme.  Any potential adverse effects in relation to the loss of habitat on the 

numbers of wintering lapwing can be acceptably mitigated by the implementation and 

management of the proposed Lapwing Compensation Land. 

12. The above findings align with the advice of NRW.  Other parties disagree.  The Council 

is concerned that there is insufficient information to assess the impact on local 
overwintering lapwing population.  Others share such concerns and also question the 

efficacy of the suggested conditions and have concerns over their implementation and 

enforcement.   

Tudalen y pecyn 119



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    67 

13. At the hearing the applicant explained that the requirements contained in the 

suggested conditions, such as pollution control measures, were standard practice in 

schemes of this nature.  Specialist contractors were accustomed to carrying out their 
work in a responsible manner to avoid unacceptable impacts on the sensitive 

environment of the site and the wider area.   

14. The Council confirmed at the hearing that it had relevant experience of discharging 

similar conditions in relation to a comparable solar farm scheme presently under 

construction in its area.  It also confirmed that when seeking to agree the additional 
details sought by the conditions it would call on specialist advice, including NRW and 

its own specialist officers when necessary.  I consider that the suite of measures 

proposed to mitigate any harmful effect on the SAC and SPA can be relied upon to be 
effective.  The Council would be in a position to secure the additional information it 

seeks, to ensure that harmful effects are avoided.  It is reasonable to assume that the 

conditions’ requirements will be complied with and monitored effectively, particularly 

given the potentially serious environmental consequences of not doing so in these 
circumstances.   

15. I have taken into account all the available evidence, including the concerns raised by 

those who oppose the scheme, and I have adopted the precautionary principle in 

carrying out my assessment.  I conclude that it is beyond reasonable scientific doubt 

that the scheme, either alone or in combination with other projects, would not have 
an adverse effect on the integrity of the 2 sites that form part of the National Sites 

Network, namely the Severn Estuary SPA and the Severn Estuary SAC.  This 

conclusion is predicated on securing the identified mitigation measures through the 
imposition of the recommended planning conditions. 

Recommendation 

16. For the reasons given above, and having had regard to all other matters raised, I 
recommend that this report be accepted as an Appropriate Assessment which 

complies with the requirements of Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017, as amended. 

 

Hywel Wyn Jones 

INSPECTOR 

Tudalen y pecyn 120



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    68 

ANNEX C: APPEARANCES 

Hearing 1: Character and appearance of the area 

FOR THE APPLICANT: 

Peter Grubb BSc(Hons) MSc MRTPI  Director, Savills  

Nick Beddoe BA(Hons) MSc MRTPI  Savills  

Lee Morris BSc(Hons) MA CMLI WYG / Tetratech 

Dr Paula Jones BA MA PhD Heritage Collective UK 

James Meek BA(Hons) MCIA Heritage Collective UK 

OTHER PARTICIPANTS: 

Gail Parkhouse BSc(Hons) MSc Senior Planning Officer, Newport City Council 

Anton Falaleev BSc MSc Landscape Architect, Newport City Council 

Neil Maylan Cadw 

Judith Doyle BA MBA MCIfA Glamorgan Gwent-Archaeological Trust 

Rob Dunning Glamorgan Gwent-Archaeological Trust 

Robert Hepworth CPRW 

Cllr Brian Miles Wentlooge Community Council 

Cllr Linda Southworth-Stevens Marshfield Community Council 

Dr Catherine Linstrum FoGL 

Dr Diana Callaghan FoGL 

 

Hearing 2: Ecology 

FOR THE APPLICANT: 

Peter Grubb BSc(Hons) MSc MRTPI  Director, Savills  

Nick Beddoe BA(Hons) MSc MRTPI  Savills  

Jon Garner BSc MCIEEM GE Consulting 

Kerri Watson BSc MCIEEM GE Consulting 

David Boyce BSc(Hons) Invertebrate Specialist 

OTHER PARTICIPANTS: 

Gail Parkhouse BSc(Hons) MSc Senior Planning Officer, Newport City Council 

Anton Falaleev BSc MSc Landscape Architect, Newport City Council 

Tudalen y pecyn 121



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    69 

Sali Palmer BSc(Hons) MSc 
MCIEEM ALGE 

Ecology Officer, Newport City Council 

James Davies Senior Adviser, NRW 

Dr Kerry Murton Conservation Officer, NRW 

Tamarind Falk  Environment (Water) Officer, NRW 

Mike Webb BSc MSc MRTPI Gwent Wildlife Trust 

Dr Stephanie Tyler Gwent Ornithological Society 

Cllr Brian Miles Wentlooge Community Council 

Cllr Linda Southworth-Stevens Marshfield Community Council 

Dr Catherine Linstrum FoGL 

Dr Diana Callaghan FoGL 

 

Hearing 3: Flooding, highway safety and transportation, and conditions 

FOR THE APPLICANT: 

Peter Grubb BSc(Hons) MSc MRTPI  Director, Savills  

Nick Beddoe BA(Hons) MSc MRTPI  Savills  

Clive Onions BSc MICE FICE 

FCIWEM 

Hydrologist  

Tim Bright BSc MSc Vectos 

David Boyce BSc(Hons) Invertebrate Specialist 

OTHER PARTICIPANTS: 

Gail Parkhouse BSc(Hons) MSc Senior Planning Officer, Newport City Council 

Anna Griffiths MBA BEng(Hons) Senior Traffic Transport & Development Officer, 

Newport City Council 

Anton Falaleev BSc MSc Landscape Architect, Newport City Council 

James Davies  Senior Advisor, NRW  

Sandra Wells Senior Species Officer, NRW 

Cllr Brian Miles Wentlooge Community Council 

Cllr Linda Southworth-Stevens Marshfield Community Council 

Dr Catherine Linstrum FoGL 

Dr Diana Callaghan FoGL 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 122



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    70 

ANNEX D: DOCUMENTS 

Documents submitted by applicant after application submission 

A1 Addendum to Consultation Report 

A2 Response to formal request for additional information under Regulation 

15(2) of the DNS (Wales) Regulations, including Appendices A to F 

A3 Desk Based Heritage Assessment and Figures to replace the Heritage 
Statement previously submitted as Appendix 9.1 of ES 

A4 Revised ES Chapter 9 (Heritage and Archaeology) 

A5 Outline Construction and Environmental Management Plan 

A6 Ecological Impact Assessment of the Lapwing Compensation Land 

A7 Revised Shadow HRA 

A8 Technical Note (V3.) to be read as an Addendum to the submitted Flood 

Consequences Assessment (Appendix 13.1 of the ES) 

A9 Addendum to the LVIA 

A10 Alternative Site layout Plan – Drawing No 429574/02G 

A11 Revised sHRA October 2020 

A12 NDF statement letter 

A13 Ecological Compensation Land, Dormouse Mitigation Strategy, December 

2020 

A14 Hearing Statement 

A15 Statement on Well-being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

A16 Revised sHRAs, Dec 2020 and Jan 2021 

A17 Statement of Clarifications, including transformer station details 

A18 Comment on red line boundary 

A19 Photographs of railway signal lights  

A20 Shrill Carder Bee note 

A21 Shrill Carder Bee Mitigation and Enhancements Strategy, February 2021 and 

associated email exchange with NRW 

A22 Revised Glint and Glare Assessment 

A23 Proposed conditions as agreed with the Council, NRW and GGAT 

A24 Applicant’s comments on February 2021 changes to national planning policy 

Note: Docs A2-A11 above comprise ‘October 2020 Bundle’ of Additional Information 

  Docs A12-A16 submitted after the ‘bundle’ and prior to hearings 

  Docs A17-A24 submitted during or post-hearings 

Tudalen y pecyn 123



Report DNS/3216558   

 

 

    71 

 

Documents submitted by interested parties after initial application consultation 

and publicity period 

IP1 Council’s extracts of LDP policies and SPG documents 

Responses to Applicant’s October 2020 Bundle: 

IP2 GGAT 

IP3 The Coal Authority 

IP4 Local Residents 

IP5 Cadw  

IP6 Amity Planning Consultants on behalf of local resident 

IP7 CPRW 

IP8 FoGL 

IP9 NRW 

IP10 Gwent Wildlife Trust  

IP11 RSPB Cymru 

IP12 Wentlooge CC 

Hearing Statements: 

IP13 Council’s hearing statements – Landscaping, Ecology and Conditions 

IP14 Gwent Wildlife Trust 

IP15 FoGL hearing statement 

IP16 FoGL Additional Statement on Flooding and attachments 

Interested Parties’ Documents – presented during or post-hearings 

IP17 NRW Appropriate Assessment Advice 

IP18 FoGL response to transformer station 

IP19 FoGL response to Glint and Glare Assessment 

IP20 Wentlooge CC response to Glint and Glare Assessment 

IP21 CPRW’s comments on February 2021 changes to national planning policy 

IP22 FoGL’s comments on February 2021 changes to national planning policy 

IP23 Gwent Wildlife Trust’s comments on February 2021 changes to national 

planning policy 

IP24 Wentlooge CC’s comments on February 2021 changes to national planning 

policy 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 124



Lesley Griffiths AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r 
Trefnydd 
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref qA1437022 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
E-mail:   
 
 
 

10 September 2021 
 
Dear  
 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 – SECTION 62D AND SECTION 62F. 
THE DEVELOPMENTS OF NATIONAL SIGNIFICANCE (WALES) REGULATIONS 2016. 
APPLICATION BY WENTLOOGE FARMERS’ SOLAR SCHEME LIMITED FOR ERECTION 
OF A RENEWABLE ENERGY HUB COMPRISING GROUND MOUNTED SOLAR PANELS, 
BATTERY STORAGE UNITS (160 UNITS) WITH A COMBINED INISTALLED 
GENERATING CAPACITY OF UP TO 125MW, UNDERGROUND CABLING, GRID 
CONNECTION HUB, ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE, LANDSCAPING AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ENHANCEMENTS FOR A TEMPORARY PERIOD OF 40 YEARS.   
LAND ON THE WENTLOOGE LEVELS TO THE WEST OF HAWSE LANE, NEAR 
MARSHFIELD, NEWPORT. 
APPLICATION REF: DNS/3216558 
 
 
1. Consideration has been given to the report of the Inspector, Hywel Wyn Jones BA 

(Hons) BTP MRTPI who held hearings to examine the planning application. 
 
2. In accordance with sections 62D and 62F of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

and Regulation 3 of The Developments of National Significance (Specified Criteria and 
Prescribed Secondary Consents) (Wales) Regulations 2016, the application was made 
to the Welsh Ministers for determination. 

 
3. In exercising functions, as part of carrying out Sustainable Development in accordance 

with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ("the FG Act 2015"), 
section 2 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 requires the Welsh Ministers, as a public 
body, to ensure the development and use of land contributes towards improving the 
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. In order to act in this 
manner, the Welsh Ministers have taken into account the ways of working set out in 

Tudalen y pecyn 125



section 4 of 'SPSF1: Core Guidance, Shared Purpose: Shared Future- Statutory 
Guidance on the Future Generations Act 2015' by dealing with the planning application 
by way of the Hearings procedure in accordance with Part 7 of The Developments of 
National Significance (Wales) Regulations 2016. 

 
4. The Inspector held Hearings on 19, 20 and 21 January 2021 and made a site visit on 

29 January 2021.  The Inspector recommends planning permission be granted subject 
to conditions.  A copy of the Inspector’s report ("IR”) is enclosed.  All references to 
paragraph numbers, unless otherwise stated, relate to the IR.   

 
Main Considerations 

 
5. I agree the main considerations are those listed at IR 189: 
 

(i) The effect on the green wedge, specifically:  
 

a. whether the development is inappropriate development within the green 
wedge for the purpose of local and national planning policy;  

 
b. the effect of the scheme on the openness of the green wedge and the 

purposes of including land within it;  
 

c. if the scheme is inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason 
of inappropriateness, together with any other harm to the green wedge, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations, so as to amount to the very 
exceptional circumstances necessary to justify the harm to the green 
wedge;  

 
(ii) the effect on the landscape character and visual amenity of the area;  
 
(iii) the effect on the historic landscape;  
 
(iv) the effect on the ecology of the area, particularly the special features of the 

designated Sites of Special Scientific Interest (“SSSI”) and protected species;  
 
(v) whether the proposed development is acceptable within a floodplain, having 

regard to local and national planning policy;  
 
(vi) the effect on traffic flows and highway safety, particularly during the 

construction phase; and 
 
(vii) whether any harm identified in relation to the foregoing and any other 

considerations is outweighed by the benefits of the scheme, particularly its 
contribution to renewable energy generation and combating the climate 
change emergency. 

 
Green Wedge 

 
6. The site is located within a green wedge.  The Inspector notes that Planning Policy 

Wales (“PPW”) provides a general presumption against development which is 
inappropriate in relation to the purposes of the designation. Certain forms of 
development, including renewable and low carbon energy generation, may be 
appropriate in the green wedge ‘provided they preserve its openness and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it’. (IR 190-192) 

 
Tudalen y pecyn 126



7. Policy SP7 “Green Wedges” of the Newport Local Development Plan (“LDP”) explains 
that its green wedges have been identified to prevent the coalescence of settlements, 
in this case Newport and Cardiff, and seeks to prevent development which prejudices 
the open nature of land.  The Inspector notes the courts have held that the concept of 
openness is not limited to the visual aspect but also includes a spatial dimension.  The 
Inspector considers that the presence of the proposed structures and apparatus on the 
ground would materially reduce the sense of openness that is a particular feature of 
the Levels landscape in this area. (IR 193-196) 

 
8. The Inspector considers the proposed solar arrays would retain an appearance that is 

more commonly associated with a countryside setting rather than an urban one. 
Therefore, the Inspector states the scheme would not contribute to the coalescence of 
settlements or significantly erode the rural character of the area, or otherwise 
undermine the stated purposes of the green wedge, and there would be no conflict 
with the purpose of the designation.  However, the scheme’s harmful effect on 
openness means it constitutes inappropriate development, in conflict with LDP policy 
SP7.  PPW sets out a presumption against inappropriate development in green 
wedges - it states that inappropriate development should not be granted planning 
permission except in very exceptional circumstances where other considerations 
clearly outweigh the harm which such development would do to the green wedge.  
Given the protective provisions of local and national policy, the Inspector affords this 
harm significant weight.  (IR 197-198) 

 
9. The Inspector considers, in the absence of suitable alternative sites, the scale of the 

benefits from the proposal clearly outweigh the identified harm to the green wedge, 
such that very exceptional circumstances exist to justify permitting this inappropriate 
development in the green wedge. (IR 199-202) 

 
Landscape Character and Visual Amenity 

 
10. The application site falls with the Wentlooge Special Landscape Area (“SLA”) as 

designated in the LDP. The Inspector notes that PPW recognises the value of all 
landscapes for their distinctive character and seeks to protect their special qualities 
and ensure the opportunities they provide, including for wellbeing, tourism and 
renewable energy are taken into account. (IR 203) 

 
11. The Inspector is satisfied with the robustness of the Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment (“LVIA”) as a tool to assist the decision maker.  The LVIA has informed 
the Inspector’s appraisal of this main consideration alongside other representations 
and the Inspector’s site visit.  In assessing this main consideration, the Inspector has 
focussed mainly on the operational period of the project as any impact from the 
construction phase is likely to be relatively short-lived. (IR 204-207)  

 
Landscape Character 

 
12. The Inspector notes the proposed scheme would retain the site’s distinctive field 

pattern, the open expanse of primarily pastoral land, the distinctive pattern of reens 
and ditches, and its flat low lying landform which are all identified as distinctive 
landscape characteristics in the Gwent Levels Landscape Character Assessment in 
2017. It would also retain the landscape’s key qualities as identified in the same 
assessment. (IR 208-210) 

 
13. The Inspector acknowledges the development would be visible, particularly from close 

quarters, however, it would be seen in the context of the present field patterns that 
would continue to be framed by hedgerows and reeds that typify the landscape.  On 

Tudalen y pecyn 127



this matter, the Inspector notes whilst the presence of the development in the 
surrounding landscape would be clearly noticeable, it would not undermine its 
character. Any impact would reduce significantly with a relatively modest increase in 
distance from the site. (IR 211) 

 
Visual Amenity 

 
14. The Inspector notes that the development has sought to avoid or mitigate potential 

landscape impacts. The photovoltaic panels would be seen within the existing field 
pattern and enclosing vegetation. Existing field boundaries would be utilised to 
minimise the need to create new accessways and breaches of field boundaries. The 
battery storage units would be painted green to sit within the landscape. The 
application initially indicated that some additional landscaping could be undertaken to 
further screen parts of the development. It has subsequently been accepted that the 
scope for such screening is limited given the importance of ensuring that any 
additional landscape planting is consistent with the present nature of vegetation which 
contributes to the open landscape. (IR 212) 
 

15. The Inspector considers visual amenity in detail in IR 213-221 and has assessed 
impacts on receptors from a number of vantage points.  The Inspector notes that PPW 
advises that developers should, wherever possible, consider how to avoid, or 
otherwise minimise, adverse impacts through careful consideration of location, scale, 
design and other measures.  The Inspector is satisfied, when the scheme is 
considered in its entirety, that it is generally compliant with this policy advice. (IR 222) 

 
16. Regarding cumulative impacts, the concerns raised by objectors to the incremental 

impact of several large solar arrays on the Levels are noted by the Inspector, however, 
he considers the main effects of the scheme are on its immediate surroundings. The 
Inspector is satisfied there is sufficient separation distance between this scheme and 
all the other projects assessed, including non-solar developments, to ensure that there 
would be no unacceptable cumulative effects on landscape character or visual 
amenity. (IR 223) 

 
Conclusions on Landscape Character and Visual Amenity 

 
17. The Inspector finds the character and visual amenity of the landscape would not be 

significantly affected. The proposal would not have an unacceptable adverse impact 
on the surrounding landscape and, therefore, aligns with criterion 1 of Future Wales 
policy 18.  The Inspector considers the scheme would not conflict with policy CE10 
“Renewable Energy” of the LDP. (IR 224) 

 
18. The Inspector considers the scheme broadly accords with LDP policy SP5 

“Countryside” as it is an appropriate use in the countryside, respects landscape 
character and is appropriate in scale and design.  As its design shows a clear 
appreciation of the special features of the Special Landscape Area (“SLA”), and 
includes measures to protect and enhance those features, it aligns with LDP policy 
SP8 “Special Landscape Areas”. In line with LDP policy GP5 “General Development 
Principles – Natural Environment” the Inspector considers the proposed development 
would not lead to an unacceptable impact on landscape quality and, as it would not be 
detrimental to the character or appearance of the surrounding area, it would accord 
with LDP policy GP2 “General Development Principles – General Amenity”. (IR 225) 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 128



 
Historic Landscape 

 
19. PPW confirms that historic landscapes and archaeological remains can constitute 

historic assets, and explains that the planning system must take into account the 
Welsh Government’s objectives to protect, conserve, promote and enhance the 
historic environment as a resource for the general well-being of present and future 
generations. Among the specific objectives in this regard is to conserve archaeological 
remains, both for their own sake and for their role in education, leisure and the 
economy, and to protect areas on the register of historic landscapes in Wales. (IR 226) 

 
Designated Historic Assets 

 
20. The site lies with the Gwent Levels Historic Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest 

in Wales (“LOHI”). The LOHI consists of 21 character areas which reflect locally 
distinctive features. The site lies within 2 of these: Western St Brides (Historic 
Landscape Character Area (“HLCA”) 16) - ‘simpler landscape, laid out within a 
framework of elements surviving from the Roman landscape’; and Maerdy (HLCA 21) - 
‘Regular landscape of medieval/post-medieval date in low-lying back-fen’. It lies 
adjacent to the Llanbedr character area (HLCA 17). (IR 228) 

 
21. The Inspector notes the Western St Brides HLCA has suffered from modern 

disturbance of its landscape character through agricultural practices and the 
construction of a golf course and fishing lakes. The proposed solar farm lies on the 
western side of the area which is described as the least well-preserved part of the 
HLCA. The Maerdy HLCA has been impacted in recent times by agricultural practices 
and the railway line severing this part from the remainder of the HLCA. (IR 229) 

 
22. The effect of the proposal on the registered Historic Landscape is the subject of an 

Assessment of the Significance of Impact of Development on Historic Landscape of 
Historic Interest in Wales 2 (“ASIDOHL”). The Inspector notes it is the upstanding 
historic character remnants (drainage features, footbridges, hedgerow pattern etc.) 
that make the most significant contribution to the landscape value. (IR 230) 

 
23. The greatest impact is on Maerdy HLCA where considerable direct physical and 

indirect impacts have been identified which result in a severe impact on the overall 
significance of the HLCA. The overall significance of the impact on 3 other HLCAs, 
including Western St Brides and Llanbedr, are assessed as moderate with 3 others 
assessed as slight. Cadw agrees with the findings of the ASIDOHL. The ES describes 
an overall magnitude of direct impact as moderate and indirect impact as slight. 
However, these are derived from calculating the average score taking into account 
each of the HLCAs that would be affected which means that those HLCAs least 
affected reduce the overall impact score. At the hearing Cadw confirmed that it is the 
impact on individual HLCAs that provide the clearer understanding of impact. (IR 231) 

 
24. Recognising the importance of setting to the way that historic assets are understood, 

experienced and appreciated the applicant has assessed whether there would be any 
effects on the setting of any assets within the study area, which included 8 Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments (“SAM”) and 50 Listed Buildings, of which 4 are Grade I and 6 
Grade II*.  The approach taken is consistent with Technical Advice Note (“TAN”) 24: 
The Historic Environment and the related guidance produced by Cadw. (IR 232-233) 

 
25. Based on the Zone of Theoretical Visibility map the assessment concludes that the 

scheme is not capable of impacting on the setting of most designated assets in the 
study area. The assessment considers 3 Listed Buildings and 4 SAMs in more detail. It 

Tudalen y pecyn 129



concludes that there would be an effect on the setting of 2 assets: the Pen-y-Lan 
Camp Iron Age enclosure, a SAM; and, one Listed Building, the Grade II Gelli-ber 
Farmhouse, that have inter-visibility which could cause potential harm to their 
significance. The former is situated on a hilltop some 2.9km to the northwest of the 
site. Whilst the development would be visible it would be seen in an extensive view 
which includes many more prominent, modern, man-made features. Gelli-ber 
Farmhouse is within 1.3km of the site and at a similar elevation to the site. The extent 
of any visibility would thus be limited and seen in the context of the railway line and the 
pylons. (IR 234) 

 
26. The Inspector notes Cadw has confirmed it agrees with the applicant’s assessors that 

there would be no significant impact on any of the designated assets.  The Inspector, 
informed by the site visit, also agrees.  (IR 235) 

 
Archaeology 

 
27. The site is designated in the LDP as an Archaeologically Sensitive Area.  The 

Inspector outlines the findings of the applicant’s Desk Based Assessment (“DBA”) and 
notes the scheme would give rise to relatively modest levels of ground disturbance 
and proposes archaeological mitigation measures which would include controlling the 
nature and location of excavations and a watching brief targeted at areas of 
excavation for cable trenches.  Taking into account the need for the development and 
the importance of the potential archaeological resource, the Inspector considers this 
opportunity to preserve by record architectural features is consistent with PPW and 
TAN 24 “the historic environment”.  (IR 236-239). 

 
28. The Inspector notes the possibility that excavation works and driving screws into the 

ground to secure the panels could disturb anaerobic conditions and, therefore, the 
preservation of waterlogged remains within them.  However, the Inspector considers, 
in the context of the extensive Wentlooge Levels the impact would be small. (IR 240) 

 
29. The Inspector is satisfied an archaeological assessment has been undertaken in 

compliance with LDP Policy CE6 “Archaeology”, and it demonstrates, with suitable 
mitigation secured by the recommended conditions, the impact on the archaeology of 
the site is acceptable. (IR 241-242) 

 
30. Regarding registered historic landscapes, the Inspector considers as the scheme 

would not protect, conserve or enhance the Gwent Levels Landscape of Outstanding 
Historic Interest it is in conflict with LDP Policies SP9 and CE4 and is also in conflict 
with PPW which seeks to protect registered historic landscapes. Whilst the main 
impacts would be reversible, it would exist for 40 years. This is the equivalent of two 
generations, a significant period during which an appreciation of the outstanding 
historic quality of the landscape would be affected. Therefore, the Inspector considers 
this to represent a significant harmful impact albeit that in relation to the Gwent Levels 
the extent of that harm is relatively localised.  (IR 243) 

 
31. As the scheme would not have a materially detrimental impact on any other 

designated historic asset, save for its impact on the LOHI, the Inspector considers it 
would otherwise align with LDP Policy SP9 which seeks that proposed developments 
conserve, enhance and manage recognised historic sites. (IR 244) 
 
Ecology 

 
32. The Inspector notes that paragraph 6.4.3 of PPW identifies the planning system’s key 

role in helping to reverse the decline in biodiversity and increasing the resilience of 
Tudalen y pecyn 130



ecosystems at various scales by ensuring appropriate mechanisms would be in place 
to both protect against loss and to secure enhancement.  Policy 9 of Future Wales 
identifies the importance of enhancing biodiversity and the resilience of ecosystems. 
(IR 245) 

 
Designated Sites  

 
33. The vast majority of the site is undeveloped but is in active agricultural use. The whole 

of the site lies within the Gwent Levels St Brides SSSI and, to its west, it adjoins the 
Rumney and Peterstone SSSI within which the Lapwing Compensation Land lies. The 
Inspector notes that the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended by the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, places a duty on all public bodies (including 
Local Planning Authorities) to take reasonable steps to further the conservation and 
enhancement of the features by reason of which a SSSI is of special interest. The 
Inspector refers to guidance in PPW, which states that whilst statutory designation of a 
site does not necessarily prohibit development, it should be refused where there would 
be adverse impacts on the features for which a site has been designated. The 
Inspector notes that PPW states that there is a presumption against development 
likely to damage a SSSI. (IR 246) 

 
34. The Inspector notes the SSSI’s citation states the Gwent Levels are rich in plant 

species and communities, many of which are rare, and that the aquatic invertebrate 
fauna is very diverse with many nationally rare or notable species being present. (IR 
247) 

 
35. The Inspector notes the solar arrays and other apparatus would be sited on the 

grassland areas of the site, the grassland is generally species-poor and does not 
contain listed features of the SSSIs. In contrast, the vegetation within drainage ditches 
and adjacent areas that bound the fields is species-rich. This reen and ditch habitat is 
one of the special features of the SSSIs and provides a habitat for two of its special 
features: insects and other invertebrates; and the shrill carder bee. Other habitats that 
contribute to the special wildlife interest of the area include green lanes, hedgerows 
and flower-rich ditch banks which are important for a wide range of species. (IR 248) 

 
36. The Inspector notes that the scheme has been designed to minimise direct impact on 

the reen and ditch areas. Proposed trackways seek to utilise existing crossing points 
that link the fields.  However, where new crossings would be required for vehicles or 
for cables they would be controlled to ensure the functioning of the drainage network is 
not affected and any impact on the habitat it provides is minimised. (IR 249) 

 
37. The layout of the proposed solar arrays allows for buffer zones, which would 

effectively extend the reen and ditch habitat and would be subject to enhancement 
measures and long-term management. Mitigation measures would be included to 
avoid any impact on species, including dormice and nesting birds. (IR 250) 

 
38. The Inspector notes the proposed selective removal of vegetation and de-silting of the 

watercourses is part of good management practice, which benefits the functioning of 
the drainage system as well as the aquatic environment.  The Inspector considers that 
the extent of the improvements that could be secured through the scheme, in terms of 
its physical extent and 40-year time scale, would far exceed anything likely to 
otherwise be realised by other schemes. (IR 251) 

 
39. The enhancement of the reens and ditches forms part of a suite of proposed 

ecological improvements that would be secured by the Landscape and Environmental 
Management Plan (“LEMP”) which would control the development for the duration of 

Tudalen y pecyn 131



the project.  The Inspector states that the LEMP would provide a means of ensuring 
that a range of objectives would be met, including maintaining the favourable status of 
the notified features of the SSSI and enhancing connectivity within and across the site. 
(IR 252) 

 
40. Regarding water quality, the Inspector notes Natural Resources Wales (“NRW”) 

confirmed at the hearing that it does not share concerns of others over the potential for 
the scheme to give rise to plastic and metal pollution.  The Inspector has no reason to 
disagree with NRW on this issue and considers the scheme would allow soil structure 
to improve and grassland cover to be maintained to the benefit of rainwater 
management. (IR 253) 

 
41. The Inspector notes the applicant recognises activities during construction and 

decommissioning could result in accelerated surface water run-off with the potential for 
silt and pollutants to enter the drainage network. This would not only harm the special 
features of the SSSIs but also has the potential to impact on the Severn Estuary 
Special Area of Conservation (“SAC”) and Special Protection Area (“SPA”). The 
Inspector is satisfied that this can be controlled through good practice techniques, to 
be secured by condition. (IR 254) 

 
42. NRW commissioned a specialist ecohydrological impact assessment of the scheme 

which found, subject to adequate controls over the development, no significant 
hydrological impacts are identified including in terms of the water quality, land 
drainage or run-off rates. A water monitoring requirement would be part of the LEMP, 
to be secured by condition. (IR 255) 
 

43. Regarding concerns of soil compaction from the siting of battery storage containers, 
the Inspector notes siting and drainage details can be secured by condition. (IR 256) 

 
44. The Inspector notes the Lapwing Compensation Land, an area to the west of the site 

which would serve as an ecological mitigation area, will provide an opportunity to 
improve the habitat for the shrill carder bee and to return other features of the SSSI 
(reen and ditch habitats, aquatic invertebrates and other invertebrates) to a ‘favourable 
condition”.  (IR 257) 

 
45. The Inspector considers the scheme’s design, supplemented by detailed controls over 

its construction and future maintenance and management that would be secured by 
means of the recommended conditions, would ensure the improvement of the habitat 
of the affected SSSIs and their special interest plant species and invertebrates.  (IR 
258) 

 
46. Within some 500m of the site lies the Severn Estuary SPA and Ramsar site and the 

Severn Estuary SAC is approximately 2km from the site. The ‘qualifying interest 
features’ of the SPA are detailed within the ‘Regulation 33 Advice’ published by the 
Countryside Council for Wales and Natural England in 2009. These are noted to 
comprise a range of bird species within three ‘supporting habitats’: intertidal mudflats 
and sandflats, Saltmarsh and hard substrate habitats. For the SAC, the habitats types 
and species listed include an overarching “estuaries” feature within which subtidal 
sandbanks, intertidal mudflats and sandflats, Atlantic salt meadows and reefs and 3 
species of migratory fish are defined as both features in their own right and as sub-
features of the estuary feature. The qualifying interest features of the Severn Estuary 
Ramsar Site overlap with those of the Severn Estuary SPA and the SAC in order to 
facilitate the development of integrated objectives across the designations. (IR 259) 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 132



47. The Inspector is satisfied, with reference to the Habitats Regulations Assessment that 
accompanies the IR, providing suggested conditions are imposed, the scheme would 
not harm any of these internationally important sites. (IR 260) 

 
48. The Inspector notes within 3km of the site there are 6 non-statutory sites designated 

for their nature conservation value, a Gwent Wildlife Trust Reserve and 5 Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (“SINCs”). They have been included in the 
assessment, however, no significant effects are identified. (IR 261) 

 
Protected Species  

 
49. Surveys undertaken on and around the site have identified the presence of protected 

and priority species. (IR 262) 
 

50. The LEMP proposes a mitigation strategy to avoid, minimise and compensate for 
biodiversity loss and ensure a net gain for biodiversity. The Inspector notes NRW has 
confirmed it is satisfied with the information provided by the applicant in support of the 
application as supplemented by additional information, subject to the imposition of 
recommended conditions. (IR 262-266) 

 
51. The Inspector notes the siting of the solar arrays on the grassland raises particular 

concern in terms of the potential to impact on birds, most notably lapwing, and certain 
invertebrates, particularly the shrill carder bee. (IR 267) 

 
52. The shrill carder bee is a notified feature of both St Brides and the Rumney and 

Peterstone SSSIs and there are other aquatic and terrestrial invertebrates cited and 
recorded such that the invertebrate assemblage is of national importance. The local 
shrill carder bee population is also of national importance. It forages and nests on 
open, flower rich grassland. The Inspector notes that the grasslands on which the 
panels would be sited is currently not a valuable habitat, however there is concern that 
the scheme could cause damaging fragmentation of habitat. (IR 268) 

 
53. In response to NRW concerns, the applicant has provided additional information in the 

form of a Shrill Carder Bee Mitigation and Enhancements Strategy. NRW has 
confirmed it is satisfied there are measures which could be secured by condition to 
ensure there would be sufficient enhancement of the site’s habitat, including 
connectivity routes and the provision of wildflower belts on the periphery of fields, to 
avoid any negative impact. The Inspector states the same benefits can be expected to 
the brown-banded carder bee which is also a priority species listed under Section 7 of 
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. (IR 269) 

 
54. The scheme would result in the loss of some 39ha of open fields that would be 

suitable for foraging by wintering lapwing. To compensate for this loss the project 
proposes that hedgerows and trees would be removed, and grassland suitably 
managed to create an open area suitable for lapwing within the 22.1ha of off-site 
compensatory land, this would be secured by condition. NRW considers the mitigation 
measure to be acceptable, and the Inspector agrees. The Inspector notes the 
concerns expressed by the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds are focussed on 
the need for additional detail to inform an effective management plan which can be 
secured through the recommended conditions. (IR 270) 

 
55. The Inspector is satisfied that key invertebrate species on site do not include species 

which lay eggs on open water surfaces.  Also, the Inspector is content there is no 
compelling evidence that birds striking the panels would pose a significant risk to local 
populations. (IR 271) 

Tudalen y pecyn 133



 
56. The removal of sections of hedgerows within the application site and the Lapwing 

Compensation Land would result in the loss of habitat suitable for dormouse 
commuting/foraging.  The Inspector notes the Dormouse Mitigation Strategy describes 
an approach that would be undertaken to carrying out and thereafter monitoring the 
works.  The Inspector states NRW has confirmed that the approach taken is 
satisfactory. The Inspector agrees, noting that if dormice are present the developer 
would require a European Protected Species (“EPS”) licence from NRW before 
proceeding.  (IR 272) 

 
57. The Inspector notes that the Construction and Environmental Management Plan 

(“CEMP”) and the LEMP, which would be secured by condition, are important as a 
means of controlling the method of construction in order to minimise any adverse 
ecological impacts.  (IR 273-274). 

 
58. In addition to the ecological benefits already identified, the Inspector notes the scheme 

would also provide the means of eradicating 13 non-native invasive species that have 
been identified on the site and which have a negative impact on biodiversity. The 
Inspector considers these are enhancements which would benefit the land-based and 
aquatic environments of the SSSIs and much of the species that depend upon these 
habitats. (IR 275) 

 
59. With reference to the Appropriate Assessment (“AA”), the Inspector finds that the 

scheme would not affect the integrity of the sites that form part of the National Sites 
Network. For the same reasons, the Inspector is satisfied that the integrity of the 
Ramsar site would not be affected. Therefore, the Inspector considers the scheme 
aligns with criterion 3 of policy 18 of Future Wales. (IR 276) 

 
60. The Inspector considers the scheme would cause no unacceptable impacts on 

national statutory designated sites for nature conservation (and the features for which 
they have been designated), or protected habitats and species, thereby satisfying 
criterion 4 of Future Wales policy 18 and LDP policy GP5. The measures beneficial to 
biodiversity that have been incorporated within the scheme and those that would be 
secured through the recommended conditions are significant, as is the extent to which 
conditions would avoid or mitigate any potential harmful impacts. Accordingly, and 
mindful of the duty in section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, the Inspector 
considers that, in line with criterion 5 of policy 18, the proposal includes biodiversity 
enhancement measures to provide a net ecological benefit. (IR 277) 

 
61. The Inspector is satisfied there would be no harmful cumulative effects.  The Inspector 

recognises the importance of controlling the development through conditions.  The 
issue of enforceability of conditions is addressed later in the IR. (IR 278 - 279) 

 
Habitat Regulations Assessment 

 
62. The Inspector notes that regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 imposes a requirement to consider the potential effects of a 
proposed development on the National Site Network, in this case the Severn Estuary 
SAC and SPA.  As some likely significant effects can only be avoided through 
mitigation measures, it is necessary for the decision maker to undertake an AA.  (IR 
280-281)  

 
63. The Inspector has provided an AA for the Welsh Ministers.  It is based on the Shadow 

Habitats Regulations Assessment, the advice of NRW including in its role as the 
statutory nature conservation body, and the comments received by other parties in 

Tudalen y pecyn 134



response to the application. The AA concludes that the scheme, either alone or in 
combination with other projects, would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
the SAC or the SPA.  (IR 282) 

 
Flooding  

 
64. The site is located within zone C1 on the Development Advice Maps of TAN 15: 

Development and Flood Risk (“TAN 15”). (IR 283) 
 
65. The Inspector sets out the four justification tests in paragraph 6.2 of TAN 15 which 

relate to development in zone C1.  The Inspector notes the development fails to satisfy 
the first three justification tests.  However, paragraph 5.3 of TAN 15 explains that 
some uses should be treated as exceptions to the general rule in relation to the 
vulnerability of uses to flooding.  Such uses are not subject to the first part of the 
justification test (criterion i to iii) but are subject to the acceptability of consequences 
part of the test (criterion iv).  The Inspector notes the Welsh Ministers, in a previous 
Developments of National Significance decision, accepted that the Llanwern solar 
scheme fell within this exception and the same site-specific considerations - the 
availability and proximity to a grid connection, and the high number of hours of 
sunshine - also apply to this case.  Therefore, the Inspector considers there are robust 
reasons for locating the development within this zone as an exception to the first 3 
justification tests. (IR 284-287) 

 
66. The application is supported by a Flood Consequences Assessment, which addresses 

criterion (iv) of the TAN 15 justification test, the consequences of flooding.  The 
Inspector notes the scheme proposes elevating the solar panels, battery storage units 
and other apparatus above the predicted sea water flood level. The Inspector is 
satisfied as the uplift would be achieved by the use of supporting legs, the site’s 
storage capacity of flood water or its flow across the site would not be materially 
affected. Inundation speeds from a breach of sea defences would not be rapid and 
would not represent an unacceptable risk to site workers.  The Inspector is also 
satisfied that the scheme would not exacerbate localised flooding. (IR 288 – 290) 

 
67. The Inspector concludes the scheme is consistent with flood risk policy set out in 

PPW, TAN 15 and LDP policy SP3. As the scheme has been designed to withstand 
the predicted climate change effects on flooding and demonstrates that the risk and 
consequences of flooding could be acceptably managed the Inspector is satisfied 
complies with LDP policy GP1. (IR 291) 

 
Traffic and Highway Safety 

 
68. Regarding traffic and highway safety, the Inspector concludes there would inevitably 

be some disruption to local traffic during the construction period. However, appropriate 
traffic management would minimise any difficulties.  The affected road network is not 
heavily trafficked and whilst there would be a degree of inconvenience to users, this 
would be relatively short lived. Concerns are expressed regarding the proximity of 
deep drainage ditches to the carriageway and the associated serious accidents that 
have happened. However, the presence of additional Heavy Goods Vehicles on these 
roads, which are wide enough to allow vehicles to pass, would not jeopardise the 
safety of highway users nor would it exceed the capacity of the road network. The 
access for construction traffic would meet the appropriate standards in relation to 
visibility splays based on the measured speed of traffic and on-site parking would be a 
requirement secured by condition. The Inspector considers this would accord with LDP 
policy GP4, “General Development Principles – Highways and Accessibility”.  (IR 292-
296) 

Tudalen y pecyn 135



 
Benefits of the Scheme 

 
69. The Inspector notes that the scheme would provide a substantial contribution to the 

production of renewable energy, which is significant in the context of the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to address the climate emergency.   The battery storage 
facility would help to balance energy supply and demand, a benefit recognised by 
PPW.  (IR 297-298) 

 
70. The Inspector notes Future Wales policy 17 confirms the Welsh Government’s strong 

support to the principle of developing renewable and low carbon energy from all 
technologies and at all scales to meet our future energy needs. It explains in 
determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon energy development, 
decision-makers must give significant weight to the need to meet Wales’ international 
commitments and the Welsh Government’s target to generate 70% of consumed 
electricity by renewable means by 2030 in order to combat the climate emergency. 
Whilst some objectors question the value of the scheme’s contribution to the nation’s 
renewable energy production, the Inspector notes there is no certainty in their 
suggestion that targets would be met without the development of the site.  (IR 299) 

 
Other Considerations 

 
Site location, selection and alternatives 

 
71. The Inspector has addressed issues relating to site location, selection and alternatives 

and is satisfied brownfield sites were considered first although were economically 
unviable.   The site is not on ‘best and most versatile’ agricultural land, and the 
scheme comprises appropriate development in the countryside in accordance with 
LDP Policy SP5.   The Inspector considers the generation of a significant amount of 
renewable energy would be a considerable benefit and could be described as an 
exceptional need which cannot reasonably be accommodated elsewhere in the 
context of LDP Policy CE9, “Coastal Zone”, and is consistent with that policy. (IR 301-
305) 
 

72. The Inspector notes that the ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment’ was 
not intended to be used to assess individual planning applications for stand-alone 
renewable energy generating systems and carries little weight in the consideration of 
this case. (IR 306) 

 
73. The Inspector considers as there are no over-riding environmental or amenity 

considerations the proposed solar farm can be considered favourably, consistent with 
LDP Policy CE10 “Renewable Energy”. This policy also states that large scale 
proposals may be more appropriately located outside defined settlement boundaries if 
no appropriate brownfield sites exist, criteria which are both met in this instance. (IR 
307) 

 
Glint and Glare  

 
74. The Inspector notes that both the original and revised Glint and Glare studies identify 5 

dwellings that would experience some reflected light from the panels.  However, the 
Inspector considers this would only be seen during bright clear days and would be 
short lived. The Inspector considers such an effect would not give rise to unacceptable 
living conditions. (IR 308-309) 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 136



75. The Inspector has no reason to disagree with the assessment of the impact as low in 
relation to the three public highways that surround the site.  The presence of hoods 
would protect the visibility of railway signal lights and for reasons explained in the 
study, any reflected light experienced by drivers would not affect their ability to perform 
their duties safely. Network Rail has been notified of the scheme and has offered no 
objections.  The Inspector has not been presented with persuasive evidence to 
suggest that the safety of any aircraft, including a helicopter that may regularly cross 
the site, would be compromised. (IR 310-312) 

 
76. Notwithstanding the deficiencies identified by objectors of the applicant’s assessment, 

the Inspector is satisfied that whilst some receptors would be exposed to the effect of 
reflected light, any such effect would not undermine safety nor would it unacceptably 
affect local residents. (IR 312) 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
77. The Inspector notes the noise assessment establishes that there would be no material 

noise impact during the operational phase. The proposed CEMP would avoid any 
unacceptable impacts during construction phase.  The Inspector states there is no 
evidence the scheme would lead to any other impacts on the health of local residents 
while concerns over devaluation of property is not material to a planning decision. (IR 
313) 

 
78. The Inspector notes the safe installation of all apparatus will be required to satisfy 

insurance requirements. There is no evidence to suggest that the scheme would lead 
to increased crime in the locality.  Furthermore, on-site security would be a matter for 
the developer. The Inspector is satisfied there is no evidence that any effects would 
lead to a harmful impact on the local economy. (IR 314)  
 
The Living Levels Landscape Partnership 

 
79. The Inspector is satisfied the proposed development would not be detrimental to the 

Living Levels Partnership initiative. (IR 315) 
 

Community benefit 
 
80. The Inspector notes that Future Wales policy 17 seeks that proposals describe the 

benefits the scheme would bring in terms of social, economic, environmental and 
cultural improvements to local communities. The Inspector states that the applicant 
has explained, with reference to the experience gained of a nearby solar farm, how the 
project would provide a range of employment opportunities as well as wider 
opportunities for spin-off benefits. (IR 316) 

 
81. The Inspector states that the applicant has offered Wentlooge Community Council a 

financial contribution towards local community projects to be secured via a legal 
agreement in parallel to but outside the planning process. The Inspector notes there is 
no reference of any offer being made to the Marshfield Community Council whose 
administrative boundary lies close to the application site.  (IR 317) 

 
82. The Inspector notes that Welsh Government targets for renewable energy includes 

one gigawatt of renewable energy capacity to be locally owned by 2030 and for new 
renewable energy projects to have at least an element of local ownership from 2020. 
PPW explains that local benefits can be justified as mitigation of development impacts 
through the planning process, noting that developers may offer benefits not directly 
related to the planning process. In this case the applicant has explained why a 

Tudalen y pecyn 137



community ownership scheme is not a practical option and is proposing a community 
benefit fund instead.  As there is no suggestion the contribution would be required to 
mitigate any impact of the scheme on the community no obligation seeking to secure 
such a contribution has been sought given that it would not meet the tests that section 
106 planning obligations should meet. (IR 318) 

 
Temporary 

 
83. The Inspector notes the applicant explains current economic considerations mean the 

project requires a 40-year operational lifespan to be financially viable. Conditions are 
recommended which would control the decommissioning phase and secure land 
restoration. The Inspector considers that the effects on the ecology of the area that 
would be secured through enhancement measures and future management can be 
expected to leave a positive legacy. (IR 319) 

 
Sustainability, placemaking and well-being 

 
84. The Inspector considers the application and the applicant’s statement on the FG Act 

2015 describe the net benefits the scheme would bring in terms of social, economic, 
environmental and cultural improvements to local communities.  The Inspector notes 
that as the scheme would provide on-site transmission of electricity to the grid it aligns 
well with the aim set out in policy 17 of Future Wales of both minimising the visual 
impact on local communities of grid infrastructure and reducing the barriers to the 
implementation of new grid infrastructure. (IR 320) 

 
85. The Inspector has taken into account the duty under section 3 of the Well-being of FG 

Act 2015. (IR 321) 
 
86. The Inspector is satisfied the scheme has considered the use of materials and there is 

no persuasive evidence to demonstrate that such effects or the impact on the site 
would negate the scheme’s considerable contribution to reduce CO2 emissions. (IR 
322) 

 
87. The Inspector considers the scheme performs well against the placemaking objectives 

set out in PPW (IR 323) 
 
88. The Inspector states the IR has considered all relevant criteria under Policy 18 of 

Future Wales, noting that the criterion relating to operations of defence facilities and 
operations, is not relevant to this case. (IR 324) 

 
Conditions  

 
89. I am satisfied, subject to minor amendments, the conditions recommended by the 

Inspector meet the relevant tests in Circular 016/2014.  (IR 325-331) 
 

Planning Balance and Overall Conclusion 
 
90. The Inspector gives moderate weight to the harm to the character of the LOHI, noting 

the greatest impact would be to the Maerdy HLCA.  There would be harm to the green 
wedge, however, the Inspector finds that the renewable energy benefits constitute very 
exceptional circumstances so the scheme is compliant with green wedge policy. (IR 
332-333) 

 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 138



91. The Inspector notes the scheme is located within a national statutory nature 
conservation designation and close to international designations, is within local 
landscape, archaeological and coastal designations, and in C1 flood risk zone.  The 
Inspector finds that the scheme’s impact in relation to these designations would be 
acceptable in all respects, subject to the controls that would be required by the 
recommended planning conditions. The Inspector considers the conditions would 
secure enhancements to important ecological features and would ensure that none of 
the other matters raised in objection to the proposal weigh appreciably against the 
scheme. (IR 334) 

 
92. The Inspector notes that none of the findings in the IR are materially altered by the 

inclusion of the proposed battery container units and the secondary grid connection. 
(IR 335) 

 
93. The main benefit arising from the scheme would be its contribution to the production of 

renewable energy and consequential reduction in CO2 emissions. The on-site storage 
of power generated from the panels provides benefits in terms controlling the rate of 
flow to the grid, enabling the peaks and flows of production to be evened out so as to 
align better with consumption. The scheme would also provide local economic and 
employment benefits.  (IR 336)   

 
94. The Inspector affords these benefits considerable weight given the support for such 

contributions in policies 17 and 18 of Future Wales.  As Future Wales is the most 
recently adopted part of the development plan and contains the most directly relevant 
policy to renewable energy projects of national significance, and given that the 
conflicts identified with the LDP are relatively minor, the Inspector concludes that the 
proposal complies with the development plan. (IR 337) 

 
95. The Inspector recommends planning permission be granted for both the main 

application and the secondary consent application, subject to recommended 
conditions. (IR 338) 

 
Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment (Annex B of IR) 

 
96. The Inspector notes the application site lies in proximity to two sites which form part of 

the National Sites Network – the Severn Estuary SPA and the Severn Estuary SAC. The 
designated sites are connected to the site by the reen network that drains from the site 
into the sea. 

 
97. The Inspector identifies the likely significant effects from the development on the SPA 

and SAC and provides an AA in accordance with Regulation 63 of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended by the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019).   

 
98. The Inspector concludes it is beyond reasonable scientific doubt that the scheme, either 

alone or in combination with other projects, would not have an adverse effect on the 
integrity of the 2 sites which form part of the National Sites Network, namely the Severn 
Estuary SPA and the Severn Estuary SAC.  The Inspector notes that this conclusion is 
predicated on securing the identified mitigation measures through the imposition of the 
recommended planning conditions.    

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 139



Conclusion and Decision 
 
99. I am satisfied the Inspector has considered all relevant main considerations.  However, 

I have significant concerns regarding the impact of the proposal on the Gwent Levels 
LOHI.   
 

100. The Inspector considers the impact of the proposed development on the Gwent Levels 
LOHI in IR 228-244.  I note an ASIDOHL has been provided in support of the 
application. 

 
101. The ASIDOHL states within the Gwent Levels the landscape is divided into HCLAs, 

which provide further information regarding the specific historical values of the 
landscape at a more local level. The Site is located across two HLCAs, Western St. 
Brides (HLCA 16) and Maerdy (HLCA 21). 
 

102. With reference to the findings of the ASIDOHL, the Inspector notes the greatest impact 
is on Maerdy HLCA where the overall significance of impact on the HLCA is identified 
as severe.  The overall significance of the impact on 3 other HLCAs, including Western 
St Brides and Llanbedr, are assessed as moderate with 3 others assessed as slight. 
The Inspector notes Cadw agrees with the findings of the ASIDOHL. 

 
103. The Inspector notes Chapter 9 – Heritage and Archaeology of the ES calculates 

average scores for the magnitude of impact, combining the scores for each of the 
HLCA that would be affected,  which means that those HLCAs least affected reduce 
the overall impact score.  However, the Inspector states at the hearing Cadw 
confirmed it is the impact on individual HLCAs which provides the clearer 
understanding of impact.   
 

104. The Inspector concludes on this matter at IR 243.  As the scheme would not protect, 
conserve or enhance the Gwent Levels LOHI, the Inspector considers it is in conflict 
with LDP Policies SP9 “The Conservation, Enhancement and Management Of 
Recognised Sites Within The Natural, Historic and Built Environment Will Be Sought In 
All Proposals” and CE4 “ Sites Included In The Register Of Landscapes, Parks and 
Gardens Of Special Historic Interest and Identified Historic Battlefields Should Be 
Protected, Conserved, Enhanced and Where Appropriate, Restored. Attention Will 
Also Be Given To Their Setting”.  The Inspector also considers the proposal conflicts 
with paragraph 6.1.20 of PPW which seeks to protect areas on the register of historic 
landscapes.   

 
105. The Inspector’s planning balance and overall conclusions on the proposed 

development are provided in IR 332-337.  
 

106. I am satisfied, for the reasons given by the Inspector, the scheme complies with green 
wedge policy.  I note the site lies within a national statutory conservation designation 
and close to international designations, and is within local landscape, archaeological 
and coastal designations, and in a C1 flood risk zone.  I am content with the 
Inspector’s findings that the scheme’s impact in relation to these designations would 
be acceptable, subject to controls through planning conditions.  I am also satisfied the 
recommended planning conditions would secure biodiversity enhancements. 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 140



107. I acknowledge the scheme would contribute to the production of renewable energy 
and a consequential reduction in CO2 emissions and consider this to be a benefit of 
the proposal.  I agree with the Inspector that the on-site storage of power generated 
from the panels provides benefits in terms of controlling rates of flow to the grid, 
aligning production with consumption.  I also note the local economic and employment 
benefits the scheme would generate. 
 

108. I have considered the strong support in Future Wales and PPW for the principle of 
developing renewable and low carbon generation.  Policy 17 of Future Wales states, 
“The Welsh Government strongly supports the principle of developing renewable and 
low carbon energy from all technologies and at all scales to meet our future energy 
needs” and “In determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon energy 
development, decision-makers must give significant weight to the need to meet Wales’ 
international commitments and our target to generate 70% of consumed electricity by 
renewable means by 2030 in order to combat the climate emergency”. 
 

109. Policy 18 of Future Wales permits proposals for renewable and low carbon energy 
projects (including repowering) which qualify as Developments of National 
Significance, subject to 11 criteria and the considerations in Policy 17. 
 

110. I recognise the need for renewable energy in order to combat the climate emergency 
and I acknowledge the benefits the scheme would provide, particularly in terms of the 
production of renewable energy and its contribution to the reduction in CO2 emissions.  
However, I agree the scheme would give rise to harm to the character of the LOHI with 
the greatest impact to the Maerdy HLCA.   As the Inspector states at IR 243, whilst the 
main impacts would be reversible, it would exist for 40 years. This is the equivalent of 
two generations, a significant period during which an appreciation of the outstanding 
historic quality of the landscape would be affected.  I agree this is a significant harmful 
impact whilst recognising in relation to the Gwent Levels the extent of that harm is 
relatively localised.   
 

111. In the planning balance and overall conclusion, the Inspector affords this harm 
moderate weight.  However, I disagree.  I find the impact on the LOHI, in particular on 
the Maerdy HLCA, to comprise an unacceptable adverse impact on the landscape in 
relation to Policy 18 of Future Wales. 

 
112. Therefore, I find the proposed development fails to accord with Policy 18 (1) of Future 

Wales and LDP policies SP9 and CE4, the scheme also conflicts with paragraph 
6.1.20 of PPW.   
 

113. In making this decision I have given regard to section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to determine planning applications in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   

 
114. I acknowledge the benefits of the scheme, however, I am not convinced these benefits 

outweigh the identified conflict with the development plan and national planning policy.  
Therefore, for the reasons outlined, I refuse planning permission for both the main 
application and secondary consent application. 

 
115. In reaching this decision I note the duty to carry out sustainable development under 

section 2 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and I consider the decision accords with 
the sustainable development principle set out in the FG Act 2015.  In accordance with 
section 3(2) of the FG Act 2015 and the well-being objectives of the Welsh Ministers, 
the decision, by protecting the Gwent Levels LOHI, will contribute to the Welsh 

Tudalen y pecyn 141



Ministers’ well-being objective of making cities, towns and villages even better places 
in which to live. 
 

116. A copy of this letter has been sent to Newport City Council and to those persons and 
organisations appearing at the Hearings. 

 
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
 

Lesley Griffiths AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd 
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 142



 

 

 
www.senedd.cymru 

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament 
Ymchwil y Senedd |  Senedd Research 

 

Paratoi cais i Gymru gystadlu yng 
Nghystadleuaeth yr Eurovision 
Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 29 Tachwedd 2021 
Petitions Committee | 29 November 2021 

Cyfeirnod: SR21/1251-7 

Rhif y ddeiseb: P-06-1223 

Teitl y ddeiseb: Paratoi cais i Gymru gystadlu yng Nghystadleuaeth yr 
Eurovision 

Geiriad y ddeiseb: Mae Cymru yn adnabyddus drwy’r byd fel “Gwlad y Gân”, ac 
mae gennym ddiwylliant cyfoethog o gerddoriaeth a pherfformio sy’n cael ei 
gydnabod a’i ddathlu yn rhyngwladol.  Dylai Cymru gael y cyfle i gael ei 
chynrychioli yn yr Eurovision fel gwlad yn ei hun. Felly, galwn ar Lywodraeth 
Cymru i weithio gyda S4C a chyrff perthnasol eraill i baratoi cais i Gymru 
gystadlu yng Nghystadleuaeth yr Eurovision. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 143

Eitem 4.6



Title:  

2 

1. Y cefndir 

Mae gwefan Cystadleuaeth yr Eurovision yn egluro: 

All entries to the Eurovision Song Contest are selected by the 
Participating Broadcasters. These are the Member Broadcasters of the 
EBU that take part in the Eurovision Song Contest. 

Mae rhestr aelodaeth y EBU (yr Undeb Darlledu Ewropeaidd) ar gael ar wefan 
EBU. Yr aelodau o'r DU yw'r BBC, S4C, ITV a STV. Y BBC yw Darlledwr Cyfranogol y 
DU, ac felly y BBC sy’n cynnal y broses o ddewis cais y DU i'r gystadleuaeth.  

Mae ceisiadau o Gymru wedi’u cyflwyno i Gystadleuaeth Cân Eurovision Ifanc gan 
S4C, gan nad yw’r BBC yn cymryd rhan yn y gystadleuaeth honno. 

2. Camau gan Senedd Cymru 

Yn 2019 cynhaliodd Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu y Senedd 
flaenorol ymchwiliad i’r diwydiant cerddoriaeth fyw. Roedd yr ymchwiliad hwn yn 
cynnwys argymhelliad y: 

Dylai Llywodraeth Cymru, mewn cydweithrediad â’r diwydiant a 
rhanddeiliaid eraill, ddatblygu strategaeth gerddoriaeth. Dylai hyn 
gynnwys dull a brand clir ar gyfer cyflwyno cerddoriaeth o Gymru y tu 
allan i Gymru. 

Derbyniodd Llywodraeth Cymru yr argymhelliad hwn, gan ddweud y: 

Bydd Cymru Greadigol yn datblygu “Cynllun Gweithredu” Cymru gyfan 
yn hytrach na “Strategaeth” ar gyfer y Diwydiant Cerddoriaeth Fasnachol 
yng Nghymru.  Bydd yn adlewyrchu’r angen am gamau gweithredu 
tymor byr i gynorthwyo’r sector adfer o’r pandemig COVID-19 a 
chynlluniau tymor hwy er mwyn datblygu’r sector ar gyfer dyfodol 
cynaliadwy, mewn marchnad fyd-eang. Mae pandemig COVID-19 wedi 
atal y gwaith o ddatblygu’r cynllun hwn rhag cael ei wneud yn 
gynharach. Ond mae’r Grŵp Rhanddeiliaid Cerddoriaeth eisoes wedi’i 
ffurfio gyda’r bwriad o gynnig cyngor a syniadau a thynnu sylw at 
faterion sy’n flaenoriaeth i’r sector Cerddoriaeth yn ei gyfanrwydd. Mae’r 
grŵp rhanddeiliaid hwn wedi bod yn amhrisiadwy wrth helpu 
Llywodraeth Cymru i ddeall sut y mae’r pandemig yn effeithio ar 

Tudalen y pecyn 144

https://eurovision.tv/about/faq
https://www.ebu.ch/about/members
https://www.ebu.ch/about/members
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=25243
https://senedd.cymru/media/2phnmhwm/gen-ld14091-w.pdf


Teitl:  

3 

fusnesau a sut y gallwn gefnogi’r diwydiant yn well i adfer a thyfu. 
Byddwn yn datblygu dull o gefnogi’r brand yn rhyngwladol drwy’r 
cynllun gweithredu. 

3. Camau gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

Mae ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru i’r ddeiseb yn egluro: 

Mae Cymru Greadigol, fel corff mewnol Llywodraeth Cymru sy'n 
hyrwyddo'r diwydiannau creadigol yng Nghymru gan gynnwys y sector 
cerddoriaeth sy'n faes blaenoriaeth allweddol, wrthi'n datblygu cynllun 
gweithredu a arweinir gan y diwydiant ar gyfer cerddoriaeth fasnachol a 
bydd yn trafod gyda'r sector y posibilrwydd y bydd Cymru'n cystadlu pe 
bai'r sefyllfa gyda'r BBC yn newid byth. 

Gwneir pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth yn y papur briffio hwn yn 
gywir adeg ei gyhoeddi. Dylai darllenwyr fod yn ymwybodol nad yw’r 
papurau briffio hyn yn cael eu diweddaru o reidrwydd na’u diwygio fel arall 
i adlewyrchu newidiadau dilynol. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 145



Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 
Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport, and Chief Whip 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru         
  Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

9 Tachwedd 2021 

Eich cyf/Your ref P-06-1223 
Ein cyf/Our ref DB/10481/21 
Jack Sargeant AS 
Cadeirydd – Y Pwyllgor Deisebiadau 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 
 

Annwyl Jack 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 20 Hydref ynghylch paratoi cais i Gymru gystadlu yn yr 
Eurovision Song Contest.  

Caiff ceisiadau eu poblogi gan brif ddarlledwr gwasanaeth cyhoeddus pob gwlad. Ar gyfer y 
DU, y BBC ydyw. Felly, byddai angen i'r BBC dynnu'n ôl o fod yn ddarlledwr Eurovision y 
DU cyn y gellid caniatáu i Gymru gystadlu ohoni ei hun. Nid yw llywodraeth ddatganoledig 
yn golygu cyfranogi ar wahân.  

Mae Cymru Greadigol, fel corff mewnol Llywodraeth Cymru sy'n hyrwyddo'r diwydiannau 
creadigol yng Nghymru gan gynnwys y sector cerddoriaeth sy'n faes blaenoriaeth allweddol, 
wrthi'n datblygu cynllun gweithredu a arweinir gan y diwydiant ar gyfer cerddoriaeth 
fasnachol a bydd yn trafod gyda'r sector y posibilrwydd y bydd Cymru'n cystadlu pe bai'r 
sefyllfa gyda'r BBC yn newid byth. 

Yn gywir 

Dawn Bowden AS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip 

Tudalen y pecyn 146

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales


Tudalen y pecyn 147



P-06-1181 Mae treillio ar wely’r môr yn lladd ein bywyd gwyllt morol… 

Rhowch y gorau i chwalu’n moroedd! 

 

Cyflwynwyd y ddeiseb hon gan Robert Curtis, ar ôl casglu cyfanswm o 205 

lofnodion. 

 

Geiriad y ddeiseb:   

Mae’n peri sioc bod mwy na 97% o’n hardaloedd morol gwarchodedig – a 

grëwyd i ddiogelu cynefinoedd cefnforol – yn cael eu dinistrio trwy gael eu 

carthu a'u treillio ar wely’r môr. Yn ôl dadansoddiad o ddata cychod pysgota, 

mae treillio gwaelodol – sef y math mwyaf dinistriol o bysgota yng 

nghynefinoedd gwely’r môr – yn digwydd mewn 71 allan o 73 o ardaloedd 

morol gwarchodedig alltraeth ledled y DU. 

 

Rydym yn galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i wahardd pob math o dreillio 

gwaelodol yn nyfroedd Cymru, gan longau tramor a'r DU fel ei gilydd. Rydym 

ni mewn argyfwng ecolegol ac mae angen gweithredu nawr. 

 

Gwybodaeth Ychwanegol: 

Os awn ati i gymryd camau nawr, ni fydd gennym unrhyw obaith o atal y 

broses erchyll o golli bioamrywiaeth, na lliniaru effeithiau newid yn yr 

hinsawdd. 

 

Yr adroddiad diweddar, "Protecting the Global Ocean for Biodiversity, Food 

and Climate", yw'r adroddiad cyntaf i ddangos yr effaith i’r hinsawdd yn sgil 

treillio gwaelodol ar draws y byd. Mae'r arfer eang hwn o bysgota yn cynnwys 

llusgo rhwydi metel trwm ar hyd gwely'r môr, gan chwalu holl fywyd y môr 

sydd o’i flaen, i bob pwrpas! 

 

Mae ymchwil newydd wedi datgelu bod y system hon o bysgota yn allyrru un 

gigadunnell o garbon bob blwyddyn. Mae'r carbon hwn yn cael ei ryddhau o 

waddod gwely'r môr i'r dŵr, a gall gynyddu’r broses o asideiddio'r 

cefnforoedd, yn ogystal ag effeithio'n andwyol ar gynhyrchiant a 

Tudalen y pecyn 148

Eitem 5.1



bioamrywiaeth. Gwaddodion morol yw'r gronfa fwyaf o storio carbon yn y 

byd. Mewn gwirionedd, mae cychod pysgota sy'n treillio llawr y cefnfor yn 

rhyddhau cymaint o garbon deuocsid â'r diwydiant hedfan cyfan! 

 

Does dim lle i dreillio gwaelodol mewn Cymru fodern sy’n gyfeillgar tuag at 

fyd natur! 

 

Etholaeth a Rhanbarth y Cynulliad 

 Bro Morgannwg  

 Canol De Cymru   

Tudalen y pecyn 149



 

 

 

 

 

 

11 Tachwedd 2021 

Annwyl Jack, 

P-05-1181 Mae treillio ar wely’r môr yn lladd ein bywyd gwyllt morol… Rhowch y gorau i chwalu’n 

moroedd! Gohebiaeth – Deisebydd at y Pwyllgor 

Diolch am eich llythyr, dyddiedig 8 Hydref 2021, ac am dynnu ein sylw at y ddeiseb uchod. 

Mae'r Pwyllgor wrthi'n cytuno ar ei flaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd ac mae eisoes wedi 

tynnu sylw at yr amgylchedd morol, gan gynnwys Ardaloedd Morol Gwarchodedig, fel maes o 

ddiddordeb.  

Rydym wedi cytuno i wneud darn byr o waith ynglŷn â rheoli'r amgylchedd morol i fynd ar drywydd 

amrywiaeth o faterion a godwyd gan randdeiliaid mewn ymateb i'n hymgynghoriad ar 

flaenoriaethau'r Chweched Senedd. Er mwyn llywio'r gwaith hwn, byddwn yn cynnal sesiynau 

tystiolaeth lafar gyda rhanddeiliaid yn ein cyfarfod ddydd Iau 9 Rhagfyr 2021. Bydd y sesiwn yn rhoi 

cyfle i'r Pwyllgor drafod y mater a godwyd gan y deisebydd gyda rhanddeiliaid.  

Yn dibynnu ar ganlyniad y sesiwn, efallai yr hoffem ysgrifennu at y Gweinidog i drafod materion sy’n 

codi ymhellach.  

Byddwn yn hapus i rannu unrhyw faterion sy’n codi o’r sesiwn gyda chi. 

Cofion, 

Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd,  
yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
— 
Climate Change, Environment,  
and Infrastructure Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddHinsawdd 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddClimate@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddClimate 
0300 200 6565 

Jack Sargeant AS  

Cadeirydd 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 150

mailto:SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru
mailto:SeneddClimate@senedd.wales


 

 

 

Llyr Gruffydd AS, 

Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in both English and Welsh 

Tudalen y pecyn 151



 

 

Julie James MS & Lesley Griffiths MS 

Minister for Climate Change and Minister for Rural Affairs 

Tŷ Hywel  

Cardiff Bay  

CF99 1NA 

12 October | 2021  

 

Dear Julie & Lesley, 

CC: Chairs of the Petitions Committee, CCEI Committee and ETRA Committee 

 

We are writing to you with regards to the cross-departmental issue of bottom trawling and wider 

fisheries management in Marine Protected Areas (MPAs). Given the relevance of this to a current 

Senedd petition, we have also shared this correspondence with Committee Chairs. 

 

We are gravely concerned at the lack of progress the Welsh Government has made to protect MPAs 

from damaging fishing gears, despite the legal duties upon it to do so. We are writing to you to 

highlight the absence of commitments and timescales that have been provided by the Welsh 

Government to address this, with specific reference to current processes: 

• The Assessing Welsh Fisheries Activities Project 

• Benthic habitat measures proposed within the UK Marine Strategy consultation. 

 

Assessing Welsh Fisheries Activities Project  

Please note our letter does not relate to the assessment aspect of this project, which is undertaken by 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW). 

 

The Welsh Government has yet to consult on management of towed gear (including bottom trawling) 

within MPAs. In contrast, other UK administrations have progressed to the introduction of 

management measures for all fisheries gears in MPAs and to consider highly protected areas (see 

Annex 1).  

 

The Welsh Government has legal duties (for example, under the Habitats Regulations, the Marine 

Strategy Regulations and UK Fisheries Act) to address this. Further delay on this is also at odds to the 

commitment to reversing the impacts of the nature crisis. This work must be recognised as a priority 

to ensure the future sustainable management of the marine environment in Wales. 

 

Towed gear assessments (“high-risk activities”) were provided to the Welsh Government by NRW in 

2017 as part of the Assessing Welsh Fisheries Activities Project (AWFA). Since then, the absence of a 

consultation on resulting measures has been the subject of recommendations by former Senedd 

Committees, urging progress. WEL members have also previously written to the Minister (then 

Tudalen y pecyn 152

https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/244792


Cabinet Secretary for Energy, Planning and Rural Affairs) regarding this. We have attached a response 

to one such letter, which we received in 2018 and which stated that additional resources had been 

acquired to accelerate this work. Stakeholders were also informed during the Welsh Marine Fisheries 

Advisory Group (WMFAG) that a consultation on a towed gear order had been drafted in 2018. Yet, 

a consultation is still outstanding. 

 

There is a long history of the Senedd seeking progress from the Welsh Government on this matter. 

For example, the Welsh Government were urged by Members for a timetable in 2017 and again in 

2020.In November 2019, the CCERA Committee recommended that a consultation should be brought 

forward on management options for high-risk activities by January 2021 at the latest. The response 

was that the assessment would be completed “as quickly as practically possible” but said a 

consultation as expected in early 2020. Since then, Members of the Senedd have sought updates on 

the proposed timetable for a consultation. As this written answer from March 2021 explains, we still 

don’t know when this will take place.  

 

This delay and uncertainty is not only contrary to the legal duties upon the Welsh Government, it is 

holding up management of other gears. Management of additional gears is also essential to address 

requirements under protected site legislation, the Marine Strategy Regulations and the UK Fisheries 

Act (2020) (for example, to minimise and, where possible, eliminate incidental catches of sensitive 

species, such as seabirds and cetaceans). Management of nets and lines across all fisheries in Welsh 

waters will be essential to achieve the latter. 

 

We would welcome a Ministerial statement of renewed ambition on fisheries management within 

protected areas. We are calling for specific time-bound commitments to ensure the sustainable 

management of all fisheries (Welsh, UK and non-UK registered vessels) and all gears (not just towed 

gear) within protected sites and beyond. 

 

It should be noted that whilst our response focuses on the delays to towed-gear measures in MPAs, 

this is a consequence of the gear-specific approach the Welsh Government has chosen to taken 

within the AWFA project. A holistic approach, considering all gear in MPAs, is needed. NRW have 

provided additional gear assessments to the Welsh Government already. These should also be 

addressed at the earliest opportunity. As part of this programme of work, any displacement of fishing 

activities or any resulting increase in use of alternative gear use should be managed to ensure 

sustainability.  

 

Proposed benthic habitat measures under the UK Marine Strategy 

There is a legal duty within the Marine Strategy Regulations for the Welsh Government, UK 

Government and other devolved administrations to achieve Good Environmental Status by 2020. This 

deadline was missed. Of particular relevance, governmental assessments identified a failure to 

achieve Good Environment Status for benthic habitats in the Celtic Seas. This was in part due to the 

Tudalen y pecyn 153

https://record.senedd.wales/WrittenQuestion/75360
https://record.assembly.wales/WrittenQuestion/80970
https://record.assembly.wales/WrittenQuestion/82225
https://moat.cefas.co.uk/biodiversity-food-webs-and-marine-protected-areas/benthic-habitats/


failure to achieve the target for physical damage to benthic habitats, which is currently focused on 

fisheries.  

 

The Welsh Government and other administrations are currently consulting on new measures to 

address the failure to achieve Good Environmental Status for benthic habitats and other descriptors. 

We have included a summary of fisheries management measures being proposed across the UK 

under this descriptor, which are in addition to work to develop policy frameworks (such as the 

upcoming Joint Fisheries Statement) under Annex 1. Wales is the only country not to include specific, 

time-bound commitments to fisheries management measures within the current consultation on the 

benthic habitats descriptor1.  

 

Given the Welsh Government has not cited any proposed new fisheries management measures for 

the benthic habitat descriptor within the current consultation, we would welcome an explanation as 

to why an exception is being sought under this descriptor and how the Welsh Government will 

contribute to Good Environmental Status of benthic habitats by 2024.  

 

Yours sincerely,  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 The only measure proposed by Wales for benthic habitats is the outstanding update to the Section 7 list under the 

Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 

Emily Williams 

Co-Chair of WEL’s Marine Working Group 

RSPB Cymru 

Clare Trotman 

Co-Chair of WEL’s Marine Working Group 

Marine Conservation Society 

Tudalen y pecyn 154

https://moat.cefas.co.uk/biodiversity-food-webs-and-marine-protected-areas/benthic-habitats/physical-damage/


 

Annex 1 
Here’s a summary of specific fisheries management measures being proposed for introduction across 

the UK with timescales provided (emphasis added), under the benthic descriptor for the UK Marine 

Strategy.  

 

England  

• “Draft management measures for the first four sites include proposals to ban bottom-towed 

fishing…The aim is for the byelaws for these sites to be in place by September 2021. The full 

byelaw programme for all offshore MPAs is expected to be complete by the end of 2024.” 

• “…Recently the government also published Benyon Review, which the government will use to 

identify HPMAs with ecological value, including areas in English waters with potential to 

recover, and blue carbon habitats.” 

 

Northern Ireland 

• “DAERA has conducted a public consultation fisheries management measures for 52 of 124 

the remaining MPAs in the Northern Ireland inshore region with an aim of having the 

fisheries management measures in place for all MPAs by 2022.” 

 

Scotland 

• “…Fisheries management measures are being developed for the remaining 18 inshore MPAs 

where they are not already in place, with the aim of having all measures in place by March 

2024 at the latest.” 

• “In addition to protection for benthic features inside of MPAs, and in line with the General 

Policy 9 of Scotland’s Marine Plan on natural heritage, the Scottish Government is also 

developing fisheries management measures outside of MPAs for the 11 benthic priority 

marine features most impacted by seabed abrasion…are also due to be implemented by 

March 2024.” 

• “The Scottish Government has committed to designating 10% of Scottish seas as HPMAs by 

2026 for inshore waters and, subject to the legislative framework being put in place, the same 

date for offshore waters.” 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 155



P-05-1181 Sea bottom trawling is killing our marine wildlife...Stop bulldozing 

our seas!, Correspondence – Petitioner to Committee, 23.11.21 

 

Dear Senedd Members, 

I welcome the comments made in the letter from Wales Environment Link and share 

their grave concern at the lack of progress made by the Welsh Government to better 

protect MPA's from the damaging effects of bottom trawling fishing gears. 

Surely COP 26 must have added extra urgency for the setting up and strengthening 

of Welsh MPA's. 

We desperately need political leadership which will give the protection our seas so 

desperately need. 

Kind regards 

Tudalen y pecyn 156



P-05-1097 Dylid gwahardd cewyll adar hela 

 

Cyflwynwyd y ddeiseb hon gan y Cynghrair yn erbyn Chwaraeon Creulon, ar 

ôl casglu cyfanswm o 5,287 lofnodion. 

 

Geiriad y ddeiseb:   

Amcangyfrifir bod miliynau o ffesantod a phetris yn cael eu ffermio’n 

ddiwydiannol yng Nghymru bob blwyddyn fel y gellir eu saethu am 'sbort'. Er 

mwyn eu bridio, mae degau o filoedd o adar yn eu cadw’n gaeth mewn 

cewyll, yn aml am lawer o'u hoes bridio. Mae cewyll yn greulon ac mae 

anifeiliaid yn dioddef o’u herwydd. Yn flaenorol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru 

wedi nodi ei chefnogaeth i Gymru ddod yn genedl ddi-gewyll. Rydym yn galw 

ar Lywodraeth Cymru i wahardd defnyddio cewyll ar gyfer cynhyrchu adar 

hela. 

 

Gwybodaeth Ychwanegol  

Gall byw mewn cawell peri trallod ac anafiadau, ac nid yw'n darparu’n llawn 

ar gyfer anghenion nac ymddygiad naturiol yr adar. Gall yr adar ddioddef, 

ymysg pethau eraill, ddoluriau traed agored poenus, ymosodiadau a achosir 

gan straen, ac anafiadau sy’n deillio o’u hymgeision niferus i ddianc. Er 

mwyn lleihau ymddygiadau problemus sy'n gysylltiedig â'u cadw’n gaeth, 

megis pigo adar eraill, gellir hefyd ddefnyddio dyfeisiau fel atalyddion 

plastig, sy'n cael eu gwthio i'w ffroenau. 

 

Mae ffesantod a phetris yn greaduriaid lled-wyllt eu natur, sy’n gwneud 

effaith y cewyll arnynt yn waeth fyth. Serch hynny, nid ydyn nhw hyd yn oed 

yn dod o dan y rheoliadau sylfaenol a ganiateir i anifeiliaid fferm eraill nac yn 

cael eu harchwilio'n rheolaidd. Mae ymchwiliadau wedi datgelu achosion o 

dorri canllawiau, megis defnyddio cewyll moel dro ar ôl tro, a gadael 

ffesantod marw mewn cewyll yn ddigon hir iddynt gael eu canibaleiddio. Hyd 

yn oed mewn cewyll a ddisgrifir fel rhai 'wedi’u cyfoethogi', gallai fod cyn 

lleied ag un glwyd i’w rhannu, llen blastig a rhywfaint o borfa artiffisial. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 157

Eitem 5.2



Ni waeth a yw’r cewyll sy’n eu cadw’n gaeth yn rhai moel neu’n rhai ‘wedi’u 

cyfoethogi’, mae adar hela’n dioddef. Mae gan Lywodraeth Cymru y pŵer i 

ddod â'r arfer hwn i ben. 

 

Etholaeth a Rhanbarth y Cynulliad 

 Gogledd Caerdydd 

 Canol De Cymru   

Tudalen y pecyn 158



Lesley Griffiths AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd 
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref P-05-1097 
Ein cyf/Our ref LG/10383/21 

Jack Sargeant AS 
Cadeirydd – Pwyllgor Deisebion 

16 Tachwedd 2021 

Annwyl Jack, 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 22 Hydref ynghylch Deiseb P-05-1097 Gwahardd cewyll 
adar hela. 

Mae'r Rhaglen Lywodraethu yn cynnwys ymrwymiad i gyfyngu ar y defnydd o gewyll ar 
gyfer anifeiliaid a ffermir. Mae ein Cynllun Lles Anifeiliaid i Gymru 2021-26, a lansiwyd ar 4 
Tachwedd, yn rhoi manylion a llinell amser ar gyfer hyn ac ymrwymiadau lles anifeiliaid 
eraill: Cynllun Lles Anifeiliaid Cymru 2021 i 2026 | LLYW.CYMRU

Rydym yn gweithio gyda gweinyddiaethau eraill i archwilio'r dystiolaeth ynghylch defnyddio 
cewyll wrth ffermio, gan gynnwys eu defnydd ar gyfer magu adar hela. Byddwn yn edrych ar 
sut a ble y cânt eu defnyddio, ac i ba raddau. Byddwn yn ystyried effeithiau lles systemau 
presennol ac amgen. 

Datblygwyd ein Cod Ymarfer er Lles Adar Hela a Fagwyd at Ddiben Chwaraeon mewn 
ymgynghoriad â rhanddeiliaid gan gynnwys cynrychiolwyr y diwydiant saethu a sefydliadau 
lles. Diben y Cod yw darparu canllawiau ymarferol mewn perthynas ag Adran 9 o Ddeddf 
Lles Anifeiliaid 2006. Yr wyf yn siŵr y byddwch yn deall y sefyllfa ddigynsail y cawn ein 
hunain ynddi oherwydd pwysau parhaus sefyllfa Covid ac ar ôl ymadael â'r Undeb 
Ewropeaidd. Am y rhesymau hyn mae'r adolygiad i'r Cod wedi'i ohirio. Ni wneir unrhyw 
newidiadau i'r Cod, nac i ddeddfwriaeth lles, heb ymgynghori ymhellach â rhanddeiliaid, 
ynghyd ag ymchwil, dadansoddi a thystiolaeth berthnasol. Bydd swyddogion yn cysylltu â 
rhanddeiliaid pan fyddwn mewn sefyllfa i fwrw ymlaen â'r gwaith hwn. 

Tudalen y pecyn 159

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales
mailto:Government.Committee.Business@gov.wales
https://llyw.cymru/cynllun-lles-anifeiliaid-cymru-2021-26


Dylid rhoi gwybod i'r Asiantaeth Iechyd Anifeiliaid a Phlanhigion (APHA) neu'r Awdurdod 
Lleol perthnasol am unrhyw bryderon am safle magu adar hela penodol. Maent yn gyfrifol 
am ddarparu a gorfodi darpariaethau iechyd a lles anifeiliaid ar ran Llywodraeth Cymru. 
 
 
Yn Gwyir, 
 

 
 
Lesley Griffiths AS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 160



P-05-1097 Ban game bird cages1: Correspondence – Petitioner to Petitions Committee – 23

November 2021 

The League Against Cruel Sports (the “League”) is grateful for the opportunity to submit its views on 

correspondence relating to Petition P-05-1097 (the “Petition”) in advance of the Petitions 

Committee (the “Committee”) meeting on 29 November 2021. 

This note is ordered so as to respond to each point of the document attached to the Committee’s 

email dated 18 November 2021 (namely, a letter from Lesley Griffiths (the “Minister”) dated 16 

November 2021) in the order in which they are dealt with in the letter. 

Animal Welfare Plan 

Thank you for drawing the League’s attention to the Animal Welfare Plan (the “Plan”) for Wales 

2021-2026. We welcome the explicit reference to an examination of the use of cages for gamebirds 

as part of a commitment to “restrict the use of cages for Farmed Animals” (the “Key Commitment”). 

Whilst this is a positive development in the consideration of the welfare of breeding game birds, it 

does not answer the Petition’s ask and consequently the Petition is still a live issue for the 

Committee. 

We note that the annex to the Plan sets out in broad terms the planned timescale for the delivery of 

each commitment: the Key Commitment is set to be delivered by the year 2022/2023, having started 

in the year 2021/2022.  

As well as setting out the timescales for delivery, we note that the annex to the Plan seeks to break 

down the individual component actions to each commitment. However, contrary to the other 

commitments included, the Key Commitment has no such breakdown and accordingly we do not 

have the benefit of monitoring the Key Commitment’s progress in the same way that it is possible to 

monitor the others. For this reason, we would appreciate a more explicit breakdown of the action 

planned to address the Key Commitment and the associated timetable. To the extent that actions in 

relation to the Key Commitment have already been progressed, the League would be grateful for an 

indication of the action taken to date. 

Code of Practice 

The League is aware of the collaboration with stakeholders behind the development of the Code of 

Practice for the Welfare of Gamebirds Reared for Sporting Purposes (the “Code”) and the purpose of 

the Code. The Minister clearly explained this in her letter to the Committee dated 23 February 2021. 

The latest letter from the Minister dated 16 November 2021 repeats this explanation. 

As set out in the League’s letter to the Committee dated 18 January 2021, the existence of the Code, 

either standalone or combined with the Animal Welfare Act 2006, does not sufficiently address the 

cruelty of the use of cages for game birds. The League believes that the draft, revised Code2 is 

equally insufficient and that a clear commitment to ban the use of cages for the breeding of game 

birds is reasonable and the best way to protect game birds from this suffering. 

1 This petition was submitted by LACS having collected a total of 5,287 signatures. 
2 We are not aware of the current status of the draft, revised Code and refer to our note dated 8 March 2021. 

Tudalen y pecyn 161



To the extent that the Minister is minded to consider acting to prohibit cage breeding of game birds, 

the League suggests that an opportune time to address this would be as part of the upcoming 

Agriculture (Wales) Bill3. 

Covid situation and transition out of the European Union 

The League appreciates that Covid-19 has presented new short-term priorities for the government 

and that this, combined with the transition out of the European Union, has significantly impacted 

timescales for consideration of issues such as this. However, nine months have passed since the 

letter from the Minister dated 23 February 2021, which cited “ongoing pressures of the Covid 

situation and following transition out of the European Union”. Given that the Minister’s latest letter 

explains that these pressures are the reasons that the review into the Code is on hold, the League 

would be grateful for: 

(a) an update on the current stage the review of the Code is considered to have reached – as a
stakeholder, the League participated in the review which commenced in 2019 but we have
not received an update since that time;

(b) an indication of what the next steps will be in relation to the review of the Code – as set out
in our letter to the Committee dated 18 January 2021, the League considered the review of
the Code to date to be too narrow in scope and a “wasted opportunity to address many of its
[the Code’s] weaknesses and improve welfare requirements”. We would welcome further
opportunity for stakeholder conversations around and suggested amendments to the
revised, draft Code. Accordingly, we would appreciate confirmation that further consultation
with stakeholders is going to be sought prior to approving a new code and whether the
review as part of the Key Commitment will interact with the ongoing review of the Code;
and

(c) an indication of the overall anticipated delay bearing in mind the timescale change due to
Covid-19 and Brexit transition pressures.

The game bird shooting season is again in progress, a significant number of breeding game birds 

used to supply the shooting industry are at risk of great suffering and it would reassure the League 

to hear that definite progress is being made to address this issue. This is an issue for which opinion 

polling at least as far back as 2018 revealed massive public support: 82% of the Welsh public 

opposed the use of cages for breeding game birds4.  

 Reporting concerns 

The League is aware of the reporting procedure for concerns about specific gamebird rearing 

premises. This was also brought to our attention in the Minister’s letter to the Committee dated 23 

February 2021. The latest letter from the Minister dated 16 November 2021 repeats this 

explanation. 

3 The Consultation for this Bill sought proposals for, amongst other issues, improving animal health and 
welfare. 
4 YouGov/League Against Cruel Sports (2018). 
https://d25d2506sfb94s.cloudfront.net/cumulus_uploads/document/1qaemiv24u/YG-Archive-230418-
League%20AgainstCruelSports.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 162

https://d25d2506sfb94s.cloudfront.net/cumulus_uploads/document/1qaemiv24u/YG-Archive-230418-League%20AgainstCruelSports.pdf
https://d25d2506sfb94s.cloudfront.net/cumulus_uploads/document/1qaemiv24u/YG-Archive-230418-League%20AgainstCruelSports.pdf


The League maintains its belief that it is extremely unlikely that concerns relating to specific 

gamebird rearing premises will be reported to the Animal and Plant Health Agency considering that 

these premises are usually located on private land and the evidence required to support such 

concerns may be difficult, if not impossible, to collect without trespass. This, combined with the lack 

of system for routine or unannounced independent inspections5 of these types of premises, gives us 

little faith that breaches of welfare requirements for game birds are discovered and/or reported. 

Additional Information 

The Committee’s email of 18 November 2021 invited the League to include any additional 

information which it would like to bring to the Committee’s attention at this stage. 

We do not believe that the Committee’s minuted agreement at its 26 January 2021 meeting to “seek 

clarification as to why the Minster is not minded to act to move further to prohibit the practice of 

caging birds for this purpose6” has yet been addressed by the Minister. The League would appreciate 

such clarification, with reference to the our note dated 8 March 2021. 

Overall, it is the League’s view that the letter dated 16 November 2021 does not sufficiently address 

the issues raised by the petition or the previous correspondence from the League and the 

Committee. We would be grateful for a substantive response from the Minister addressing questions 

raised in this note in due course. The League thanks the Committee for the consideration of this 

note. We are keen to assist and remain at the Committee’s disposal as a key stakeholder in this 

matter.  

5 We refer to our letter dated 18 January 2021. 
6 https://business.senedd.wales/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=35017&Opt=3 

Tudalen y pecyn 163

https://business.senedd.wales/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=35017&Opt=3


P-06-1183 Gosod terfyn cyflymder 20 milltir yr awr ar gyfer 100 metr bob 

ochr i'r groesfan newydd i gerddwyr yng Nglan Conwy 

 

Cyflwynwyd y ddeiseb hon gan Daniel Worsley, ar ôl casglu cyfanswm o 85 

lofnodion. 

 

Geiriad y ddeiseb:   

Diolch i'r Gweinidog Trafnidiaeth, mae gan Glan Conwy groesfan 

angenrheidiol i gerddwyr erbyn hyn ac mae gwelliannau diweddar i'r ffyrdd 

wedi cynyddu gwelededd. Fodd bynnag, mae llawer o drigolion yn poeni am 

gyflymder cerbydau a gofnodwyd dros gyfnod o bythefnos gan Asiant 

Cefnffyrdd Gogledd a Chanolbarth Cymru, sef 32.8 milltir yr awr ar 

gyfartaledd. Mae’r groesfan yn cael ei defnyddio gan blant ysgol ac oedolion 

i gyrraedd safle bws a chyfleusterau chwaraeon lleol yn ogystal â bod yn 

rhan o lwybr seiclo. Mae llawer o adroddiadau wedi bod yn y cyfryngau am 

ddamweiniau a fu bron â digwydd a cherbydau yn peidio â stopio. 

 

Gwybodaeth Ychwanegol: 

Un pryder penodol yw y gallai plant gredu eu bod yn ddiogel a chamu neu 

redeg allan i'r groesfan heb edrych. Bydd y tymor prysur yn yr haf pan fydd y 

twristiaid yn cyrraedd yn cynyddu’r perygl gan y bydd ymwelwyr yn 

anghyfarwydd â’r ffordd, yn ogystal â pheidio â thalu sylw o bosibl gan eu 

bod yn edmygu’r golygfeydd lleol. 

 

I gloi, hoffai’r deisebwyr ddadlau bod 30 milltir yr awr yn rhy gyflym ar gyfer 

cyflwr y ffordd ar hyn o bryd ac maent yn gofyn i'r Gweinidog ystyried 

gostwng y terfyn cyflymder i 20 milltir yr awr yn agos at y groesfan. 

 

Mewn gwrthdrawiad ar 30 milltir yr awr â cherddwr, y siawns o farwolaeth yw 

25%, a’r siawns ar 20 milltir yr awr yw 2.5%, sy’n golygu ei fod 10 gwaith yn 

fwy diogel! 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 164

Eitem 5.3



Byddai gosod terfyn o 20 milltir yr awr am 200 fetr yn ychwanegu ychydig 

eiliadau yn unig at amser taith, a byddai’n golygu ei bod yn llawer mwy 

diogel ac yn helpu i gael gwared ar bryderon rhieni, sy’n bwysig iawn. 

 

Etholaeth a Rhanbarth y Cynulliad 

 Aberconwy 

 Gogledd Cymru   

Tudalen y pecyn 165



 

 

 

 

 

Dyddiad | Date: 16 Tachwedd 2021 

Annwyl Bwyllgor Busnes  

  

Cais am newid i Reol Sefydlog 23.4(i)  

 

Rwy'n ysgrifennu i ofyn am newid i Reol Sefydlog 23.4(i) sy'n pennu 50 o lofnodion fel trothwy 

i ddeiseb gael ei thrafod gan y Pwyllgor. Ar ôl trafod argymhelliad y Pwyllgor blaenorol ac, o 

gofio’r cynnydd amlwg mewn gweithgarwch deisebau ers cyflwyno ein gwefan deisebau 

newydd yn 2020, cred y Pwyllgor y byddai 250 o lofnodion yn drothwy mwy addas i ddeiseb 

ddangos bod ganddi ddigon o gefnogaeth i’w thrafod yn y senedd genedlaethol.  

Y newid gofynnol fyddai:  

Yn Rheol Sefydlog 23.4(i), dileu 50 a rhoi 250 yn ei le. 

 

Credwn fod trafod deiseb yn y senedd genedlaethol yn ddigwyddiad arwyddocaol. Pan ofynnir 

i’r Pwyllgor drafod deisebau ac ysgrifennu at Weinidogion a chyrff eraill yn gofyn am atebion, 

credwn y dylai'r ddeiseb allu dangos rhywfaint o gefnogaeth boblogaidd.  

 

Os oes digon o amser yn y Siambr, hoffem i'r newid hwn ddod i rym ar 1 Ionawr 2022, fel y 

byddai'r holl ddeisebau newydd o ddechrau'r flwyddyn yn ddarostyngedig i'r trothwy newydd. 

  

Rwyf wedi atodi rhagor o wybodaeth i ategu ein hargymhelliad. 

 

 

 

 

 

Yn gywir  

 

 

 

Jack Sargeant AS  

Cadeirydd   
  

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Elin Jones AS 

Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Busnes 

Senedd Cymru 

CF99 1SN 

Tudalen y pecyn 166

Eitem 6



 

 

 

Atodiad 

Cefndir cais y Pwyllgor 

Pam y mae'r Pwyllgor yn cynnig codi'r trothwy ar gyfer deisebau i'r Senedd? 

Yn sgil cyflwyno gwefan deisebau newydd ym mis Ebrill 2020, roedd yn llawer haws creu a 

llofnodi deisebau – yn enwedig o ddyfeisiau symudol. O ganlyniad i hynny, mae nifer y 

deisebau sy'n cyrraedd y trothwy presennol, sef 50 o lofnodion, i'w trafod gan y Pwyllgor wedi 

codi i'r entrychion.  

Roedd amgylchiadau unigryw 2020 a'r pandemig yn ei gwneud yn anodd gweld a oedd y newid 

yn gynaliadwy. Ond mae ffigurau 10 mis cyntaf 2021 yn dangos bod y cynnydd wedi'i gynnal 

o'u cymharu â ffigurau 2017-2019. 

 

 

Mae'r cynnydd hwn yn nifer y deisebau a gyflwynwyd wedi cynyddu llwyth gwaith y Pwyllgor, 

sy'n golygu y bu llai o amser i ganolbwyntio ar waith craffu manwl mewn perthynas â deisebau 

a all wneud gwahaniaeth.  

  

Pa wahaniaeth y bydd newid y trothwy yn ei wneud? 

Mae Pwyllgor Deisebau’r Chweched Senedd yn awyddus i wneud gwahaniaeth cadarnhaol a 

gwella bywydau pobl yng Nghymru. Er mwyn gwneud hynny, rydym yn bwriadu rhoi mwy o 

amser i drafod deisebau a allai arwain at newid. O ganlyniad i hynny, mae'n rhaid i ni wneud 

dewisiadau anodd weithiau, fel bod gennym yr adnoddau i fod yn rhagweithiol lle rydym yn 

gweld potensial i wneud gwahaniaeth. 

  

Pam na ddigwyddodd y newid hwn pan newidiwyd y trothwy ar gyfer dadl? 

Cododd y Pwyllgor blaenorol y trothwy ar gyfer dadl yn y Senedd o 5,000 i 10,000 mewn 

ymateb i boblogrwydd cynyddol deisebau. Argymhellodd adroddiad gwaddol y Pwyllgor hwnnw 

godi'r trothwy gan ddweud y “gellir cyfiawnhau…200 neu 250 o lofnodion...i sicrhau y gall y 

deisebau sy’n cael eu cyfeirio i graffu arnynt ddangos lefel sylweddol o gefnogaeth y cyhoedd." 

Fodd bynnag, penderfynodd y Pwyllgor nad oedd yn eglur bryd hynny i ba raddau roedd y 

cynnydd mewn gweithgarwch deisebu o ganlyniad i bandemig Covid-19 a chytunodd i ohirio 

gweithredu nes bod mwy o wybodaeth ar gael.  

  

A fyddai trothwy is yn dal i gyflawni nod y Pwyllgor? 

Trafododd y Pwyllgor hyn, ond penderfynodd y byddai llai o gynnydd yn y trothwy nawr yn 

golygu bod angen ei gynyddu eto’n gymharol fuan. Gan fod angen newid i’r Rheolau Sefydlog 

er mwyn newid y trothwy, roeddem am newid a fyddai’n rhoi deisebau ar sail gynaliadwy am 

dymor cyfan y Chweched Senedd. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 167



 

 

Ni fyddai codi'r trothwy o 50 i 100 yn gwneud llawer o wahaniaeth i allu'r Pwyllgor i roi mwy o 

amser i drafod deisebau sydd â photensial. Mae 80 y cant o ddeisebau dros y flwyddyn 

ddiwethaf wedi cyrraedd 100 o lofnodion (a chredwn y byddai mwy na 90 y cant yn cyrraedd y 

nifer honno pe bai cymhelliant gan y deisebwyr i gael y llofnodion ychwanegol).   

  

Ar hyn o bryd, mae deiseb 'ar gyfartaledd' yn cael mwy na 300 o lofnodion – gyda'r rhai 

poblogaidd iawn yn cael degau o filoedd.  

 

Gyda 250 o lofnodion, byddai mwy na 56 y cant o ddeisebau dros y flwyddyn ddiwethaf yn dal 

i gael eu trafod. Byddai hyn yn fwy o ddeisebau na’r rhai a drafododd y Pwyllgor blaenorol yn 

2017 neu 2018, ac yn agos iawn at ffigur 2019. 

 

DIWEDD 

 

  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 168


	Agenda
	1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon
	4.1 P-06-1212 Cyfraith Mark Allen - rydym ni am weld gorsafoedd cortyn taflu o amgylch pob safle dŵr agored yng Nghymru
	Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd, 21 Tachwedd 2021
	Gohebiaeth gan y Deisebydd, 05 Tachwedd 2021 (Saesneg yn unig)

	4.2 P-06-1217 Agor canolfannau / clinigau meddygol un stop Covid Hir
	Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, 12 Hydref 2021
	Gohebiaeth gan y Deisebwyr, 23 Tachwedd 2021 (Saesneg yn unig)

	4.3 P-06-1218 Hysbysu pob person 18 oed sydd wedi derbyn gofal cymdeithasol fod ganddynt yr hawl i wneud cais am eu gwybodaeth bersonol
	Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Weinidog Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, 29 Hydref 2021

	4.4 P-06-1219 Dylid gosod cerflun coffa o Paul Robeson yn y Cymoedd
	Gohebiaeth gan Ddirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip, 21 Hydref 2021
	Gohebiaeth gan y Deisebydd, 21 Tachwedd 2021 (Saesneg yn unig)

	4.5 P-06-1221 Gwrthodwch gynlluniau ar gyfer Cynllun Solar Ffermwyr Gwynllwg
	Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Weinidog Newid Hinsawdd - Atodiad 1 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Weinidog Newid Hinsawdd - Atodiad 2 (Saesneg yn unig)

	4.6 P-06-1223 Paratoi cais i Gymru gystadlu yng Nghystadleuaeth yr Eurovision
	Gohebiaeth gan Ddirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau a Chwaraeon, a’r Prif Chwip, 9 Tachwedd 2021

	5.1 P-06-1181 Mae treillio ar wely'r môr yn lladd ein bywyd gwyllt morol… Rhowch y gorau i chwalu'n moroedd!
	Gohebiaeth gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith
	Gohebiaeth gan Gyswllt Amgylchedd Cymru, 12 Tachwedd 2021 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Gohebiaeth gan y Deisebydd, 23 Tachwedd 2021 (Saesneg yn unig)

	5.2 P-05-1097 Dylid gwahardd cewyll adar hela
	Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd, 16 Tachwedd 2021
	Gohebiaeth gan y Deisebwyr, 23 Tachwedd 2021 (Saesneg yn unig)

	5.3 P-06-1183 Gosod terfyn cyflymder 20 milltir yr awr ar gyfer 100 metr bob ochr i'r groesfan newydd i gerddwyr yng Nglan Conwy
	6 Papur i’w nodi



